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¢ GLOBAL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
%Ejz/j_j\ﬁﬁ I\\|__| I“g

Countries and Regions Main-brands/Sub-brands/Product Lines 31 Mar 2024
ERKME ERbE/E R/ ERR 202453A31H

“Lukfook” 75481 68 69 -1

“3DG Jewellery” & EE 0 +63
Mainland China = Bl Ay “Goldstyle” 1 0
“Lukfook Joaillerie” 75485 /BB 1 +2

“Heirloom Fortune” & &5
Sub-total 4h&t _’.i——

_ “Lukfook” 7578
Hong Kong SAR, China R Bl & #45 AT &2
iy e 7 “3DG Jewellery” (&2

Sub-total [Nt _n——

“Lukfook” 7
Macau SAR, China SR ELRPIS BT HES kfook” 17

“3DG Jewellery” M E & +1

-
Canada fIEA z -
The United States %] “Lukfook” [753E.) 8 —
Australia S z -

2 +1

Malaysia f52 752 “Lukfook Joaillerie” 7248 f & © il

e [ —
| —:= |

“Lukfook” 75481 2,793 +169

“3DG Jewellery” & EE 0 +150
Mainland 793 “Goldstyle” 72 17
“Lukfook Joaillerie” 75485 a /BB 12 +12

“Heirloom Fortune” &SR Rt

Sub-total 11F m

Cambodia 3RI#ZE 9

The Philippines JE12 & 2 +1
Laos EHB “Lukfook” 75481 1 0
Thailand 2= Bl 0 +1
Australia S 0

R ————
T 1] e e B
Mainland P13, “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” +18
R R
A cTY 1 I ) ) AT

! Mainland China: Hereafter refers to as “Mainland” FREI Pyt © 1378 2% Aot
Hong Kong SAR, China: Hereafter refers to as “Hong Kong” REIE B4 RITHE : TBBEAIER)
B Macau SAR, China: Hereafter refers to as “Macau” FFELRFIFRIATEE : &4 TR

“LUKFOOK” & SUB-BRANDS (EXCLUDED “3DG | I/x8) REI@E (FeiEl€E
JEWELLERY”) DISTRIBUTION NETWORK IN MAINLAND | ) pyith ) $5 484K

As at 31 March 2024 Total No. of shops 5 & 48 8 3,277 (+248)
20244383180

Total No. of Licensees & h# & 48 81 859(+23)
Total No. of Provinces 48 27(0)
Total No. of Municipalities B #4881 4(0)
Total No. of Cities 3 T 428 633(+9)

Self- operated censed/
otal s/Cities
nuﬁﬁf’ § ﬁr’ Wi

29.5%

17.4%

37.9%

f Shops No. of Shops No. of Shops
70(+7)

0,
15.2% Tier | —%8 896(+42) 966(+49)

Tier Il =4 0(0) 569(+123) 569(+123) 24(+5)

Tier Il =43 11(0) 488(-2) 499(-2) 57(-4)
27.2%
Tier IV & below TR BT 6(-3) 1,237(+81) 1,243(+78) 541(+9)

Tier IV & below
MR T Northern China 23 30(+3)

Noﬁh;rn China . 1% | ;‘;22.27.‘.’;
Eastern China . Tier 1l Prownces Mumclpalmes Cmes
ERE jt
Southern China . Tier 1l
|

Central China
EPE 883(+89)

913(+92) 204(45)

ggﬁ;t[%m China Eastern China 25 & 26(+2) 509(+36) 535(+38) 40) 1(0) 131(2)
Southern China % 00) 892(+25) 892(+25) 40 00) 90(-3)
Remarks 5 : o
. “Lukfook” shops only REIE 71815 ) Central China & 31(-1) 687(+51) 718(+50) 6(0) 10) 174(+3)
The perc\emiges refer to the contribution to the total no. of shops in Mainland
B LEAUREAE MM B 2 Pt S S M A5 L Western China £7E 00) 219(+43) 219(+43) 60) 00) 34(+6)

. Figures in brackets refer to the 12-month changes 1&ESERBIBIF A+ B8 &1t



OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVENUE AND PROFIT ANALYSIS | WA B@FI o4

Revenue and Segment Profit by Market

Bhin 853 B9 A B 53 &R F

Revenue | Segl it | Segment Profit Margin
HK$M BB & TT WA il P ERRFZE

65.5% Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas
(55.0%) 54.8% &8 BPI RS 10,040 1.7%
(33.5%) 145.2% Y-0-Y Changes #%F £t +52.4% +104.5%  +29p.p. BEEHDE
(66.5%) Mainland
34.5% 25p:u 5,286 973 18.4%
_(45.0%) Y-0-Y Changes ¥ FE£1E -2.0% -15.2% 2.9 p.p. BEHDEL
Overall
Segment Ed 15,326 2,153 14.0%
Revenue F.groﬁt Y-0-Y Changes #Z 215 +28.0% +24.9% -0.4 p.p. BB DR
WA AEREF
Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas
HHRPIRES . .

l;lqﬁland . .

Revenue and Segment Profit by Business

BEBRSBIKRA RS EREF

Revenue | Segment Profit | Segment Profit Margin
A DEBEF e R

Retailing

33.5%

o) (45.0%) ) TE 12,749 1,047 9.8%
= (g;g sz) Y-0-Y Changes #% £t +45.3% +82.8%  +2.0p.p. BEHE
8.6% Wholesaling
10.1% (15.4%) Ht 22 1,543 186 12.1%
(18.0%) 83.2% Y-0-Y Changes #ZFE £t -28.3% -29.8% -0.2 p.p. EEDF
- (73.2%) 4,249 186 4.4%
+4.1% -29.8% 21 pp. BEDE
Segment : :
Revenue Profit Licensing

KA SEREF AR EFS 1,034 720 69.6%
Retailing Y-0-Y Changes %4 & -1.8% -7.3% 41 pp. EEDE

& . .
Yﬁtvgglesalmg . . Frpa 15,326 2,153 14.0%
Y-0-Y Changes #ZE £ 1t +28.0% +24.9% -0.4 p.p. BEDE

s omom

Remarks:  Figures for the year ended 31 March 2023 are shown in brackets

N ERABEE2023F3A31 HIEFEZ LLBR# T

! Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue
ASRERAHL B = WML B + DB ERA
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REVENUE AND PROFIT ANALYSIS (continved) | WA R @A DT @

Sales! and Gross Profit? by Product

BREMBDHHE RERN?

Sales Gross Profit Gross Margin
HK$M BEE T & EH) ER=

Gold & Platinum
Bekin® 10,380 2,000 19.3%
Y-0-Y Changes #%E £t +50.7% +67.2%  +1.9p.p. EEDE

72.6%
(63.0%)

58.4%
(49.4%)

(g(l)'gZ“) Fixed Price Jewellery
o 27.4% EEEH 3,912 1,423 36.4%
_(37.0%) Y-0-Y Changes ¥ £ 1L -3.1% +16.3%  +6.1 p.p. AEDE

Overall
2Ee 14,292 3,423 24.0%
Y-0-Y Changes # £ 1E +30.8% +41.4% +1.8 p.p.fEE 77

Sales  Gross Profit
HE £

Gold & Platinum?®
B RkAE . .

Fixed Price Jewellery
ERE o N

RETAIL SALES PERFORMANCE | ZEHERIR

For the year ended 31 M
#HZE3H31HIEEE

Y-0-Y Changes SSS*
BELE B /&5 84 &4

Overall ¥38 +45% +32%

Gold & Platinum =% K& #H%E +50% +38% +35%
Fixed Price Jewellery EEHE &f +32% +16% +2%
Hong Kong & Macau & K 89 +58% +40% +34%
Gold & Platinum = KA +63% +46% +49%
Fixed Price Jewellery E B &f +44% +22% +4%
Mainland it +24% -2% -17%
Gold & Platinum & K 0 +30% +2% -14%
Fixed Price Jewellery TE B & &ff -8% -21% -26%

Remarks:  Figures for the year ended 31 March 2023 are shown in brackets

it HE2023F3A31 HILFEZHFRIERAET

" Sales = Revenue - Licensing Income
THE = WA - RAREBIRA

2 Gross Profit = Consolidated Gross Profit — Gross Profit of Licensing Income
EF) = IREEF - RIBEBRAET]

8 Gold & Platinum refers to gold & platinum products sold by weight basing on international market price, i.e. at non-fixed price
HERHESRRFERTHEEREBHENESRIACESR BIIFEM®)

4 Same store sales (“SSS”) represented a comparison of sales of the same self-operated shop having full day operations in the comparable periods and such data did not include sales of
licensed shops and Mainland’s e-commerce business

FEHE (REHE) BRA—HREENILEEANERREAEENHEREE ARBEL A OEREERNMETBBEBNHER



€ FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE | &

&r

IR

FY2023/24' FY2022/23 Y-0-Y Changes
2023/24R4 £ 2022/238 4 BES(

HK$M B E AT

Revenue WA 11,978 +28.0%
Gross Profit EF) 3,230 +29.2%
Operating Profit A&X & % F) 1,576 +34.2%
Profit for the Year £ i 7] 1,285 +36.8%
Profit Attributable to Equity Holders #1358 A FE(5 57 1,285 +37.6%
Basic Earnings per Share &R E A2 HK$2.197%8 7T +37.4%
Final Dividend per Share &K R E HK$0.5578 7T +16.4%
Annual Dividend per Share &R 2ER 8 HK$1.107%8 7T +28.2%
Dividend Payout Ratio JJ& & 5= 50% -3 p.p. EEDE

Gross Margin EF|&

Operating Margin 4S5z H| =

Net Margin J#H| =

EBITDA® Kt 8~ IRIB T E R H A B A

EBITDA Margin® R &5 8~ HI8 ~ 37 & R 85 A & 1) =8
Adjusted EBITDA#

CREB RS RIE ITE R B RA
Adjusted EBITDA Margin®*

CREB RS RIE T E R AR A 53

Total Operating Expenses to Revenue Ratio®

27.0% +02pp. BEDE
13.2% +0.6 p.p. BED 2L
10.7% +0.8 p.p. A B D&
1,959 +32.8%
16.4% +0.6 p.p. BB 2

1,671 +34.9%

13.9% +0.8 p.p. EEDH

FRb R BTGNS 15.6% 0.6 p.p. BEDE
Effective Tax Rate B 8 = 17.9% 22pp. EEDEH

FY2023/24: Hereafter refers to as “FY2024" 2023/24/44F : 11 &8 71 202481 4 )

FY2022/23: Hereafter refers to as “FY2023" 2022/23%44F . 1+ #7874 202381 4F

Represent non-HKFRS measures $53F & U B IR SR E

Adjusted EBITDA represents the EBITDA without adding back depreciation of right-of-use assets. Management considers the adjusted EBITDA better reflects the operating performance of
the Group after the adoption of HKFRS 16. £ B # AR 5t 7] 8 118 T R A BFARAR ST B IRIE B R B IR &R A I E A E E T E - BB A KRB RF
BRIEITE RSN R BERMAEERRAES BV HREERNF16RBZEERR

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS | ETZER#EE1Z

FY2024 FY2023 Y-0-Y Changes
HKSM B BT 2024845 2023816 BES(L

Inventories 7 & 8,853
Average Inventory Turnover Days' ¥ EFEH" 378
Closing Inventory Turnover Days? #iR 7 & /& 8 B2 380
Cash and Bank Balances IR K $R1745 6% 2,348 -14.9%
Bank Borrowings & Gold Loans RITER R ESEE 540 +164.3%
Net Cash FE& 1,808 -68.4%

Debt-to-Equity Ratio® & f&# & tE e
Return on Equity (ROE)* P& 58 # 2% [0]3R &+
Return on Total Assets? 488 & [0 R 5
Current Ratio &L=

22.2% +8.8pp. BEDEL
10.5% +3.2 p.p. EEDES
8.6% +1.9p.p. BEDE
49 14

! (Opening Inventory + Closing Inventory) <+ 2 =+ Cost of Inventories Sold x Number of Days for the Year

(HAMEE + BARES) ~ 2 - CEFERAx EREH

Closing Inventory =+ Cost of Inventories Sold x Number of Days for the Year

HAREE - BEEFENA x FREE

(Long-term Liabilities + Current Liabilities) <+ Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
(RIABME + RBBM) + AARERFE AEEERRHE

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company = Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
AT RBIFEARIEER +~ AABRBRTE ARG E S RHE

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company - (Long-term Assets + Current Assets)

A REFEAREET — (RPEE + RPEE)
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CORPORATE PROFILE
EE/MIT

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), founded by a group of
jewellery specialists, is one of the leading jewellery retailers in
Hong Kong and Mainland. With the first Lukfook Jewellery shop
established in North Point, Hong Kong in 1991, it has always been
upholding the service motto of “Exquisite Craftsmanship, Quality
Services and Customer Orientation”. In May 1997, the Group was
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 0590).

The Group principally engages in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of
gold and platinum jewellery and gem-set jewellery products.
With a total of around 3,500 points of sale in 11 countries and
regions currently across Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland, Malaysia,
Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos, Thailand, the United States,
Canada and Australia, the Group will continue to identify new
business opportunities in the international market and actively
pursue further development in China and overseas markets in
response to its corporate vision, “Brand of Hong Kong, Sparkling
the World”.

On January 12, 2024, the Group successfully acquired the
controlling stake in Hong Kong Resources Holdings Limited
(‘HKRH”") (stock code: 2882), making it as a subsidiary of the
Company. This not only bolstered the Group’s control over the
“8DG Jewellery” brand but also advanced the realisation of its
multi-brand strategy, resulting in expanded market share and
heightened competitiveness. With a diversified portfolio of brands,
including Lukfook Jewellery, 3DG Jewellery, Heirloom Fortune,
Goldstyle, Lukfook Joaillerie and Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY,
the Group commits to crafting the finest jewellery and providing
quality services for customers.

NEEE ER) BRAR (IR E)) REK
BAR (I AEE)) A— LB RNKRES
TR RERBRAMTETERZ— B
NEREEHEMEESBILARE, —
BEEFHTEOBE REAER  UEALI IR
KRB 1997TF5 8 AEBTEETBH AR S
FrAERRAR (TEzZFr) Mk £ (PR HEE -
0590) °

AEBTENESEENSEMAEEEN
ERZRBE R M mEEERTEE
¥ MEESDE VBRI A B2RkE5E kil
FEJERE B HREH =B MERBORM
HAE R KM & %A 43,500 E &> 4
EEBEENREET Sy EmEE BiRE
BHEREINTISE UEEa EERE EE
AR 2 hEES -

2024F1H128 » AEBEMINENEE B E RIT
RERAE (EFEER)) BRMHMRSE  2882)
BERE EER AR ABINB AR cEF
EMea T AEEH €28 RENES F
REE—SPERTAEENS REEKEE B
THGBEEELIERTRF N ERES T
HRBEEs B A EHE 228 - @nE
2~ Goldstyle ~ 73 f@ 15 mER KLove LUKFOOK
JEWELLERY  ZBERIRMEEKREEM AR
}%o
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
BRI

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group” or “We”), | hereby present the Group’s annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (‘FY2024” or the “Year under
review”).

Looking back at the past year, benefitted from the borders
reopening amongst Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland early
last year and the low base effect as well as the outperforming gold
sales, the Group’s retailing business achieved outstanding results
especially in the Hong Kong and Macau market. Nevertheless,
the Group’s business continues to encounter challenges
from heightened geopolitical tensions and macroeconomic
uncertainties. Undeterred by these unfavorable headwinds,
the Group remains steadfast in its commitment to proactive
responsiveness to market dynamics and strives to maintain the
steady growth of its overall business.

The Group’s total revenue for the Year under review
increased by 28.0% over the corresponding period last year
to HK$15,325,962,000 (2023: HK$11,977,844,000). Profit
attributable to equity holders also increased by 37.6% to
1,767,305,000 (2023: HK$1,284,757,000), and the basic
earnings per share was HK$3.01 (2023: HK$2.19). The board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.64 per share, together with
the interim dividend of HK$0.72 per share paid in December 2023
and the special interim dividend (by way of distribution in specie
of HKRH shares) paid in May 2024, the total dividend for FY2024
amounted to HK$1.41 per share (2023: HK$1.10 per share). The
dividend payout ratio is 47% (2023: 50%) on a full year basis.

During the Year under review, the Group added a net total of
478 shops globally and a net of 260 shops if excluding the “3DG
Jewellery” brand, including a net of 179 “Lukfook” shops and a
net of 81 shops of sub-brands/product lines in Mainland. As at
31 March 2024, the Group had a global network of 3,583 shops
(2023: 3,105 shops), including 3,117 “Lukfook” shops (2023:
2,938 shops), with business spanning across Hong Kong, Macau,
Mainland, Malaysia, Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos, Thailand,
the United States, Canada and Australia.

BRER

FANEAKRNEBER R ARAF (MEa
81) REMB AT (i AL/ 5 1FHF)
EILREAEEEE2024F383HLEFE
(T2024F FF | NI FE) 22 F XK

EEBE—F XBRBRRAMPEE
BUARBEEE N LB EHBE > &~&
ETEXHBLHABRMIGRFELG - 2AM &
B 22 75 1) | BR S B BUR FHR ;e 7= BRAS I 1 A
MVEERE -BEFEEEIHER £HE
REBBEGBERETHEE SHEFBREE
BRRESE-

FEERCBEEENSKRAREERL
F28.0%FE15,325,962,000# 75 (20234 :
11,977,844,0008 70) > E@miFE AEGEF
Tr_EF37.6%ZE1,767,305,0005 7T ( 20234 :
1,284,757,0007870) » SRERERF] A3.01787T
(20234 : 2198 7) - ARBREEE ((EF
g BRI AREPRESR64ET ERE
R2023F 128 kI HBRR E & R0.728 7T
KR 20245E5 B LIBY DIREBE RN Z 5
IR RSB P HARR B 20243 ERR B & 3+
AERR1.4178 70 (20234 : @%1.1087T) » &
FEIREEEEA47% (20234 1 50%) ©

ClEEEER AEBNR 2K FILR478H E
HOEMKRIEES Mg REBEFNFIE
K260 EH EPE R FIER179M [754E]
[Ef R AR 581 R R @R, E RAR R
[E&ofR2024FE3831H  REBRE2HKEE
3,583 [E#f (20234 : 3,105[H) » HFEIF
3,117/ 75421 JE#H (20234 : 2,938/) » &
FeEE B A BIRPEI RIS JEE
EEBFHE - EE - MERROEM o
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
BRI

OUTLOOK

The increase in central banks’ gold reserves and ongoing
international geopolitical tensions have driven gold prices to reach
new highs since March. In addition, in the face of challenges
such as macroeconomic uncertainties, weakened consumer
sentiment as well as a slip of RMB, the sales performance of the
Group from January to March was impacted to a certain extent.
The continued escalation of gold prices to new record levels in
April further impacted the sales of gold products. The Group’s
SSS from April to 21 June 2024 was approximately -35% for the
Hong Kong and Macau market, and approximately -20% for the
Mainland market.

Since the demand for diamond products remains subdued,
the Group will continue to actively promote non-diamond fixed
price jewellery products in order to enhance their performance.
Moreover, although the temporary spike in gold prices may affect
sales performance, an increase in profit margin will help mitigate
the impact of the decline in sales. Sales of the gold products are
expected to resume to the normal levels after consumers adopt
to the high gold prices. Furthermore, the Mainland government
is actively working on expanding domestic demand to support
the gradual recovery of the market. With the help of improved
macroeconomic conditions and retail sentiment, the retailing
business is expected to regain its growth momentum. As such,
the Group remains optimistic about its mid- to long-term business
prospects and will continue to expand in the Mainland market.

Apart from that, the Group is optimistic about the immense
growth potential in the overseas markets. As a result, the Group
will allocate more resources to expand its footprint across the
world and plans to add a net of approximately 15 shops in the
overseas markets in the coming year.

The Group has set up its brand new three-year corporate
strategy before commencement of FY2023 with Mainland Market
Expansion, Branding Strategy and Operational Efficiency as its
three main focuses so as to foster its future business growth.

In the upcoming vyear, the expansion of “Lukfook” shops in
Mainland will continue to focus on opening licensed shops in
fourth- and fifth-tier cities. As for the development of new brands,
including the “3DG Jewellery” brand acquired by the Group on 12
January 2024, the Group aims to add more shops, which will be
mainly licensed shops in the Mainland.

=
SERTIEFE S HE RIFENE R &
BERERES S EBEAEEAIF S ot
HHEHCERER HERERBEREAR
TN YEEBRE > AEBT1EIR K
EXRRTI—TREENEE MeEMRAH K
B EBRELIBONE £—FP R EZTE
mREE B o 1R2024F 48 E6H21H » RERE AR
HIBBIREISIHELN A-35% A M54
#5-20%°

BOERBRINDAKS  AERREBERE
WEELER UM EBE M ER  UNE
EEEMEMNKRIE BN BEREEZFH
REFEPE BEMNXNEARERE
HETHRNFZE THEEERS2EBR &
TIHEBEREERE -SZ—7HH > AMBUFIE
ENERAANT AT ERNER HEER
BRERTERAAMAET TEEBR
NERADN ~EEFREHNEPREER
AIRDEVEE > PRUCR RN G REAMT

5o

o AEBEFEINTHENREAERE S
FUIER B REZERBBHREI TS I
STEIZRFEEBINTHIFHFIE R15ME 55

AEBEF20238 FHERI B LM = F b
FERES LTARMTIZIRE) © TR ER)
RIEBWH IFR=ZKREL > UBHEELREER
FEHORRE R

N ENEBERERTENETRE R
BT RR GRS MENRENERAS®E
BEAEER2024F1B12BEZ T2 S
PRI B E RIEE A B E
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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The Group will further strengthen its brand image and positioning
to reinforce brand recognition through leveraging of innovative
approaches and making use of various media. Apart from that, the
Group will also enhance its product quality assurance, optimise
service quality, improve support for licensees and adopt a multi-
brand/line strategy to offer products that meet market needs.

Recognising the increasing importance of environmental
protection and climate change, the Group will set up a long-term
goal of carbon reduction to enhance the Group’s contribution to
environmental protection.

In order to enhance its competitive edge, the Group will
enhance its operational efficiency by revamping its supply
chain management and implementing automation, big data
management and data analytics system. The Group will also strive
to maximise employees’ productivity by cultivating and nurturing
cultures of continuous improvement and innovation.

| would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all our staff
members, shareholders, customers, business partners and other
stakeholders for their unfaltering support and contributions to
the Group’s continuing success. Going forward, the Group will
adhere to pragmatic and sound growth measures, strengthen its
competitive advantages and further enhance its leading position
in the market, so as to generate sustainable returns for its
shareholders and set a new benchmark for corporate excellence.

By order of the Board
WONG Wai Sheung

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024

BREAFM D ZRZBEENER  ~EEF
#E— 2 980 G R 2 8 e TE 13 DA N 58 m 8 3% oA
Eoltsh ZERTEMABEREERE B
TERFBER TEHRMBENXR TRAOZ
R RIKEE WIRMFETIEHERNE

O
an °

HRIRERENRGEZCHEmEE K
SRR IRBAKE R URESAEEY
RIBREBFRR

RREABFED AEERKEBEMRIMH
FEEE BT EHT  ABBREERH
BOMBRGUNEHEE N m AEETE
HNOREBERBBRFENE KA XU

RABEIESEERS KT

FEBFENMT 2BEMANET KRR
BE EFBAHMEMFNENRIZFHM
B RABLERUROHB I RF  ~EE
MRUBERENERBE NRGFEDS,
E—SBEAEENTS LHNEEMAU 5
PR ER A AR A [0 #R o 4 17 B T BY 1 SR B o
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FERITHARR
=HEE

H#E > 2024FE6828H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRSO

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BRI
©
-
‘ £
\u’.$'
Revenue Profit Attributable to Equity
WA Holders
HK$15,326M HK$2,116M EmiFE AEWLEF
15,326 B & & T 2,116H&E & T HK$1,767M
+28.0% +34.2% 1,767TE B #E T
+37.6%

Qs

Proposed Final Dividend

per Share'
HK$3.01 BRiRSRARIRE
3.01&7T HK$0.64
+37.4% 0.64% 7T

! Dividend Payout Ratio: 47%
IRBEEE D 47%

6 Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 758 E (B BRAF




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE I

Results

Following the reopening of borders amongst Hong Kong,
Macau and the Mainland early last year, the retail sentiment has
shown continuous improvement. Furthermore, leveraging the
low base effect and the outperforming gold sales, the Group’s
retailing business achieved outstanding results especially in
the Hong Kong and Macau market. Therefore, during the Year
under review, the Group’s total revenue increased by 28.0% to
HK$15,325,962,000 (2023: HK$11,977,844,000). However, as
the growth was mainly driven by the sales of gold products, which
have a lower gross margin as compared to fixed price jewellery
products, coupled with a decline in the gross margin of the
licensing business, the overall gross margin of the Group therefore
only increased slightly by 0.2 p.p. to 27.2% (2023: 27.0%).
Consequently, the Group’s gross profit increased by 29.2% to
HK$4,174,339,000 (2023: HK$3,230,397,000).

On the other hand, the operating expenses to revenue ratio
improved by 0.6 p.p. to 156.0% (2023: 15.6%). Thanks to a one-
off remeasurement gain of around HK$186,711,000 from the
acquisition of HKRH, the operating profit increased by 34.2% to
HK$2,115,623,000 (2023: HK$1,576,175,000) and the operating
profit margin increased marginally by 0.6 p.p. to 13.8% (2023:
13.2%). The Group’s profit during the year rose significantly by
36.8% to HK$1,757,838,000 (2023: HK$1,284,727,000). The
net margin increased by 0.8 p.p. to 11.5% (2023: 10.7%), and
the profit attributable to equity holders also increased by 37.6%
to HK$1,767,305,000 (2023: HK$1,284,757,000), marking
the second-best annual performance in the Group’s history.
Accordingly, the basic earnings per share increased by 37.4% to
HK$3.01 (2023: HK$2.19).
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R TR _EFF37.6%%FE1,767,305,0005 7T (2023
£ 11,284,757,00087T) » AAEBEFEEFE
SEZSo-RHIb EREABHIEIMNI7.4%E
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Overview

During the Year under review, the Group adopted the multi-brand
strategy and operated a total of 1 brand and 5 sub-brands/
product lines, including 218 shops under “3DG Jewellery” brand
owned by HKRH. During the year, the Group had a net addition of
478 shops globally and a net of 260 shops if excluding the shops
of “3DG Jewellery” brand, including a net of 179 “Lukfook” shops
and a net of 81 shops of sub-brands/product lines in Mainland.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a global network of 3,583
shops (2023: 3,105 shops), including 3,117 “Lukfook” shops
(2023: 2,938 shops), with business spanning across Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland, Malaysia, Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos,
Thailand, the United States, Canada and Australia, and operated
a total of 218 “3DG Jewellery” shops (2023: 0 shop) in Hong
Kong, Macau and Mainland. The Group also operated a total of
56 “Goldstyle” shops (2023: 73 shops), 146 “Heirloom Fortune”
shops (2023: 81 shops), 27 “Lukfook Joaillerie” shops (2023: 13
shops) and 18 “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” shops (2023: 0
shop) in Mainland. In addition, the Group operated 1 “Lukfook
Joaillerie” shop (2023: 0 shop) in Malaysia. Details are as follows:

s

REBFERN ZEBRAZ RERE > &1
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Global Distribution Network PER TS

Countries and Main-brands/Sub-brands/
Regions Product Lines 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
EXRRME TmhEBlmbE Emi 2024538310 20234E3H31H

“Lukfook” [7578) 88 69 n
“3DG Jewellery’ [£Z Y 0 163
Mainland P33t “Goldstyle” ] 1 0
“Lukfook Joalllerie” 785 B8R I 1 )
“Heirloom Fortune” @i &%) 15 12 +3
“Lukfook” 7348} 0 +5
HoRg KO ER o ewelery’ [25%) 4 m
; “Lukfook” 7348 T +1
e “3DG Jowellry’ [ 5 %) o +1
Canada NEX I 0
The United States 2 _ e +1
“ » [A25
Australia B e el 2 0
. [ +1
Meaysia BREZ o ook doallere® TAERSE N r
“Lukfook” 1718 2962 +169
“3DG Jewellery” [&£EE | 150 0 +150
Mainland Pyt “Goldstyle” - 85 72 17
“Lukfook Joalllerie” 71845 5% VA +12
“Heirloom Fortune” M@mER] 13 +62
Cambodia % I 0
The Phiippines JE2E I +1
Laos £ “Lukfook” 1718 I 0
Telrd 52 I +1
Australia | ]
Mainland 3t “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” 18

Worldwide Total 2k 3t 315
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Revenue and Segment Profit by Business

BEBR DA RS EF

33.5%

6.7%
0,
88%) US0%) 57 00
(39.6%)
8.6%
10.1% (15.4%)
(18.0%) 83.2%
(73.2%)
Segment
Revenue Profit
KA SEREF

;eéailing . .
mf%glesaling . .

Revenue
HKSM BE BT N

Retailing & 12,749
Y-o-Y Changes #Z &1L +45.3%

Wholesaling #t 2 1,543
Y-0-Y Changes #E£1L -28.3%

Adjusted Wholesaling AS5E2 ##I# & 4,249

Y-0-Y Changes & F£HL +4.1%

Licensing fai2 3£ 7 1,034
Y-o-Y Changes % EE1E -1.8%

Overall 252 15,326
Yoo-Y Changes #ZE£ 1 +28.0%

Remarks: Comparative figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets
5t SRR 220230 EZ LER# T
! Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue

TR AR BT A = SOMEERETEURA + D ERRIHLE WA
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Segment Profit
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69.6%
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During the Year under review, retailing business was the main
growth driver for the Group’s revenue. Benefitting from the
significant improvement in tourists traffic and spendings in Hong
Kong and Macau after the reopening of borders, coupled with the
favourable gold sales and low base effect, the Group’s retailing
revenue increased significantly by 45.3% to HK$12,748,906,000
(2023: HK$8,771,929,000), accounting for 83.2% (2023:
73.2%) of the Group’s total revenue. Its segment profit also
increased substantially by 82.8% to HK$1,246,853,000 (2023:
HK$681,982,000), accounting for 57.9% (2023: 39.6%) of the
total and its segment profit margin was 9.8% (2023: 7.8%).

Despite the increase in the number of licensed shops, due to
the continued sluggish demand for diamond products in the
Mainland, the Group’s wholesaling revenue decreased by 28.3%
to HK$1,542,590,000 (2023: HK$2,152,453,000), accounting
for 10.1% (2023: 18.0%) of the Group’s total revenue. lIts
segment profit decreased by 29.8% to HK$186,084,000 (2023:
HK$265,127,000), accounting for 8.6% (2023: 15.4%) of the
total, and its segment profit margin was 12.1% (2023: 12.3%).
As the segment profit of wholesaling business included profits
from inter-segment sales to self-operated shops, if including inter-
segment sales in the denominator, its segment profit margin
would be 4.4% (2023: 6.5%).

During the Year under review, the licensing income
decreased slightly by 1.8% to HK$1,034,466,000 (2023:
HK$1,053,462,000), accounting for 6.7% (2023: 8.8%) of the
Group’s total revenue. Its segment profit margin was 69.6%
(2023: 73.7%), while its segment profit decreased by 7.3% to
HK$719,705,000 (2023: HK$776,527,000), accounting for 33.5%
(2023: 45.0%) of the total.

ClEFERN TEXFKALAERETEIE
EHN - ZTENBEBRBBRNKRE AR

REBABEN NMLEEHBEBHER
BEHENE AEEBZERAKEEMN
45.3%%F12,748,906,0003 75 (20234 :
8,771,929,00087t) » {h AN E B 4B W A B
83.2% (20234 : 73.2%) o H 9 3%
TRANEIE £82.8%%F1,246,853,00078 7T
(20234 : 681,982,000 1) 71£ttﬁ%
57.9% (20234 : 39.6%) » EN @A =X
79.8% (20234 : 7.8%) °

BEARARBIEHEBAEM  EHE AME
AERBRMMER  REBMZF W AREIL
/0 28.3%ZF 1,542,590,0007 7 ( 20234
2,152,453,00087T) M AEFBEWA D
10.1% (20234 : 18.0%) » E & & # 8
10 29.8%ZEF 186,084,000 75 (20234
265,127,000787T) * 1HEE%8.6% (20234
15.4%) » D EEMES12.1% (20234 .
12.3%) cHRMBEEN B EHEZTH
HNEEHEEEEENF B WOt AD
EEHE  HOS R ER4.4% (20234 .
6.5%) °

CIEEEEN REEBBARYMTEI.8%E
1,034,466,0003 7T (20234 : 1,053,462,000
Brw) o EAEEBLIANG. 7% (2023
F:8.8%)  HAHE ,m%IJ?ﬁj69 6% (2023
F173.7%)  EHOEEFBELT7.3%E
719,705,000 7T (20234 : 776,527,000
7T) > G EE5433.5% (20234 : 45.0%) ©
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Sales! and Gross Profit? by Product

BREMBDHHE RERN?

72.6%
(63.0%) 58.4%
(63.0%) (49.4%)
41.6%
50.6%
(50.6%) 27.4%
(37.0%)

Sales  Gross Profit

HE E7

Sales Gross Profit Gross Margin
HE E7 ERZE

Gold & Platinum?®
HERHAE?

Fixed Price Jewellery

EEEH

Gold & Platinum E& KiHE 10,380 2,000 19.3%
Y.o-Y Changes 4. +50.7% +672%  +19pp. EEDE
Fixed Price Jewellery T B & 3,912 1,423 36.4%
Y.0-Y Changes 4 -3.1% +16.3%  +6.1 p.p. EEDE

Overall 282 14,292 3,423 24.0%
Y.0-Y Changes #4245 +30.8% +414%  +1.8pp. EEDE

Remarks: Comparative figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets

5 FESEANA20238 FE 2 LEEEHFE

1

Sales = Revenue — Licensing Income

HHE = WA - mEEBWA

2 Gross Profit = Consolidated Gross Profit — Gross Profit of Licensing Income

EF = B EF - MBEBWRAER

Gold & Platinum refers to gold & platinum products sold by weight basing on international market price, i.e. at non-fixed price

HERHERIERBEERTSERREEBHENTSRNSER BIIFEB
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During the Year under review, despite a yearly increase of
10.2% in the average international gold price in USD per ounce,
the demand for gold products remains robust. Consequently,
sales of gold and platinum products increased by 50.7% to
HK$10,379,634,000 (2023: HK$6,886,227,000), accounting
for 72.6% (2023: 63.0%) of the overall sales amount (Group
revenue minus licensing income), and became the key driving
force for the growth of the Group’s retailing business. Its gross
margin increased by 1.9 p.p. to 19.3% (2023: 17.4%) as a
result of the increase in the gold prices. Gross profit of gold and
platinum products therefore increased significantly by 67.2% to
HK$2,000,275,000 (2023: HK$1,196,586,000), accounting for
58.4% (2023: 49.4%) of the overall gross profit (consolidated
gross profit of the Group minus gross profit of licensing income).

On the other hand, the sales amount of fixed price jewellery
products decreased by 3.1% to HK$3,911,861,000 (2023:
HK$4,038,155,000), accounting for 27.4% (2023: 37.0%) of the
overall sales amount (Group revenue minus licensing income)
due to the decrease in the demand of diamond products.
Nevertheless, because of the increased mix of retailing revenue,
which has higher gross margin than wholesaling, gross margin
of fixed price jewellery products increased by 6.1 p.p. to 36.4%
(2023: 30.3%). Its gross profit therefore increased by 16.3% to
HK$1,423,075,000 (2023: HK$1,223,925,000), accounting for
41.6% (2023: 50.6%) of the overall gross profit (consolidated
gross profit of the Group minus gross profit of licensing income).

During the Year under review, the overall SSS of the Group was
+31.9% (20283: +24.4%), while the SSS for the Hong Kong and
Macau market was +39.6% (2023: +34.0%), and -2.4% (2023:
-16.9%) for Mainland. The SSS for gold and platinum products
was +37.6% (20283: +35.0%) and +16.0% (2023: +1.9%) for fixed
price jewellery products.

EENRCIEFENERIHEE (ERERE
70) BE L1510.2% 0 = E R ERTIAE K-
At > HERAEERBEEZELMN0.7%E
10,379,634,0003 77 ( 20234 : 6,886,227,000
BT) LRI E AR (REBE WAL Mg
U A) B972.6% (20234 : 63.0%) » A & 7A&E
ESEEFERENTEEHH H HEMNXE
SELAMERIIMEEDME19.3% (2023
F17.4%) > HEFRUIL KB LFA67.2%F
2,000,275,0003 75 (20234 : 1,196,586,000
70) L EREF REBGEEMN ARG E
WA EF]) 8958.4% (20234 : 49.4%) ©

S—FHE CTEEMERNHEEERER
EMmE K TR FF3.1%%E3,911,861,000
HB T (20234 © 4,038,155,000587T) » (5
BEIHER (KREBWARE REEFKA)
BY27.4% (20234 : 37.0%) o 7Am > AR EE
HEEFNESNEEWRAMEEN EE
HHEREMNE LA AET D EEES36.4%
(20234 : 30.3%) > HEFMAIEMN16.3% =
1,423,075,0003 7T (20234 : 1,223,925,0005%
70) B EF (REBGESEN R BB ER
WA EF]) B941.6% (20234 : 50.6%) ©

REBEEFER AEEBNERREHES
+31.9% (20234F :+24.4%) ° &R THIEHE
[EHHE 5+39.6% (20234 :+34.0%) > MK
SRR 5-2.4% (20234 -16.9%) - &%
KA EMNEEHE &+37.6% (20234 !
+35.0%) » EEEMERIA+16.0% (2023
F 1+1.9%) °
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BUSINESS REVIEW e 4]

Revenue and Segment Profit by Market

EHiSE 5 B9 A B 53 BB i F

65.5%

0/
(55.0%) 54.8%

(33.5%) 45.2%
(66.5%)

34.5%
(45.0%)

~ P

Segment
Revenue Profit
WA S EREF

Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas

EFERPIR B . .
Mainland

o = N

Revenue Segment Profit
HKSM B & E T A A

Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas &7 \ P K &5 10,040 1,180
Y-0-Y Changes #Z4E£H1E +52.4% +104.5%
Mainland P93 5,286 973
Y.o-Y Changes ##E£ 1L 2.0% -15.2%

Overall 252 15,326 2,153
Y.o-Y Changes #EE 1L +28.0% +24.9%

Remarks: Comparative figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets

5 FESEANA2023F FE 2 LEEHFE
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Hong Kong, Macau and Overseas

F& BRI RBH

(95.2%)

(1.8%)

0.5%
98.4%
0.2%) (98.2%)
1.1%
(1.6%)
Segment
Revenue Profit
WA 5 EBiEF

Retailing

e |
Wholesaling

ik .

Licensing
Rl .

Segment

Profit Margin
VaN- IR

Revenue | Segment Profit
HVE A SR

Retailing T 9,886 1,053 10.6%
Y-0-Y Changes ¥ E£1E +52.9% +916%  +2.1pp. EEDE

Wholesaling #t.2% 109 81 74.3%
Y-0-Y Changes #E£ 1L +3.6% +676.5% +64.4 p.p. EEDEH

Adjusted Wholesaling AZ552# By #t % 2,652 81 3.0%

Y-0-Y Changes 134E8HE +34.2% +676.5%  +2.5p.p. EEDH

Licensing maf& 275 45 46 102.0%
Y-o-Y Changes 12 E£HL +183.1% +1714%  -45pp. BEDH

Overall 2252 10,040 1,180 11.7%
Yeo-Y Changes #E£HE +52.4% +104.5%  +29p.p. EEDEH

Remarks: Comparative figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets
5t HER R A20288 FE 2 LER# T
! Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue

ARV BT A = SOMEEETSIRA + D ERRIHLE WA
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Hong Kong, Macau and Overseas

Hong Kong

After the full resumption of normal travel, tourists from all over
the world including Mainland, have returned. According to the
Statistics on Visitor Arrivals to Hong Kong published by the
Hong Kong Tourism Board in January 2024, Mainland visitors
in 2023 increased by approximately 70 times year-on-year to
approximately 27 million. With the reopening of borders amongst
Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland, the number of Mainland
tourists visiting Hong Kong has increased significantly, with visitor
arrivals statistics released in April 2024 showing an increase of
approximately 1.6 times year-on-year to approximately 8.7 million
from January to March 2024. In respect of tourist spending,
according to the retail sales statistics released by the Census
and Statistics Department of Hong Kong Government in May
2024, the provisional estimate of the value of sales of jewellery,
watches and clocks, and valuable gifts from January to March
2024 decreased marginally by 0.5% year-on-year. The Group’s
retailing revenue in Hong Kong increased significantly by 49.9%
to HK$6,355,946,000 (2023: HK$4,239,220,000) for the Year
under review. As at 31 March 2024, the Group operated 54 self-
operated shops (2023: 45 shops) in Hong Kong.

Macau

The number of visitor arrivals to Macau has also risen sharply
after the reopening of borders. According to the market figures
released by the Macau Government Tourism Office, Mainland
visitor arrivals to Macau in 2023 increased by approximately 2.7
times over last year to approximately 19 milion and per capita
spending of Mainland visitors decreased by 6% year-on-year.
With the full resumption of normal travel with the Mainland, the
number of Mainland visitor arrivals to Macau from January to
March 2024 surged by 94.3% year-on-year to approximately 6.3
million, and the per capita consumption of Mainland tourists in
the first quarter decreased by 31.6% year-on-year. The Group’s
revenue generated from Macau increased substantially by 77.8%
to HK$2,892,400,000 (2023: HK$1,626,973,000) during the Year
under review. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 18
self-operated shops (2023: 16 shops) in Macau.

Overseas

As at 31 March 2024, the Group operated a total of 21 overseas
shops (2023: 15 shops), including self-operated shops of 4 in
the United States, 4 in Malaysia, 2 in Canada and 2 in Australia,
as well as 3 licensed shops in Cambodia and the Philippines
respectively, and 1 licensed shop in Laos, Thailand and Australia
respectively.

o R - B 1)

5&

ERBREEAMEANE RS RETER -
RESBREZERN2024F18 Afhizsh
BIRE S st BUIE BRI 0 2023 57 8 BY A L iR
B ERMATORELN2, 7008 AR -BBES
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Kig LTt 1R2024F 48 A Z sh B RE# 5t
HIEFE R 2024F1 B E3RMFHBAMKRE
KEF LI ANLI1.6/ZE L8708 AR o IREH
B RBFEE BBt B N2024F58 &
AN EXEHEER BRI 2024518
EIAMBKEGM ERLLEBYNIHEE
ERNRR A IR F &M T E0.5% AEE M
CEFEESENZTE WA KIEIENN49.9%
%6,355,946,00078 7t (20234 : 4,239,220,000
HBIT) o 2024 FE3R31H  AEBETHBLKE
BB &8 A54 B EE (20234 © 45[) ©

b |
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AR MEERERBNKREATHERL
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EHE0EB AR MEZAMKE AL EE
BELBR D31.6% [MREEER » AEB KB
SEPIRY UL A KR _EFH77.8%F2,892,400,000
HIT (20234 © 1,626,973,0005 7T) ° 122024
FE3RNH AEBEERMELE1SHEEE
(20234 : 16/ ©

=

1202493831 H > AE B EHLE21/ /5
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During the Year under review, retailing revenue from the Hong
Kong, Macau and overseas markets increased by 52.9% to
HK$9,885,611,000 (2023: HK$6,464,974,000), accounting
for 98.4% (2023: 98.2%) of these markets’ total and 64.5%
(2023: 54.0%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit
increased significantly by 91.6% to HK$1,052,531,000 (2023:
HK$549,384,000), accounting for 89.2% (2023: 95.2%) of these
markets’s total and 48.9% (2023: 31.9%) of the Group’s total, with
a segment profit margin of 10.6% (2023: 8.5%). The overall SSS
in the Hong Kong, Macau and overseas markets was +35.7%
(2023: +33.0%). The SSS of their gold and platinum products
was +42.0% (2023: +46.9%) and +18.7% (2023: +5.8%) for fixed
price jewellery products.

In addition, the wholesaling business revenue increased slightly by
3.6% to HK$108,739,000 (2023: HK$104,987,000), accounting
for 1.1% (2023: 1.6%) of the Hong Kong, Macau and overseas
markets’ total revenue and 0.7% (2023: 0.9%) of the Group’s
total. Its segment profit increased by 676.5% to HK$80,752,000
(2023: HK$10,399,000) as a result of the substantial increase in
inter-segment sales, accounting for 6.8% (2023: 1.8%) of these
markets’ total and 3.8% (2023: 0.6%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit margin was 74.3% (2023: 9.9%). As the segment
profit of wholesaling business included the profit of inter-segment
sales to self-operated shops, if including inter-segment sales in
the denominator, its segment profit margin would be 3.0% (2023:
0.5%).

Apart from that, Hong Kong licensing income increased by
183.1% to HK$45,466,000 (2023: HK$16,058,000), accounting
for 0.5% (2023: 0.2%) of these markets’ total and 0.3% (2023:
0.1%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit was HK$46,394,000
(2023: HK$17,097,000), accounting for 3.9% (2023: 3.0%) of
these markets’ total and 2.2% (2023: 1.0%) of the Group’s total.
Its segment profit margin was 102.0% (2023: 106.5%).

Overall speaking, revenue from the Hong Kong, Macau and
overseas markets increased by 52.4% to HK$10,039,816,000
(2023: HK$6,586,019,000) during the Year under review,
accounting for 65.5% (2023: 55.0%) of the Group’s total.
Its segment profit increased substantially by 104.5% to
HK$1,179,677,000 (2023: HK$576,880,000), accounting for
54.8% (2023: 33.5%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit
margin was 11.7% (2023: 8.8%).

REIBEFERN 8 B EITIENEE
A 18 N52.9%%9,885,611,0007 75 (2023
£ 1 6,464,974,000587T) » 1EEE BFIEOE
SN IS EERERYO8.4% (20234 | 98.2%) & A
EEFEUABI64.5% (20234 © 54.0%) o &
D ERHE A AIEENN91.6%ZE1,052,531,00074
7¢ (20234 : 549,384,000 70) * hsz 5 ™5
FLAEHBO.2% (20234 © 95.2%) % AN EE [H FL 2
BY48.9% (20234 : 31.9%) » HD A=
£10.6% (20234 : 8.5%) - BHE HEFIRKE
ShTI SR EEAS[E IR T & 2+35.7% (20234 !
+33.0%) ' EEERINCERZFEHEES
+42.0% (20234 :+46.9%) > EEE#HE @I
#+18.7% (20234 :+5.8%) ©

B EMBEFRARM EAZ.6%E
108,739,000 75 (20234 : 104,987,000
70) R E IS EEREM1.1% (20234 © 1.6%)
R AN EEEERER0.7% (20234 : 0.9%) » H 7
ESEIEHE RMBIE AN HE R EaF] EF676.5%
80,752,000 75 (20234 : 10,399,0003%
70)  1hZ S I EEEEM6.8% (20234 1 1.8%)
R A~ EE B EEREAYB.8% (20234 : 0.6%) » H 2326
EHIRAET74.3% (20234 1 9.9%) o R HEEE
EXNOHRMNEEoBEHEEEREEN
A WDt ADERIHE oI imF) =
73.0% (20234 : 0.5%) ©

FRICLAON BB RIBEHBINAILN183.1%E
45,466,00078 75 (20234 : 16,058,000587T) *
(HZ2E M IHEREM0.5% (20234 : 0.2%) K74
EEEFER0.3% (20234 : 0.1%) » HHERE
FB1 %46,394,000%8 7T (20234 : 17,097,000
BIT) R ETIZEIEMNI.9% (20234 !
3.0%) KA EEEFEM2.2%(2023% © 1.0%) >
HAOEHEFIE%A102.0% (20234 : 106.5%) °

wEEms PEEEER &8 B REIN
HmIHEM U AIENN152.4% % 10,039,816,00078 75
(20234 : 6,586,019,0005 7T) * {LA<EE 2K
BEMI65.5% (20234 : 55.0%) » E O EB#F A
AIBEAN104.5%Z1,179,677,000% 75 (2023
£ 1576,880,000787T) » LA EFEEEFEMI54.8%
(20234 : 33.5%) * HEAZWHEMEEH11.7%
(20234 : 8.8%) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Mainland

Past

54.2%
(42.8%)
_(42.8%)

20.0%
(11.6%)

10.8%
(22.2%)

69.2%
(66.2%)

27.1%
(38.0%)

18.7%

(19.2%) , Segment
Revenue Profit
A S ERiER)

Retailing

28 H
Wholesaling

Hha .

Licensing
LY S .

Segment
Revenue Segment Profit Profit Margin
A 8 DEETIE

Retailing & 2,863 194 6.8%
Y-0-Y Changes &L +24.1% +465%  +1.1pp. EEDE

Wholesaling #t2% 1,434 106 7.3%
Yeo-Y Changes 1425 -30.0% -586%  -5.1p.p. EEDE

Adjusted Wholesaling #5552 894 1,597 106 6.6%

Y-0-Y Changes 14 E8E 24.1% 586%  -55p.p. EEDE

Licensing AR H#2£75 989 673 68.1%
Y-o0-Y Changes #4441t -4.7% 11.3%  -51pp EEDE

Overall 258 5,286 973 18.4%
Y-0-Y Changes #%E£1E -2.0% -156.2% 29pp. EHEDH

Remarks: Comparative figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets
5 BN A2023 FEZ LB H T
T Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue

BRI = BOME BT + DRI HLE A

18 Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

va)il

SEERE

Mainland

Despite the lackluster macroeconomic conditions in Mainland,
driven by the robust growth of e-commerce business, retailing
revenue in the Mainland market experienced satisfactory increase
of 24.1% to HK$2,863,294,000 (2023: HK$2,306,955,000),
accounting for 54.2% (2023: 42.8%) of Mainland market’s
revenue and 18.7% (2023: 19.3%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit increased by 46.5% to HK$194,322,000 (2023:
HK$132,598,000), accounting for 20.0% (2023: 11.6%) of
Mainland markets’ total and 9.0% (2023: 7.7%) of the Group’s
total. Its segment profit margin was 6.8% (2023: 5.7%). The
overall SSS in Mainland narrowed from -16.9% last year to -2.4%.
The SSS for its gold and platinum products made a turnaround
to +1.9% (2023: -14.3%) and was -21.3% (2023: -26.4%) for its
fixed price jewellery products.

Due to the continued sluggish demand for diamond products in
the Mainland market, its revenue of the wholesaling business,
which primarily focuses on sales of diamond products, decreased
by 30.0% to HK$1,433,852,000 (2023: HK$2,047,466,000),
and accounted for 27.1% (2023: 38.0%) of Mainland market’s
revenue and 9.4% (2023: 17.1%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit decreased by 58.6% to HK$105,332,000 (2023:
HK$254,728,000), accounting for 10.8% (2023: 22.2%) of
Mainland market’s total and 4.9% (2023: 14.8%) of the Group’s
total. Its segment profit margin reduced to 7.3% (2023: 12.4%)
as a result of recognising inventory impairment provisions
of HK$35,416,000 (2023: Nil) in response to the decline in
market prices of raw diamonds. As the segment profit of
wholesaling business included the profit of inter-segment sales
to self-operated shops, if including inter-segment sales in the
denominator, its segment profit margin would be 6.6% (2023:
12.1%).

Licensing income in the Mainland market decreased by 4.7% to
HK$989,000,000 (2023: HK$1,037,404,000), which accounted
for 18.7% (2023: 19.2%) of Mainland market’s revenue and 6.5%
(2023: 8.7%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit decreased by
11.3% to HK$673,311,000 (2023: HK$759,430,000), accounting
for 69.2% (2023: 66.2%) of Mainland market’s total and 31.3%
(2023: 44.0%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit margin was
68.1% (2023: 73.2%).

To cater to the customer needs of different profiles, the Group
actively created different sub-brands and product lines. The Group
developed “Goldstyle”, a popular product collection well known
for pioneering exquisite techniques, into independent shops in
May 2019. In FY2022, the Group introduced “Lukfook Joaillerie”,
to target at high-end market, and “Heirloom Fortune”, which
features traditional craftsmanship of gold jewellery. In May 2023,
the Group also launched “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY”, which
targets at the affordable luxury market.

it

R EBREERRES BESETFHHR
TIEREFE AMMmENTERANDREER
E > E24.1%%E2,863,294,0007 7T (2023
£ 1 2,306,955,0007T) » hA M HIZEEERN
54.2% (20235 : 42.8%) K NE BB FEHI18.7%
(20234 1 19.3%) > 9 ZaHIE1046.5%
%194,322,0007 7t (20234 : 132,598,000
BT AR T IS EFEMI20.0% (20234 -
11.6%) R AREEEFEI.0% (20234F :
7.7%) > HDEiaEFIEAR6.8% (20234
5.7%) o M BEE S SHEN A ER-16.9%
WEE-24% ERSRIATCEMZREHE
EBEAEE+1.9% (20234 -14.3%) » EEE
B 22 TR Bl -21.3% (2023 :-26.4%) °

HRAM MmN ELERERMAKSS
AL EHERAE RO T ZEHRIRAR
b30.0%%E1,433,852,00058 75 (20234 :
2,047,466,000787T) > 15 i 35 WA B
27.1% (20234 : 38.0%) AN EBEERN
9.4% (20234 :17.1%) » H 5 8% 8l
TBE58.6% % 105,332,000 75 (20234
254,728,000/ 7T) » (AT ZEEFEAN10.8%
(20234 :122.2%) R AR EEEFER4.9%
(20234 1 14.8%) » HD S X L =E
7.3% (20234 : 12.4%) » T EBHNBAHRR
MmETYMmAEEEHS5,416,000%8 7T (2023
F o\ REREBE AR EEEN DR
MNEEsSEHEEEEEENAE MO8
EFADESEIHE > DR EA6.6% (2023
F1121%) ©

P9 3t aR R ZEFS WAL L 4.7 % 2 989,000,000
7T (20234 © 1,037,404,000% 70) » (LA
THIREAENI18.7% (20234 © 19.2%) KAE
B REAEHY6.5% (20234 © 8.7%) » HOEREF
#4673,311,0005 75 (20234 : 759,430,0007
70)  BKIEA11.3% 2 (H it T 35 B AR AY69.2%
(20234 : 66.2%) R AEEEIE31.3%
(20234 : 44.0%) ENEaF]EAH68.1%
(20234 : 73.2%) ©

AHBIRAEZENE R AEBRBBREER
A B R EE AR o BRI 201945 8 i 2/ FT
EmRY UE2HENBEELETEMmMR
89T Goldstyle 1 8% & A B L5 & > K2 i22022874
FHRTHESHEMSENNEBRE > Uk
FHEEESTERBNIERERIEHHIN
REMINR2023F58 # H MLove LUKFOOK
JEWELLERY J/E & BRESHEEMIZo
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 3,490 shops /3202443831 H > AEEMP AHELES,490
(2023: 3,029 shops) in the Mainland, including 3,030 “Lukfook” /& & (20234 : 3,029R4) » H i 81#E3,030/
shops (2023: 2,862 shops), 213 “3DG Jewellery” shops (2023: /5421 &5 & (20234 : 2,862f) 213/ &
0 shop), 56 “Goldstyle” shops (2023: 73 shops), 27 “Lukfook ZE & [E#H (20234 : 0f) ~ 56 Goldstyle
Joaillerie” shops (2023: 13 shops), 146 “Heirloom Fortune” shops & & (20234 @ 73[3) ~ 27/ /<@ ¥ F ER
(2023: 81 shops) and 18 “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” shops  Jd& & (20234 © 13f8) ~ 146f5 @ m @R /&
(2023: 0 shop). Apart from that, the Group added a net total of & (20234 : 81f) K 18[“Love LUKFOOK
169 “Lukfook” licensed shops (2023: +224 shops), while the JEWELLERY"/E#& (20234 : Off) o BRIt~
number of “Lukfook” self-operated shops decreased by 1 shop  #b > IR;FIEEE T 169 /581 M E (2023

(2023: -8 shops). Details are as follows: F 1+204f8) - INE BEEHB ARV
(20234 :-8f) o FFIEW T !
Mainland Distribution Network PYth 53 S 445

31 March

2023
Shop number of Main-brands/Sub-brands/Product Lines 2023%F Changes
Emh?BlmhE iR E S E
“Lukfook” Self-operated Shops
=3
I_:ilcensed Shops

“3DG Jewellery” Self-operated Shops
rEFH) BEE

Llcensed Shops
mRhé s +150

“Goldstyle” Self- operated Shops
BEE

L|oensed Shops

“Lukfook Joalllerle Self-operated Shops
751848 M BES

L|censed Shops

“Heirloom Fortune” Self-operated Shops

rEmER =l

Llcensed Shops

“Love LUKFOOK SpeC|aI|ty Shops
JEWELLERY” E A

Sgelf operated Shops

Licensed Shops
Mg S 2,946 +376
Speciality Shops
=S 0 +18
Total
#Hag +461
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During the Year under review, the overall same store sales growth  REIBEEEE R > A 17518 LR EEERE
of “Lukfook” licensed shops in Mainland was +1.6% (2023: H&EIEEA+1.6% (20234 :-9.5%) *MEHE
-9.5%), while the same store sales growth for its gold and fixed & 2 & & & &f & fn A9 [F) 15 35 & FHIE B 5 5l 2
price jewellery products was +7.6% (2023: -4.2%) and -13.6%  +7.6% (2023%F :-4.2%) F-13.6% (20234 :-
(2023: -20.3%) respectively. 20.3%) °

FY2024 Mainland E-commerce Business Performance

2024B E M EBEFEFFEFERIR

Sales by Product
SHENERSR S
Gold & Platinum
HERAE

Fixed Price Jewellery

EEEH

8.1%
(12.0%)

Revenue WA

HK$1,873 Million B & & 7t +26.0%
Y-0-Y Changes #F £ 1k

FY2024 Revenue Growth Target:

2024 F AR R EAR
+10%

Average Selling Price’ P& &'

RMB1,800 +12.5%

A E#1,8007T Y-0-Y Changes &4 &1L

Contribution to Mainland Retailing Revenue?

i A3t 2 6 U A2

64.2% (FY2023: 63.2%)

(202384 £F 1 63.2%)

Contribution to Group’s Retailing Revenue?

HERETEWA?

14.4% (FY2023: 16.6%)
(202381 4F : 16.6%)

Remarks: Figures for FY2023 are shown in brackets

RS A2023 EH T

T ASP included value-added tax (VAT)
FHEED S ER

2 Sales of self-operated shops and e-commerce business
HEEKREFHEFHERE
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During the Year under review, revenue of e-commerce
business from Mainland experienced an increase of 26.0%
to HK$1,837,085,000 (2023: HK$1,457,853,000), exceeded
the original growth target of 10% for this financial year, and
accounting for 64.2% (2023: 63.2%) of the retailing revenue
in Mainland and 14.4% (2023: 16.6%) of the Group’s retailing
revenue. Sales of gold and platinum products accounted for
91.9% (2023: 88.0%) of its sales mix and 8.1% (2023: 12.0%) for
its fixed price jewellery products.

Overall speaking, during the Year under review, total revenue
from the Mainland market decreased slightly by 2.0% to
HK$5,286,146,000 (2023: HK$ 5,391,825,000), accounting
for 34.5% (2023: 45.0%) of the Group’s total. Its segment
profit decreased by 15.2% to HK$972,965,000 (2023:
HK$1,146,756,000), accounting for 45.2% (2023: 66.5%) of
the Group’s total. Its segment profit margin was 18.4% (2023:
21.3%).

Financial Impact in relation to Investments and
Operating Activities in HKRH & Its Subsidiaries
(Before Completion of the Acquisition)

Gain/(Loss)
Wa (B518)
HK$M
BEAET
50% Results of Associate
B A BI50%EE

Wholesale Gross Profit

HEEF]

Fair Value Loss on Provision for a Financial
Guarantee Contract

MHRFRENBREBEZANEBE

Interest Income on Working Capital Loan

MEBEZERHMEWA

Total
B2E

During the Year under review and before the completion of the
acquisition of HKRH, the total losses in relation to investments
and operating activities in HKRH and its subsidiaries increased to
HK$44,000,000 (2023: loss of HK$22,000,000).

FY2024
202481 £

|
—
(o))
=
=

REIBEEER AMEFEABERRAEE
BHAEHEREN10%EEBIZ > EF26.0%
%1,837,085,000 7T (20234 : 1,457,853,000
BT A EE A BI64.2% (2023 -
63.2%) R AEEZTEUWARI14.4% (20234 :
16.6%) c HES KNS EMNHEE NS
91.9% (20234 : 88.0%) > MEEEEEHE®m
Bl 758.1% (20234 : 12.0%) ©

EEms RNOEFEN REAMTIEN
48R A BRI 2.0% E5,286,146,0008 7T
(20234 : 5,391,825,000 70) » (G4 EH
AR 934 5% (20234 © 45.0%) o EDEBEF
B/ 15.2%FE972,965,00078 75 (20234 :
1,146,756,00078 7T) » hAEE EFERI45.2%
(20234 1 66.5%) » EDZENEA18.4%
(20234 : 21.3%) ©

ERERREMBARNREREEE
Bz BT E (s MA)

Y-0-Y Changes
RS

FY2023
2023814

23) +23

(22) (22)

REBEEFEARTSHRWBESBE R N
ERERNENBADMNKRE KEE T
BU4EES 4812 I 44,000,000 70 (20234
22,000,000870k518) ©
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Non-HKFRS Financial Measure

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group prepared in
accordance with HKFRS, certain non-HKFRS financial measures,
EBITDA, EBITDA margin and total operating expenses to revenue
ratio have been presented in this report. The management of the
Group believes that such non-HKFRS financial measures provide
investors with clearer view on the Group’s financial results, and
with useful supplementary information to assess the performance
of the Group’s strategic operations by excluding the impact of
certain non-cash items. Nevertheless, the use of this non-HKFRS
financial measure has limitations as an analytical tool. These
unaudited non-HKFRS financial measures should be considered in
addition to, not as a substitute for, analysis of the Group’s financial
performance prepared in accordance with HKFRS. In addition,
these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined differently
from similar terms used by other companies.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$1,998,000,000 (2023: HK$2,348,000,000).
Net cash was HK$570,000,000 (2023: HK$1,808,000,000). The
debt-to-equity ratio was 31.0% (2023: 22.2%), being the ratio of
total liabilities of HK$3,990,000,000 (2023: HK$2,708,000,000)
against total shareholders’ equity of HK$12,891,000,000 (2023:
HK$12,221,000,000). As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s banking
facilities amounted to approximately HK$4.42 billion (2023:
HK$4.09 billion), of which HK$1.43 billion (2023: HK$0.54 billion)
has been utilised. The Group’s income and expenditure streams
are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

A %5 (o] 8

FERMBHREENMBAE
PHERAEERBEEBVMBREENRRY
REXE FERBMBREENMBIE
REAE MBI E KRBT REHF
B RE-TERBHEA AN ZNEBEEZH
SIERALRERAREANZ2I - AEEE
ERERE ZIFEBUBREENMBTE
HREERHEEEMNEERYHRE I
REHEAANMREN BBEMAFETIFRE
BENFE SHEAERRBEENKRIF A
meERRFEREMBREEINYHHENF
mOMTAFERRME UREEZIFETR
MBEBRSENMBHAERRRSRETEY
BREZENRROETEBMBERRDNAHE
FMIFEAT o tbsh ILTRIFEBMHBRE
HER B ENTERIEEEMAT AN
BLFEREFRAE -

MHEERMBEER
2024538310 » AEBMIRE KRIRITH R
#1,998,000,00038 7 (20234F : 2,348,000,000
BIT) o BIEL A570,000,0008 7T (2023
£ 11,808,000,000587T) B EHERLEEXS
31.0% (20234 : 22.2%) » IbThiR4E & &
3,990,000,00078 75 (20234 : 2,708,000,000
B7T) IEH IR R R ARRE12,891,000,00078 75
(20234 : 12,221,000,0005 75) = L5
B oR20245E3831H  AEBMNIRITEERE
EA44 2087870 (20234 : 40988 7T) » B
14,3878 70 (20234 5.4 70) KBH A o &
EEZWHEBEBEFEMUETIE
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Inventory

=8

Inventory Turnover Days (By Product)

FERARAMUEREIS)

Average Inventory

F9ES

Turnover Days

G SE 4

Gold

=

Fixed price jewellery
EEEHD

Overall

2024815 B

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s inventory slightly increased
by 8.1% to HK$9,567,000,000 (2023: HK$8,853,000,000). The
average inventory turnover days were 310 days (2023: 378 days)
with the average inventory turnover days of gold products being
180 days (2023: 237 days) and 738 days (2023: 656 days) for
fixed price jewellery products.

The inventory turnover days calculated basing on closing inventory
were 322 days (2023: 380 days) with the closing inventory
turnover days of gold products being 191 days (2023: 250 days)
and 753 days (2023: 637 days) for fixed price jewellery products.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year under review, the Group’s capital expenditures
amounted to approximately HK$680,000,000 (2023:
HK$107,000,000), including the costs of properties, leasehold
lands, land use rights, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures
and equipment.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total capital commitments
amounted to HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$23,000,000).

Y-0-Y Changes

Closing Inventory

HXES

FY2024
2024B4E

Y-0-Y Changes
BES(E

R2024F3A31H  AEBMNE & &MY
08.1%%9,567,000,0007 75 (20234 :
8,853,000,000787T) » MFHEEFEHEH#A
3108 (2023%F : 378H) ' HhEEERZF
HEEREHEA1808 (20234 : 237H) »
EEEMERZ FHFERAEAAA738H
(20234 : 656H) ©

MU REETEZBAEH#%AIA322H
(2023£ : 380R) ' Eh B EmMWEARE
EFEQ#A1918 (20234 : 250H) ° &
BENERZPREFEEREHHAIA753H
(20234 : 637H) ©

B2

REBFEAN A2EEELARAIOR
680,000,0007 75 (20234 @ 107,000,000
7T)  BEMESEELM DTMERE A
MEEAE R RERRERA

B KR
FR2024E3H31H  ZEBMERKIELEA
20,000,000 75 (20234F : 23,000,000 7T) ©
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Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had corporate financial
guarantee amounting to HK$1,075,000,000 to banks in respect of
50% of the aggregated amount of banking facilities granted to an
associate. As at 31 March 2023, the banking facilities utilised by
the associate were HK$1,644,000,000.

As at 31 March 2023, a loss allowance amounted to
approximately HK$37,000,000 estimated under the expected
credit loss model in respect of such corporate financial guarantee
of the Group was recognised.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, save as disclosed above, the
Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

Acquisition of HKRH

On 28 July 2023, Lukfook 3D Investment Holding Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the
Offeror, entered into sale and purchase agreements with various
substantial shareholders of HKRH as the Vendors (as amended
and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreements dated 18
December 2023 and 11 January 2024, respectively) (collectively
referred to as the “S&P Agreements”), to acquire 50.4% of
the issued shares of HKRH at an aggregate consideration of
HK$104,000,000. Upon completion of the S&P Agreements on
12 January 2024, HKRH became a subsidiary of the Company
and its financial results after the completion date of the acquisition
have been consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group with effect from the current year. Upon completion of
the S&P agreements, on 19 January 2024, the Group made an
unconditional mandatory cash offer (the “Offer”) in compliance
with the Code on Takeovers and Mergers to acquire all the issued
shares of HKRH (other than those already owned or agreed to
be acquired by the Offeror and/or parties acting in concert with
it) and to cancel all the outstanding share options of HKRH.
Immediately after the completion of the Offer on 9 February
2024, the Group held in aggregate 80.1% of the issued shares of
HKRH. Subsequently, on 28 March 2024, the Company declared
a special interim dividend by way of distribution in specie of
HKRH shares and the Group’s shareholding in HKRH shares was
reduced to approximately 71.2%.

The acquisition of HKRH has not only strengthened the Group’s
control over the brand of “3DG Jewellery”, but also has unlocked
its full potential for brand development, which facilitates synergies
with the Group’s business. Concurrently, HKRH can leverage
the Group’s robust financial strength and brand management
expertise to drive long-term returns for the Group.

RBARIER

R2023FE3831H  AEEMBE —BEE A
B F 2RI EREZ50% BB IRTT
HE R/ FIER1,075,000,0008 7T i?
2023F3H31H  ZE NI EERAIRITTHE
1,644,000,0003 7T, ©

2202338310 IRIFFEIAEEHEENM
o RAEEZ A DM B IE R E B
49 437,000,0007 7T °

20244 K%2023FE3H831H  fr EXIRESE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Human Capital Policy

As at 31 March 2024, the number of employees of the Group
was approximately 6,900 (2023: 6,000). The management
reviews and examines the remuneration policies on a regular
basis to ensure that fair rewards and compensation are provided
to our employees. Remuneration packages are determined with
reference to comparable market rates while bonuses and other
rewards are linked to the performances of the Group and the
employees. This policy aims to motivate employees with monetary
incentives to work together to enhance the Group’s business
performance.

OUTLOOK

The increase in central banks’ gold reserves and ongoing
international geopolitical tensions have driven gold prices to reach
new highs since March. In addition, in the face of challenges
such as macroeconomic uncertainties, weakened consumer
sentiment as well as a slip of RMB, the sales performance of the
Group from January to March was impacted to a certain extent.
The continued escalation of gold prices to new record levels in
April further impacted the sales of gold products. The Group’s
SSS from April to 21 June 2024 was approximately -35% for the
Hong Kong and Macau market, and approximately -20% for the
Mainland market.

Since the demand for diamond products remains subdued,
the Group will continue to actively promote non-diamond fixed
price jewellery products, in order to enhance their performance.
Moreover, although the temporary spike in gold prices may affect
sales performance, an increase in profit margin will help mitigate
the impact of the decline in sales. Sales of the gold products are
expected to resume to the normal levels after consumers adapt
to the high gold prices. Furthermore, the Mainland government
is actively working on expanding domestic demand to support
the gradual recovery of the Mainland market. With the help of
improved macroeconomic conditions and retail sentiment, the
retailing business is expected to regain its growth momentum. As
such, the Group remains optimistic about its mid- to long-term
business prospects and will continue to expand in the Mainland
market.

Apart from that, the Group is optimistic about the immense
growth potential in the overseas markets. As a result, the Group
will allocate more resources to expand its footprint across the
world and plans to add a net of approximately 15 shops in the
overseas markets in the coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Before the beginning of FY2023, the Group has already set
up its new three-year corporate strategy with Mainland Market
Expansion, Branding Strategy and Operational Efficiency as its
three main focuses so as to foster its future business growth.

FOCUS ON MAINLAND MARKET
EXPANSION
iR At TIGER

FOCUS ON
BRANDING
STRATEGY
BN aa R HE R RS

Mainland Market Expansion

In the coming year, the expansion of “Lukfook” shops in Mainland
will continue to focus on opening licensed shops in fourth- and
fifth-tier cities. As for the development of new brands, including
the “3DG Jewellery” brand acquired by the Group on 12 January
2024, the Group aims to mainly add licensed shops in the
Mainland as well. In addition, the Group is also committed to
further developing its e-commerce business and strengthening
cooperation with various e-commerce platforms in the Mainland.
At the same time, it will also optimise its own e-commerce
platform, aiming to sustain the growth in e-commerce revenue.
In light of the enormous spending potential of young consumers
on online sales platforms, the Group will continue its endeavours
to promote the sales of affordable luxury jewellery products to
expand its footprint in the young consumer market.
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EFFICIENCY
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Branding Strategy

While the Group continuously strengthens its brand image and
positioning, it enhances product quality assurance, improves
service quality, optimises support for licensees and adopts a
multi-brand strategy to meet various market needs. Following
the launch of various sub-brands/product lines “Goldstyle”,
“Lukfook Joaillerie” and “Heirloom Fortune”, the Group launched
a sub-brand “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” in May 2023 and
added the “3DG Jewellery” brand after the acquisition of HKRH
in January 2024, in order to appeal to the younger generation in
the affordable luxury market. The Group will persist in penetrating
and targeting the middle-class, wedding, and Generation Z
markets while seizing development opportunities. It also focuses
on enhancing visual merchandising, boosting cross-selling
efforts, conducting VIP promotional activities, and collaborating
with other industries or brands to improve sales and profits.
The Group will continue allocating resources to various online
media and APPs, including RED, Tiktok, Bilibili, to reach target
customers and further enhance synergy between online and
offline sales channels. The Group also recognises the importance
of environmental protection and climate change, as well as the
awareness of environmental protection among stakeholders,
including consumers, and thus the Group will set up a long-term
goal of carbon reduction to enhance the Group’s contribution to
environmental protection.

Operational Efficiency

In order to enhance its competitive edge, the Group will
improve its operational efficiency by revamping its supply
chain management, implementing full automation, big data
management, and data analytics system. The Group will also
strive to maximise employees’ productivity by cultivating and
nurturing cultures of continuous improvement and innovation.
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MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
2 i 2R B

In light of evolving consumption trends and the influence of
social media, customer preferences towards jewellery have also
undergone changes. To cater to the diverse needs of different
customer groups, the Group has implemented a targeted
approach by adopting a multi-brand strategy and enriching
its product lines and brand portfolio to fulfill the varying needs
of customers. The Group’s brand offerings include Lukfook
Jewellery, 3DG Jewellery, Heirloom Fortune, Goldstyle, Lukfook
Joaillerie and Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY.

LUKFOOK JEWELLERY

Lukfook Jewellery targets at the mass luxury market, serving
customers through around 3,100 points of sale worldwide. The
Group is committed to providing consumers with quality and good
value-for-money jewellery offerings.

Partnerships with celebrities has always been a marketing
strategy of Lukfook Jewellery to increase and maintain its brand
awareness. During the Year under review, Lukfook Jewellery
appointed popular actress Tang Yan as its global brand
ambassador. Tang Yan’s sophisticated elegance perfectly ties in
with Lukfook Jewellery’s brand image. Lukfook Jewellery will join
hands with Tang Yan to showcase the beauty of Lukfook to the
public.
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MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
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Lukfook Jewellery also enhanced its partnerships with young
celebrities. During our anniversary celebration, we invited Neo
Hou, a rising actor in Mainland, to be our “Share Love and Fun
Anniversary Ambassador”, and collaborated with Hong Kong
singer Jace Chan on a photoshoot featuring the brand’s products.
These initiatives helped enhance the brand’s engagement with the
younger generation.

NEHRETMRAFERENGIF EHFEMBES T At
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Lukfook Jewellery, with its branding theme of “Love is Beauty”,
has joined hands with many couples to begin their marriage
journey during the Year under review, including Louisa Mak, the
officiating guest of “Lukfook Raceday 2023” and the champion of
Miss Hong Kong Pageant, as well as renowned actor Kenneth Ma
and actress Roxanne Tong. Lukfook Jewellery was the preferred
choice by various celebrities in their weddings. For the traditional
betrothal ceremony of Kenneth Ma and Roxanne Tong, Lukfook
Jewellery’s gold products were selected as the “five pieces of gold
jewellery”. Additionally, Louisa Mak adorned herself with Lukfook
Jewellery’s gold and diamond products on her wedding day,
radiating the blissful happiness of love.
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MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
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Lukfook Jewellery continued to explore new business
opportunities in international market, expanding its global
footprint. During the Year under review, we opened new shops in
Thailand and the United States, and invited famous Hong Kong
actress Linda Chung to officiate at the opening ceremony for our
new shop in Milpitas Ulferts Center, California, the United States
to witness the momentous occasion with esteemed guests.
In the Hong Kong market, the Group strategically deployed
shops in tourist areas before the borders reopening to seize the
opportunities. We invited famous actor Kenneth Ma and actress
Roxanne Tong to officiate at the ribbon-cutting ceremony for
the grand opening of our new image shop in Silvercord, Tsim
Sha Tsui. In the Mainland market, Lukfook Jewellery kicked off
the “Sweet Love Roadshows” across the country on 20 May
2023. We transformed the Han Street, Wuhan, the first stop
of the roadshows, into a romantic flower road, and invited the
celebrity couple, Yuan Hong and Zhang Xinyi as the “Sweet Love
Ambassadors”. We also invited popular actress Fiona Sit to attend
the roadshow in Xiamen.

The brand also enhanced its appeal to the younger generation
by collaborating with IP, including the animation “The Land of
Warrior”, which has topped the Xinhua Cultural Industry Value
Comprehensive Ranking List for two consecutive years, to launch
the “Xiao Wu'’s Forest Dream” gold gift box and introducing the
gold accessories in collaboration with the mobile game “Happy
Poke” to cater for young consumers. Besides, riding on the wave
of e-sports booms in recent years, the Group has created the
“King Pro League” champion rings for 15 consecutive seasons,
striving to increase our brand penetration into the market of
younger generation.

In order to strengthen the brand’s influence and recognition,
Lukfook Jewellery participated in 22 wedding expos and the
“3rd China International Consumer Products Expo”, the largest
consumer products exhibition in the Asia-Pacific region. During
the Year under review, we leveraged on the glasses-free 3D
BLINGING BOX to present the stunning visual impact of diamond
ring popping out of the screen to the audience on-site. Lukfook
Jewellery also rolled out a series of branding activities featuring the
theme of “Recognise Lukfook Jewellery of Hong Kong” in fourth-
and fifth-tier cities to raise Lukfook Jewellery’s influence and
recognition there.
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3DG JEWELLERY

3DG Jewellery has been adhering to the service concept of
“8DG Prestige Service” since its establishment 20 years ago.
3DG Jewellery has launched delicate and good-value-for-money
products with creative design and exquisite craftsmanship to cater
to consumers’ demand for affordable luxury jewellery through its
218 points of sale.

The brand upgraded its store image to the seventh generation
during the Year under review, embarking on a journey with a brand
new dazzling image. The new store design features a combination
of peach fuzz warm colours, combined with bronze and light
beige tones, providing consumers a comfortable and pleasant
shopping experience while leaving a stylish and warm memory of
3DG Jewellery. In addition, the brand creatively incorporated the
new theme concept of “Sophisticated Female” into the decoration
design, showcasing a fashionable and diversified female styles,
complemented by personalised jewellery. It provides consumers
with fashion references and satisfies their various shopping needs.

2023 marked the 20th anniversary of 3DG Jewellery. 3DG
Jewellery celebrated its 20th anniversary with the theme “Dazzling
Golden Life” by holding the “20th Anniversary Revitalisation
Ceremony and Gala Dinner” at its headquarters in Shenzhen
and Futian Shangri-La, Shenzhen, breathing more stylish
attributes and attention-grabbing brilliance into the “Gold” in
the brand name. The brand’s spokesperson, Xu Kai, made a
surprise appearance at the event, bringing a series of stunning
performances and joining the guests in witnessing this glorious
and dazzling moment.

The brand featuring “Love Glitter” jewellery collection as its iconic
theme, joined hands with its brand spokesperson Xu Kai to hold
the launch ceremony of the “520 Love Glitter” Roadshow at
Hisense Plaza, Tianjin, China in May 2023. Xu Kai also drew his
own love balloons and delivered romantic declarations, sparking
enthusiastic responses from fans.

TE"
EEGBRAII - +HEURRAIIDCGEEMR
BIRBES LAERGRBEELZ #EY
RABEHELEMELEESHNER  BiB218(E
TER LUIEHEEHEEEHNT R

o hR S [l R B A HBIE B TR 55 £ USRSt
BER Uit R  BERIE - 255K
STUUARMBBIBR B AR S iH Aok B &
ERTERTE BEENBEYER AREY
TEGE TNEE RER IR SN &
R EREERTTAERAREEH Em
YEIEFERS LUEE S 2oL RS
S BEEAMTCEMETRR SETRMF
B2 e N EZ B ENR-

2023F B £ EE | M II20F F iR
WRREIEHESENU 4 - BE AR
R 8 BT (0B F IR EMEE
BE) ARELENIS BT T ESREE
HHEBENXT MBS AT EZEREE
WF BRT —RINEERE BEURE—
FIRBTE—ENEERFZ -

BIE58 » mhELL Tse = Love Glitter | SEET & 7
AEFETE BFRERE AFIES20E
BEREHENE T RHPEREEEESRT
M 5204 M E ) HEER R 5 K BEIBNMER T o 57 L
PHFENEARKIERRESTS 58
A PIRI AT fr 22 o



MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
2 i 2R B

HEIRLOOM FORTUNE

With the popularity of the “China-chic” and “New Chinese Style”
elements in recent years, the Group introduced the “Heirloom
Fortune” Collection, which has been well received since its launch,
and therefore 146 “Heirloom Fortune” shops have been opened
in Mainland subsequently. The “Heirloom Fortune” Collection
interprets the essence of traditional culture with finely crafted
gold pieces. Inspired by the design concept of “passing down
the traditional virtue of filial piety and conveying the blessing for
a blissful life”, a wide array of exquisite gold jewellery is delicately
crafted with traditional handicraft skills to showcase the charisma
of antique style, convey cultural values and best wishes, and live
on as a treasured family heirloom.

The Group incorporated craftmanship including enamelling,
antique craftsmanship, mother-of-pearl inlay and gilt-colouring
into gold products, and combined exquisite classic craftsmanship
with contemporary aesthetics to showcase the diversified beauty
of gold products. During the Year under review, the Group held
the “Heirloom Fortune” Perfection roadshows featuring the “Family
Culture” space with red walls and yellow tiles to show the China-
chic classical elegance across the country.

The “Heirloom Fortune” Collection also launched cross-over
collaboration in various sectors, including cooperation with
“Tao Tao Ju”, a restaurant with a history of over 140 years,
and SHE’S, a brand specialising in high-end hair accessories,
aiming to enhance brand communication through cross-over
promotions. “Heirloom Fortune” will endeavour to extend its
channels and market network, and in addition to consolidating
its current customers, will also actively reach out to the potential
customers in other markets and enhance the brand’s influence
and recognition in the region.

EmfER

MEQER) ~ TR h =) TR MR

> EBFEHEL ERESRI RS TEm
BERIRIBELBRAZERID FHILREERM
TRRR T146/1IEH > TEmER RIBHT
FEAXECRBRAEESHFER L U TRE
ZE-BRALIRES BB EFIIE
BEHEEBENESH M AHEEDEDN
BRIK  RERYPURA AR T =T RR - A A R IR
HAEENERERE -

SRR AT 2 BMBHRKRELSET
EMARTER REAKHNTIZ2EGIR
ANEXR BRRESERSKEMEZE -AEE
REBFEAREMER ERESEXE
KR AR RITE 'R b EE > &5
HUB MR B T 2 B o

MEmERIRINTREAARERAMSHE
& BIEEBE14A0FELAVER MMM /E) UKk
BTN EREMNSHE SRIE  FBERMS
HENSNEMNRENEREE - EmER]
RENMERERTHHE  EEE BT
HEABIN BIBEEEMHSIEEEE
REmEEMENTZENMPHEE-

Annual Report 2023/24 3R 33



MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
2 i 2R B

GOLDSTYLE

“Goldstyle” Collection is crafted with innovative techniques to
double the hardness of gold and provides the style effects of karat
gold. In addition to “Goldstyle”, the Group also introduced the
“Goldstyle ® X" Collection featuring a modern aesthetic blend of
gold and diamond, adding on-trend sparkle to gold products.

During the Year under review, our “Share Love and Fun
Ambassador” Neo Hou posed for shooting promotional photos
for the new “Goldstyle” and “Goldstyle ® X” products and showed
the youthful image of the products in a vibrant colourful style,
which was well received by customers who prefer personalised
and diversified products. “Goldstyle” currently has 56 shops in
Mainland, and will continue to enhance the shopping experience
and improve the retail network.

LUKFOOK JOAILLERIE

Lukfook Group has strived to cater for the needs of diversified
consumers through its brand portfolio. Targeting the customers
who pursue high quality, stylish design and personalisation, the
Group established “Lukfook Joaillerie”, and turned its 28 “LLukfook
Joaillerie” shops into a superior, elegant jewellery aesthetic
experience space to deliver superb shopping experience to
customers.
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“Lukfook Joaillerie” tailor-made jewellery pieces for our
global brand ambassador Tang Yan to attend various events,
demonstrating the excellent design and quality of the brand. We
also launched the “High-end Joaillerie” roadshows to present
high-end jewellery products to the public and enhance the
awareness and influence of “Lukfook Joaillerie”. We have been
identifying opportunities in Mainland and overseas markets. We
opened our first overseas “Lukfook Joaillerie” shop in Malaysia,
and invited Moon Lau, TVB Star Awards Malaysia Favorite
heroine, as the honoured guest to witness this significant moment.
In future, we will also continue to pay close attention to and seize
the development opportunities for expansion of our global retail
network to reach out to more consumer groups.

LOVE LUKFOOK JEWELLERY

During the Year under review, the Group launched a new brand
“Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY”, targeting young consumers who
value fashion, individuality and trendy lifestyle, as well as those
who pursue affordable luxury and quality life. The brand, featuring
the English word “Love”, aligns with the branding theme of “Love
is Beauty”, and encourages people to love themselves, love their
family and love their friends to pursue love, live with love, and stay
in love.

“Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” shops extend the overall colour
tone of “Lukfook Jewellery”, with modern classic style and
diversified photo-taking zones, as well as the display cabinets
inspired by art gallery. It aims to create a heart-warming romantic
shopping experience. The brand has opened 18 shops in the
first year of its launch, reflecting its success and popularity
among customers. “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” will speed
up its expansion by opening new shops across various cities in
Mainland to expand its business territory.
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PRODUCT DESIGN

Producing the finest products with exquisite craftsmanship and
stylish designs is one of the core competencies of the Group.
Therefore, the Group is committed to striving for excellence in
product design and quality, and bringing diverse elements to
our products to create a wide range of jewellery with ingenious
designs and exquisite craftsmanship.

QOur professional jewellery design team is equipped with great
sense of style to lead the trend. They have also actively taken part
in various local and international jewellery design competitions.
Lukfook’s design pieces “Colour of the Neon Sign”, “Dance
With The Fire Dragon” and “Retro Feelings” won the “Best of
Show Award (Open Group)”, the “Craftsmanship & Technology
Award” and the “Merit Award” respectively at the 25th “Hong
Kong Jewellery Design Competition”. As at 31 March 2024, our

jewellery design team has won more than 210 awards.
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RECOGNITIONS & AWARDS BETHTREE

The Group’s continuous efforts in brand building have been ZEBTEREER EWSES N EEER
recognised with the following awards and accolades from the RHIZBEIT RSN FEERED 81 !
industry and market, which included:

—  Certificate of Appreciation by Intellectual Property -  SEMRETBNHEEEEEMNEZ0E
Department of Hong Kong for commitment to the “No 2HNERRIF SRR 5T 8=k

Fakes Pledge” Scheme for 20 consecutive years

- “Hong Kong Service Awards — Quality Living Category -  EE17EEE IEBRBAE—EHE
(Jewellery and Gold)” for 17 consecutive years JEARR BREE1T) .
- “Hong Kong Star Brand Award - Enterprise” for 11 -  BEIEHEIEEBERRE —DER)

consecutive years

- “Consumer Caring Company” for 11 consecutive years - EFEBENFERSATROBE]
- “Outstanding Jewellery Retail Service Award” in “01 Gold -  EEIFEHETOICESEIAE 2 EH
Medal Awards” for 3 consecutive years REZEIRB AL

- “Bronze Award of Junior Frontline Level” in Watch & ST 2023 HAR TSR 2 B IR MR EE

Jewellery Category at the “2023 Service Talent Award” ABBIME A ER 4R

QUALITY ASSURANCE HEMRE

The Group puts emphasis on quality control and authenticaton ZAEBE+ D TE REBEEILERETE  HFRAEE
to enhance consumers’ confidence, and is meticulous from TBHRZ—MHELRE ARBEEETH—
procurement to authentication. In 1996, China Gems Laboratory — #4 R &] o jA1996F ' (I AEBMEZEM B A
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group which is B —HEKSEEETOLEARAT  HEEK
operated and managed by experienced and certified gemologists, R R B A E EMATE = E  IRMHIERETE 57
was established to provide services including authentication and # - FER A E RS LB ERKELE SRS
grading of diamonds, authentication of jadeite jade and coloured — ARF% ©

gemstones, and quality testing for jewellery.
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In addition, the Group set up Victoria Gemological Institute
Limited, which principally engages in jewellery authentication and
professional training. With branch offices established, the institute
provides services for the jewellery sector and customers. The
institute has passed the ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation of the ANSI-
ASQ National Accreditation Board (ANAB) and the accreditation
of the International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (ILAC),
and is authorised to issue internationally recognised reports for
diamond grading, jadeite jade, ruby, sapphire and emerald testing.

Besides, the Group also collaborated with the National Gemstone
Testing Center and became one of the first jewellery brands
to launch e-certificate, making joint efforts to provide quality
assurance for consumers and protect the interests of consumers.

EXCELLENT SERVICE

Lukfook’s cultivation of a warm-hearted brand image would not be
successful without a commitment to service excellence. Adhering
to the service motto of “Exquisite Craftsmanship, Quality Services
and Customer Orientation”, we act in the customers’ best
interests. In line with the branding theme of “Love is Beauty”, the
Group has introduced the “Delivering the Beauty of Love with Six
Heartfelt Services” excellent customer service programme to fulfil
customers’ needs with a caring heart, and offer quality, sincere
services to customers to tie in with the “Six Heartfelt Services”
service standard, with a view to providing the most enjoyable
shopping experience for customers and relaying the corporate
culture of “Lukfook Family”.

In response to the changes in customers’ consumption patterns
in recent years, the Group has changed the way it reaches out
to consumers by upgrading CRM to SCRM, which focuses on
interactions with customers, classifies circles based on users’
transaction data and pushes personalised product information
and offers. We also embraced an omni-channel approach which
integrated various official messaging platforms and enabled our
shop staff to directly respond to customers, in order to strengthen
communication with customers and provide more caring services.
In addition to existing e-commerce platforms, we have also
opened e-Shop in Hong Kong and launched the one-on-one
video shopping service, allowing customers to shop from the
comfort of their home and providing more communication and
sales channels for customers.

FRUELASN » REBR I EZHEH S
(B TEAURBETREEEI LXEE
ERL ARBERNATRHEEZRER
HoBREREBEERBEKRBIEZEFANSI-
ASQ National Accreditation Board (ANAB)HY
ISO/IEC 17025F Z B EREDB IS
#H %% International Laboratory Accreditation
Cooperation (ILAC) BI53 7] » 7] 25 25 [ R0 0]
NEAFRBREG HR2 AEC EEALE
BFEFAERE o

o AEEBREAXKETAREEER
BAOCETFEE RAEHEHEFEEN
KEDE HRJHEERMHRERE @R
FHBENMmREEM

BER
REZREBRUVBENNRETLR  £&E
HBERFURBHIEGERBFRARIE £F
MECEE RBAHE S UABREIHRBE R
S UBEEREAEE - AEMIEREIM
BHEEER HEHNOERCEREREI =
BEERBAE Bl THEERE R
RODBRT ) RBRE B2 SBEFRHEE
HR2HORSE  UBKREHEBETGTE
ZEENMBORE  BINBAREINEEX
EEET X

HELCFRSHERANEE  AEEXN
BLEZRBHEENS N WCRMAAR A
SCRM: IERE DL REBAXZH
B DERE  EXEEENEREERER
FRERBENARBEMNRE BaBREN
B HAEREERREE  FILnaEEEs
BEMEHERMONERE BT RRBEEREI
THREAELBERELE S —REED
% BEEZERT T EXBYEE =
HEZHBEBRIBERETER -
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SHOPPING EXPERIENCE

To keep abreast of market trend and create more diversified,
comfortable shopping space, the Group has unveiled three types
of new shop image for “Lukfook Jewellery” - “Image Shop”,
“Affordable Luxury Shop” and “Concept Shop”, aiming to provide
diversified and cohesive consumption experience for customers.

Featuring the brand logo colour tone and simple, fashionable and
youthful design, the “Image Shop” brings a sense of understated
luxury with contemporary simple style and highlights a spacious
and comfortable space. The “Affordable Luxury Shop” features
sophisticated and luxurious design. A spacious and comfortable
environment in chic and elegant style reflects impeccable taste
to create a pleasant space. Featuring a blend of Lukfook’s
brand culture, creative concepts, different themes, innovative
commercial space design and artistic presentation, the “Concept
Shop” subverts the gorgeous and cool image of traditional
jewellery shops to showcase sparkling, versatile styles.

In addition to the quality shopping experience at our shops,
Lukfook Group also held roadshows for various brands across
the country and participates in wedding expos. Through different
themed roadshows, the Group presented different brands and
their concepts to consumers, and endeavoured to provide more
channels for the public to experience Lukfook’s services and
products.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
AND BOARD COMMITTEES

ERETREFLZEIHRE
As at 31 March 2024
20243831 H

Board of Directors

ESg

WONG Wai Sheung' (Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer)

BRELE (FEFTHAEE)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny' (Deputy Chairman)
=GRS E BIEE)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy'
bR equn
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung'
FI5HL L

Dr. CHAN So Kuen'
PREIEIE L

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen?

il e

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP?
SRR F A2

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP?
Z 2 1EBBS » MHA 4 =2
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
EH GBS A 4Rt

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin®
SRS

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
QBN TS

Mr. HUI King Wai®

Remarks: #3E

1 Executive Director #1178 %

2 Non-executive Director JFHITHE S

3 Independent Non-executive Director %17 JFITE S

Audit Committee

BREEE
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin® (Chairman)
ZORRELE (FFE)
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
5 GBS A T4 18
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
BB AR T AL
Mr. HUI King Wai®
5T 55t B ST A

Nomination Committee

REZEE
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin® (Chairman)
EXRREE (FE)
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung'
BEBLE
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen?
BN =
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
T B GBS A AR 0
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
ERBER AL
Mr. HUI King Wai®
5T 55t B ST A

Remuneration Committee

HNWEEE

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP® (Chairman)
S BCBSA T (/)

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin®
KRB LS

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
ERBER AL

Mr. HUI King Wai®

5 5 B ST A
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The Board of the Company recognises that sound and
effective corporate governance practices and procedures,
with an emphasis on integrity, transparency, accountability and
independence, are essential to enhance the shareholders’ value
and safeguard the shareholders’ interests. The Company is
committed to maintaining a good corporate governance standard
and endeavours to ensure that its businesses are conducted in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Shareholders

ARABNEZTGRA TRATEME BH
E-BEERBIMZBERT BRENEMZ
TEEARRKEFHREARREERRRE
REEDBHEER - AAFAEERRF DR
FEARE UHNOBRFEZRAAEERRA
RIEHIETES

AR

Board of Directors

Exg

Company
Secretary
REWE

Management

EEE

Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee

RBREEE HWEEE

e External Auditor

%‘g‘ggfg SN R B

Annual Report 2023/24 3R 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

CORPORATE AND GOVERNANCE CULTURE

In order to achieve our corporate vision and long-term business
goals of “Brand of Hong Kong, Sparkling the World”, the Group
firmly believes that it must act with integrity, transparency, and
accountability. As the core of the Group’s governance structure,
the Board assumes a leadership role in setting the Group’s
mission and strategic direction, and is fully committed to leading
our team in adhering to Lukfook’s virtues of “Building a Family on
Virtues” in accordance with the Group’s corporate values, which
is based on the six core values of Integrity, Practicality, Innovation,
Proactivity, Diversity, and Quality.

{29 Quality

mEBE BRI
Be quality oriented and
commit to excellence

F&IE Proactivity
TEikE L EHEE
FEEE

Advocate a positive
attitude, learn proactively,
and pursue continuous
learning and self-
enhancement

Core Values

AKEZLEE

% 5T Diversity
TERE SR H
ERIMIsERZE LI
Embrace equality,
friendship, diversity

and inclusion, build a
harmonious corporation
both internally and
externally, and put the
overall interests as the
first priority to achieve
win-win outcome

EEREBXIE
FEBEREMEENEBARME BEREE/
CEBSARENEBER CANUHNGE B
PNaEEINEETE EXSEREER
EARBHZL RERIEAERRSMER
AL RKBEEAE  2O0RATGARFNE
BEEAEERIEZEIINECEEER R
ERE -HE AWM BE ST BENNRK
VBB I NBEE

%8 Practicality
BERE H#NBE
Be reallistic, modest and
pragmatic

3515 Integrity
EHAG  BEBLEDL

@‘ Act with sincerity and

honesty

EI#R Innovation
BIORES > TR B4
Strive for change as well
as breakthrough thinking
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In order to realise the Group’s vision, mission, core values and
strategies, in addition to innovative design, superb craftsmanship
and continuous pursuit of excellence, the Board has also fostered
a corporate culture of “Lukfook Family” for the Company, which
integrates the six “Loves” (love for self, love for families, love for
careers, love for learning, love for lives, love for general public) in
all aspects of the enterprise, allowing employees to realise their full
potentials, and to enhance the cohesion and sense of belonging
to the Company amongst the team.

At the same time, we believe that strong governance is the
foundation for achieving strategic goals of long-term stability.
Therefore, we have established a robust governance structure,
rigorous risk management and an effective internal control system,
so as to promote sustainable business development and bring
long-term value to all stakeholders.

Further information on the Group’s vision, mission, values and
management philosophy is available on Lukfook Group website
and the Company’s Sustainability Report.

REBEAEENES Eao ZOBERR
B BR T BBAIM R R L 2R U EIE
REMRHER EFFGTA/ERREFE R
ARREITEEXC RAEE) (BEC EX
MEFE - EER BEEE -EXR) 2511
MAZEGEX ETRERBH BETREFE
IR BERBRFENNH QB EER

EE ZFEERMAENNER BERRE
REERNER AL RPBLTIRENE
ARE RENEREERAEMNANIEE
R LS EFHNRIFES R WKMAPME
RN ERIEREEE-

ERAERNES £on BEHEREEES
WE—PERBNNBERBLEREAATH
AFEERERS -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all
code provisions and, where applicable, the recommended best
practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix 14) to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on Stock Exchange during the Year under review, except for the
following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual, so that there is a clear division
of responsibilities for the management of the Board and the
day-to-day management of the Group’s business to ensure a
balance of power and authority.

In view of the increasing trend of business deriving from the
Mainland market, it is believed that Mr. WONG Wai Sheung
being the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
will further enhance the business development of the Group in
the Mainland market due to its norms on “status parity” when
future business negotiations are conducted in Mainland. Besides,
members of the Board also include qualified professionals and
other prominent and experienced individuals from our community.
The Board considers that the existing Board composition, with the
support of Board Committees and Deputy Chairman, can ensure
a balance of power and authority. The Board will nevertheless
review this structure from time to time and will consider the
segregation of the two roles at when appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors is aware of any
information that would reasonably indicate that the Company
is not, or was not for any part of the Year under review, in
compliance with the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopts the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 (formerly
Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as a code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry of all directors, they confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions during the Year under review.

EXEREHR
REREER X ABERBUMRAES L
HRA (TEMRAL) MERCT (31 2 ki #%+70)
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SEEAAEEAREBEECBEBEE
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HRAMBEESHEFER BERNEY THE
i 2B HEHRERBELALEEIEART
TREFRTBABE AIERRRAERMETE
BiEER E-—PRASEBRERNMTIEHN
EHER-II EFENETEECERE
FANTREE EHEMBER  SEEZERHA
T -BEFERAH NEFEETEZETRIE
FBzHme T REEEG ZHEMRAIEERES
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(i)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five executive directors,
three non-executive directors and four independent non-
executive directors. They include persons with a wealth of
practical experiences in the jewellery industry, accountancy
profession, securities industry, banking industry and legal
profession. The Board possesses a balance of skills,
experiences and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The composition
of our Board complies with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The current members of the Board are
set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny (Deputy Chairman)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung
Dr. CHAN So Kuen

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP

Mr. HUI King Wai

The biographical details of the directors are set out in the
section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 78 to 90 of this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) EEE®@
(i) Attendance Records at the Board, Board (i) EXEER - EEZETEERR
Committees and General Meetings RAgZHFELR
The attendance records of the individual directors at B EERDBEFEERNRT I EETEY
the Board, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, EH ERZLESEE RLERECTE
Remuneration Committee and general meetings during the FMEZE g R MREREG 2 HFEL
Year under review are set out as follows: FHWMT
No. of Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BTEERY
Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors Bx EET BrEET RYAZET FWEET RREEAD
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung (Chairman & ®=EBE%EE (FEHF 5/5 N/A R iR 11 N/A R iR il
Chief Executive Offcer) TR
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny RUSRESRE 5/5 N/A B N/A REBR N/A R EHA 11
(Deputy Chairman) e,
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy EEHRT 5/5 N/A R iR N/A R R N/A R iR il
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung It 5/5 N/A R B N/A R N/A B8 11
Dr. CHAN So Kuen BREBEL 5/5 N/A 1 N/A R H N/A ~EH 11
Non-executive Directors FRTES
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen EilrE s 5/5 N/A R EH 11 N/A R il
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP Bl e 5/5 N/A 75 N/A R H N/A 74 11
Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP ZE1EBBS ) MHA T4+ 5/5 N/A 1 N/A R H N/A 148 11
Independent Non-executive BiFRiTES
Directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP £ 88GBS A 4+ 5/5 2/2 11 2/2 11
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alin EXFSEE 5/5 2/2 11 2/2 111
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP BUEATELT 5/5 2/2 il 2/2 il
Mr. HUI King Wai RS E 5/5 2/2 il 2/2 il

During the Year under review, the Chairman held a meeting with REIBEEER > TFERBHMEBESHET

e

iz

the Independent Non-executive Directors without presence of BRI IFHITEERIT T —N ke

other directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Board Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board’s role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of
the Company within a framework of prudent and effective
controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed.
The Board controls the business but delegates day-to-day
responsibilities to the executive management. The Board
sets the Company’s strategic aims, values and standards
and ensures that its obligations to its shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and fulfilled by the members of
the Board.

The Company has a formal schedule of matters specifically
reserved to the Board for its decision. The Board gives clear
directions to management as to the matters that must be
approved by the Board before decisions are made on behalf
of the Company.

All the directors of the Company have full and timely access
to all relevant information and have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company,
with a view to ensuring that all proper Board procedures,
applicable rules and regulations are followed. All the
directors including the independent non-executive directors
may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense in carrying out
their functions, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify the directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
regularly.

Independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company confirms that the Board has received from
each of the independent non-executive directors, namely,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin,
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King Wai, an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and, having taken into account
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors, the Company considers that all independent non-
executive directors are independent.

EFg@®@

(iii)

(iv)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

48

Independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (Continued)

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company for more than
12 years. He will retire and offer for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the
Company to be held on 15 August 2024. Pursuant to CG
Code Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, his re-election as
Director should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders. The Company’s circular to be
despatched to shareholders on or about 23 July 2024 wiill
contain the biographical information of Mr. IP Shu Kwan,
Stephen and the reasons why the Board believes he is still
independent and should be re-elected.

During the Year under review and up to the date of
this Annual Report, the Board had at all times met the
requirements under (i) Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise; and (ii) Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the board.

Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent
Views and Opinions

Apart from the independence assessments of independent
non-executive directors mentioned above, the Company
has established mechanisms to ensure that Directors will
be given adequate opportunities and channels (formal
or informal) to communicate their independent views
and inputs in an open and candid manner and, where
necessary, in a confidential manner. The independent non-
executive directors meet with the Chairman in a closed-
door-meeting at least once annually and they can interact
with management and other Directors including the
Chairman through formal and informal means. Independent
professional advice is also available to all Directors whenever
necessary.

Directors’ Relationship

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or connected
relationship between members of the Board.

Re-election of Directors

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s AGM in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws.

EFg@®@

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
(viii) Directors’ Ongoing Development

All directors have the opportunities to receive professional
training programmes arranged by the Company during their
terms of appointment which cover the topics of corporate
governance, updates on the Listing Rules and other
regulatory developments at the expense of the Company.
Directors are encouraged by the Company to participate in
the relevant continuous professional training to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has also
engaged consultants to provide the training programmes.
The average training hours that the directors received were
not less than 10 hours.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
arranged a seminar covering the topic of circular economy.
The current directors’ training records during the Year under

review are summarised as follows:
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(viii) EENFEERE

FIEESERRNTAEREEIEEART
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o ElBEFEAN  REZEEMNIFIIE
R

Training on regulatory development,
directors profession or duties,
or other relevant topics

FREERR EREXEgNEN
Directors 5% H{thiE A RER S
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung =EBLEE 4
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) (F/EFITHAEH)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny BoEREESE v
(Deputy Chairman) (GESE),
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy BEFLT v
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung FI5B L+ v
Dr. CHAN So Kuen REEELT v
Non-executive Directors JEMITES
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen i b e v
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP SRR R T AL v
Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP Z= 2 1fEBBS » MHA 4+ v
Independent Non-executive Directors JHIIIEHITESE
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP B BGBS K4+ v
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin TRFREE v
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP EUBER Tt v
Mr. HUI King Wai 5F % B o A 4
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The Chairman leads the Board in the formulation of strategies and
in the achievement of objectives and ensures that all directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings
and receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a
timely manner. The Chief Executive Officer is delegated with the
authority and responsible for running the Company’s business,
implementing the Company’s strategies in achieving business
objectives. Both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
positions are currently held by Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the
executive director. The Board believes that the current governance
structure, with one person serving as both the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer and the majority being non-executive
Directors, provides an effective balance of power and authority for
the management of the Company and is in the best interest of the
Company at the present stage.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive directors are appointed for a term of not
more than two years, and the appointments are renewable from
time to time, subject to retirement by rotation at AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, including
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing the respective aspects
of the Group’s affairs.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in appropriate circumstances.

(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 1 February 1999
with written terms of reference accessible on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, with
three other members namely Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King Wai. All
Committee members are independent non-executive
directors, exceeding the requirement of a high majority of
independent non-executive directors by the Listing Rules.
In compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules, majority of the members possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the Year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to discuss and review, inter alia, the interim and
annual financial statements, the submission and publication
of the interim and annual reports and the Sustainability
Report, the disclosures in the Corporate Governance
Report, the corporate governance and compliance status of
the CG Code and the internal audit plan and functions of the
Group.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2024 comply with
the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules,
and that sufficient disclosures have been made.

The Company believes that a clear appreciation of the
separate roles of the management, the external auditor
and Audit Committee members is crucial to the effective
functioning of an audit committee. The Board is responsible
for selecting appropriate accounting policies and the
preparation of the financial statements. The external auditor
is responsible for auditing and attesting to the Group’s
financial statements and evaluating the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, to the extent
that they consider necessary to support their audit report.
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the entire
process.

The major functions and duties of the Audit Committee
include:

° reviewing the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements, the interim and annual reports and the
Sustainability Report before submission to the Board
for approval;

° reviewing the financial reporting obligations and
considering any matters raised by the Group’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or external auditor;

o reviewing and monitoring the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor, and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

52

Audit Committee (Continued)

o approving the remuneration and terms of engagement
of external auditor and making recommendations
on the appointment, re-appointment or removal of
external auditor;

° reviewing the internal audit programme and ensuring
that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and effective, and considering any major findings of
risk management and internal control matters;

° reviewing the financial control, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
that the management has discharged its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management
and internal control systems, and particularly, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions as well as those relating to the
issuer’s Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) performance and reporting; and

° reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and the Company’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements.

As at 31 March 2024, the arrangements for employees and
stakeholders of the Group to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, risk management,
internal control or other matters and the whistleblowing
procedures are in place.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 1 April
2012 with written terms of reference accessible on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. MAK Wing Sum,
Alvin, being an independent non-executive director, with five
other members namely Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. TSE
Moon Chuen, Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Ms. WONG Yu
Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King Wai. The Chairman of this
Committee and four out of six members are independent
non-executive directors, which is in compliance with the
requirement of the CG Code that a majority of the members
should be independent non-executive directors.

EFZET @

(i)

(ii)

BEEZET @

o RUESMNESAZBED Z F B KRB B A
o MEE EMEEIERI
BIZER (2

s WEREBEZERERALE
ZBERBEENERKE N ME
B EEEREERANBEES
HZERNEEF/EER S

s BHENTEBZMBEE RREE
RABEESE TERAREEED
BTBERLAREFTERZ AR
BERANBHERS LHEERHM
FABEG  AMEL R FHE
WEAE D MU BT AIRIE S 11
gkEh ((RE-HERER) X
RHNEHREBNER BTEER
#eBe > WU B TP pIEIERE
RERRERESRRE &

s BHENARBZEEEIRRRET
B URKTABETERNEER
EZIBH e

FR2024FE3831H A RABIEREBEHIE
EAEERE MFMHE I REARMHE
W RBEE -NIEEREM s A
EEEENAEEEREMIRERE
%o

REZEE

KABR2012F4B1HR N IRZEE
g HEEBEEE SN AA T KB
it c IRR B EE 2 ERABILIEH
TESEXBRAE B ARNEASE
BELE - HRehEt EFEAE B
BBLTRAGHAE ZZERER
BADZHENKREABIIENITES
HEehEEATUNERASOHNERS
BIIEHITEEMNRTE ©

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERHS

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(i)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the Year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive directors, to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and to review the retirement and
rotation plan of the directors.

The principal role and responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee mainly include giving full consideration to
succession planning for directors and senior management,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. In order to achieve a
balanced and appropriately qualified Board, the Nomination
Committee is also responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition, including the skills, knowledge,
diversity and experience, of the Board, and advising
the Board as to any changes that may be required. The
Nomination Committee has the authority given by the
Board to seek external professional advice in the selection
and recommendation for directorship, if necessary, to fulfil
the requirements for professional knowledge and industry
experience of any proposed candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria, procedures and
processes to be adopted when considering candidates to
be appointed or re-appointed as directors of the Company.
The Nomination Committee would select the candidates
based on the objective criteria, including but not limited to
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender. The Nomination Committee would also
take into account whether the candidate can demonstrate
his/her commitment, competence and integrity required
for the position, and in case of independent non-executive
directors, the independence requirements under the Listing
Rules and their time commitment to the Company. The
Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the
Nomination Policy and would review and recommend any
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval, when
necessary, to enhance effectiveness.
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(i)

54

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board
level as an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage. As such, the Company continued to adopt
the board diversity policy during the Year under review. In
achieving a truly diverse Board, candidates with different
talents, skills, knowledge, length of service and professional
experience, cultural and educational background, age,
gender and other qualities may be selected as members of
the Board. Selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity criteria. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution which would be brought by the candidates to
the Board if he/she is selected as a director. The Nomination
Committee is of the view that the current composition of
the Board has achieved the objectives set out in the above
board diversity policy.

The Board is composed of members from a diverse
background. The chief financial officer, an executive director
and two independent non-executive directors are qualified
accountants. There is also an independent non-executive
director who is a qualified solicitor. The Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee was the Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour of the Government of Hong Kong.
Six directors have experience sitting on the boards of other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. The directors
have extensive experience in the retail jewellery business,
finance and accounting, taxation, business strategy,
securities and investment, communications and marketing,
branding, and exposure or experience in various countries
including Mainland, etc. They are members, or committee or
panel members of various industry bodies, public service or
government bodies or charities. The Directors bring a wealth
of diverse experience to the Board, which is conducive to
the business development and growth of the Company over
the years.

In terms of board gender diversity, the Company excels in
gender equality as female directors account for one third
of the whole Board. The Board is of the view that it is not
necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for board
gender diversity for the time being. However, the Board
is committed to maintaining an appropriate percentage of
female members, which shall be no less than 30% at all
times. The Board also places tremendous emphasis on
diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of the
Group and maintain a workforce with balance of male and
female staff members. Details of the diversified talent team
including gender diversity in the workforce are disclosed in
our Sustainability Report.
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Board Composition & Areas of Diversity

Age Group
FH4ER

58.3%
40-59 60-69 270
40FE595% 60ZE695% 70BR MU £
Designation
i g6)
25.0%
200
41.7%
33.3%
Executive Non-executive Independent
Director Director Non-executive
BITES FEHITES Director

BIFHITES

ERgHEHGRETILER
Gender
145

66.7%

Male Female
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Length of Services of Non-executive Directors
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7-10 years Over 10 years
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(iii) Remuneration Committee

56

The Remuneration Committee was established on 7
April 2005 with written terms of reference posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan,
Stephen, being an independent non-executive director,
with three other members namely, Mr. MAK Wing Sum,
Alvin, Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King
Wai. The Chairman of this Committee and all members
are independent non-executive directors, meeting the
requirement of a high majority of independent non-executive
directors stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The principal role and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee mainly include making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy, structure and
packages for all remuneration of directors and senior
management; reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration and the terms of service contracts
of the directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the compensation payable in connection with
any loss or termination of office or appointment of directors
and senior management, overseeing any major changes
in employee benefits structures throughout the Company
or the Group; and reviewing the on-going appropriateness
of the remuneration policy. No director or member of the
senior management determined his/her own remuneration
package.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during
the Year under review to review the remuneration policies
and recommend for the Board approval of the annual salary
increments for the calendar year 2024, the discretionary
year-end bonus for 2023 and the performance bonus for all
non-sales employees working at the headquarters.

Details of directors’ emoluments, five highest paid
individuals and the remuneration of the members of
the senior management by band during the Year under
review are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 114 to 258 of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Analysis of remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was
as follows:

%2R ==
BRISMNE RN E SRR E B B SFTIE
B RIFBHARBZMS O

2024

HK$'000

TAT

Audit services EFRTS 7,218
Non-audit services JEE RS

— Review service —BRR 582

— Tax related service — MR EIERARRTS 2,398

Total st 10,198

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the
financial period and of the results and cash flows of the Group for
the year. In the Company'’s interim and annual reports which are
issued within the time limits stipulated by the Listing Rules, the
Board presents a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.
The published consolidated financial statements adopt, and
consistently apply, suitable accounting policies complying with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Board ensures that the Company maintains sound and
effective risk management and internal control to safeguard the
shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets. The Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the Internal Audit Department,
regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Head of the
Internal Audit Department directly reports to the Audit Committee.

The Board establishes monitoring and procedural guidelines for
considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal
control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company’s external auditor. The Audit Committee
established by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules has
clear terms of reference.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

In order to achieve enhancement of corporate governance of
the Company, the Board has undertaken and delegated to the
Audit Committee to constantly review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and the directors, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report. During the Year under review,
the Audit Committee performed the duties relating to corporate
governance matters as aforementioned.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year under review, the company secretary undertook
over 15 hours of professional training to update the skills and
knowledge, which exceeded the requirements of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness annually through the Audit Committee.

The risk management and internal control systems are aligned
with the Internal Control Integrated Framework of the Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(“COS0”), which comprises 17 principles under 5 components,
including Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities,
Information and Communication and Monitoring Activities.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has received the risk management and
internal control evaluation reports submitted by the Internal Audit
Department. The reports summarised information relating to the
work carried out in the following areas:

° the results of selective testing of internal control procedures,
assets, and financial records of the Company;

° a general evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems installed by the Company; and

o an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the
Year under review.

R ERMAEE
RERNMBEAATNZEEE R EFTFTEXK
BEUIRTEZZEEENERRNELRFZ
THEELAHERER EERSREEAER
ZEIRFEEXRER AARRETER
EERENHZERARER BRANRES
REFZH®RTTAREGRFMURFT LT E
STEEEATANZERREREEERRS
RZREBE-ROEFERN BREEEERETT
LHEREEEAEEZRE-

ARHWE
REBEEER ATWELZZBBISME/]
By OB 2 4 3| > DU AT ELIR AR RS BB b
PARAUIRE ©

R EERABEE
EEQAEARAAAREERANELS
B IERBREREEFRT MM

2 B B T e 9 B0 B B 45 & Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (FTCOSO ) WA BFEE 4R S HE
R ZiREERBSEEM 1 7TIERRIMEM 5
B &R 15 BB BIIR IR « MR Tk ~ B EE
MEE BB R EE

R EERABEIZERESEEEMIFHRF
REENEFERNEAR MEREMRTE
BERNKRERANBERFHEGEMIFEY
AYTREE ©

EREERERENSBHBL T ARE
2 R Py 28 B 1 AT 90 85 o B S5 R L B
TEZEHE

. HARTRBELZRE SERMBL
B2 HEEEER ;

o KRREFFERANE R EIE K R AR B RS E
Z—MREHE &K

e JHEIBFENIRIZEMEKEE
Bl @ZDE) °

58 Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports and discussed
with the management.

The Audit Committee recognised that an evaluation of the risk
management system and an examination of the internal control
system on an annual basis have been adequately executed by
the Internal Audit Department during the Year under review.
The Audit Committee acknowledged that the management has
been progressively implementing adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to ensure the
effective functioning of the Company’s operations.

Risk Management and Sustainability Committee

The Group set up the Risk Management Committee in 2016 and
renamed it as Risk Management and Sustainability Committee in
2022, which comprising the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
three executive directors (including Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy,
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung and Dr. CHAN So Kuen) and a senior
executive of the Group. In addition, Mr. TSE Moon Chuen ceased
to be a member of the Risk Management and Sustainability
Committee on 14 November 2023. The aim of Risk Management
and Sustainability Committee include establishing and improving
the risk management system, ensuring timely identification and
management of risks for the achievement of corporate objectives,
SO as to advise and assist the Board on the strategies and
implementation of the Group’s sustainability, and the assessment
of the associated risks.

The Risk Management and Sustainability Committee is
responsible for (including but not limited to): () reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code regarding risk
management requirements; (i) coordinating staff training, which
includes risk management principles, assessment methodology
and its implementation; (i) assigning personnel to support
departments to perform risk assessment for newly established
business or projects, if necessary; (iv) formulating sustainable
development strategy and approach; (v) monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of sustainable development policies and
measures; and (vi) identifying sustainability risks. This committee
reports directly to the Audit Committee.

During the Year under review, the Risk Management and
Sustainability Committee held two meetings to discuss and
review, inter alia, reports on effectiveness of risk management
processes, reports on departmental risk assessment, the
implementation progress of the Group’s corporate strategies and
KPI targets and sustainability working report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

The Company’s risk management framework provides a
systematic and disciplined approach to risk management process,
which is embedded in the system of internal controls as an
integral part of corporate governance. The risk management
framework helps sustain business success, creates value for
stakeholders and supports the Board in discharging its corporate
governance responsibilities by proactively identifying, addressing
and managing key risks within the Group. Departments &
Management as risk owners take direct risk management
responsibilities and reports to the Risk Management and
Sustainability Committee.
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A summary of the risk management framework of the Company is 7’2 B Y& fE B IR 2R E RGN W0 R AP
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

Board of Directors

o Setting the basic tone and culture of risk management
across the Group;

° Approving the criteria of risk assessment;

° Approving major decisions affecting the Group’s risk profile
Or exposure;

o Approving changes to key elements of the risk management
procedures;

° Approving the Group’s risk management and sustainability
policy; and

° Monitoring significant risks
Audit Committee
° Reviewing the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group; and

° Ensuring that effective systems of risk management and
internal control are established by the management
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

Risk Management and Sustainability Committee

62

Recommending the Group’s risk tolerance level and risk
criteria;

Approving standard risk management templates including
forms and tools;

Approving risk registers;

Reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code
regarding risk management requirements;

Appointing risk owners;

Appointing staff to support departments to conduct risk
assessments on new business and projects;

Conducting review on procedures and policies of risk
management;

Reporting, if any, significant risks to Audit Committee in a
timely manner;

Coordinating staff training;

Proposing and recommending on the Group’s sustainability
objectives, strategies, policies and framework;

Overseeing and monitoring the Group’s ESG reporting and
the implementation of the Group’s ESG-related policies and
initiatives;

Reviewing and evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of
the measures relating to the Group’s ESG;

Overseeing the setting and achievement of targets under
the Group’s sustainability strategies; and

Identifying and evaluating the Group’s ESG related risks and
opportunities

AEERERAIPERE @

E iz ERRE (48)
EREERAIFERREST

REAEENARASKTRERE
al;

EHAFRREENRE(CEL B1F
&=IEKRIER;

BEHtEEE S

BN AEEETEEELTRITERE
[BEENRE ;

ZIERABRESA

ZIRAB W EMPIMIREF RIHE
HEITRREE

% 5 B R B IR RAZ IR BUR

kEREZEZEGEREARRE WA) ;

mEBSTE

MAEEIFAEEREZBR R K
RMERELER

EERERAEENRE HERER
FER AR R R BRI BB
B hEAEERNERRE LT
KBRS E KRB ;

EEAEEREZERRBERNGE
FIERER ) K

#pl R EAEEERRE - L RE
A B R R i

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)
Risk Management Framework (Continued)
Departments & Management

Departments and management are responsible for the
identification and assessment of risks within their areas of

responsibility:

Objective Setting and Categorisation
° Strategy;

° Operation;
° Financial reporting; and
° Compliance

Risk Identification
° The Group provides examples of risk factors; and

° Risks should be relevant to strategies and objectives

Risk Analysis
° Considering existing control measures;

° Using a consistent risk scoring criteria; and

° Assessing the residual risks

Risk Treatment
° Choosing a risk treatment strategy;

° Establishing a treatment plan; and

° Appointing risk owners

Effectiveness of Monitoring and Reporting
° Monitoring and reporting risks periodically; and

° Setting up an emergent risk reporting mechanism
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Review Processes of the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems

The management and the Risk Management and Sustainability
Committee review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Internal Audit Department also
conducts independent audit of the effectiveness of these systems.
Separate reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for its
review and appraisal. A final report will be submitted to the Board
for assessing the effectiveness of the systems.

If any material internal control defects are found, the Audit
Committee will discuss them with the management. The Internal
Audit Department will follow up and the management will classify
the defects as “severe” risk, where appropriate, in the risk
management system for further measures formulation to resolve
or prevent such defects.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“‘SFQ”), Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules and the overriding
principle that inside information should be announced promptly.
The Company has established a policy for the disclosure of
inside information (the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) with
close regard to the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information
issued by the Securities and Futures Commissions. The Inside
Information Disclosure Policy includes, among other things: (a)
only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the media
or other members of the investment community; (b) directors or
senior management shall report to the Chief Executive Officer any
potential/suspected inside information as soon as practicable for
him to consult (if appropriate) the Board thereafter for determining
the nature of developments and, if required, making appropriate
disclosure; (c) disclosure of inside information must be made
in a manner that can provide for equal, timely and effective
access by the public to the disclosed inside information; and (d)
inside information must be kept strictly confidential until a public
announcement is made and shall be disseminated in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules before it is released via
other means.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-Bribery, Anti-Corruption and Whistleblowing
Policies

Integrity, fairness and justice are the three pillars of the operation
of our Group, and business ethics and integrity are regarded as
our core values. We have developed a robust anti-corruption
system, strictly complying with applicable laws and regulations
regarding anti-bribery and corruption in every regions, as well
as industrial standards, in order to prevent corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering and other illegal behaviours.
In terms of whistleblowing policy, we actively encourage
employees, customers, suppliers and partners to report any
suspected behaviours that are against business ethics and illegal
behaviours, with all reported cases being investigated in a rigorous
and timely manner. Details of the anti-bribery and corruption
and whistleblowing policies are disclosed in the Company’s
Sustainability Report.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The internal audit is an independent function undertaken by
the Internal Audit Department which reports administratively
to the Company’s management and functionally to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department is authorised to obtain
all information necessary to accomplish internal audit work.

The Board has conducted an annual review to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions as well as these relating to the
Company’s ESG performance and reporting.

A risk-based audit approach has been adopted by the Internal
Audit Department. Internal control reviews are conducted regularly
to closely monitor the business or operation changes. Regular
audit tests are carried out to ensure key controls are in operation.
The Internal Audit Department also conducts other projects and
investigating work as required.

Any significant internal audit findings are discussed with respective
department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently
followed up, in order to ensure that satisfactory control is
maintained.

In each semi-annual work plan, manning levels of the Internal
Audit Department are reported to the Audit Committee. A
summary of the internal audit activities and audit results are
also submitted to the Audit Committee twice a year. The Audit
Committee will review and assure the adequacy of resources of
the internal audit team.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special
General Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall have the right to submit a written requisition requiring a SGM
to be called by the Board. The written requisition () must state the
purposes of the SGM; and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office of the Company, and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM, but
any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration of three
months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM
convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened
by the Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, either any number of shareholders representing not
less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in
writing to () give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (i) circulate
to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company (contact details are
disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information”) with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case
of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one
week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose for
election as a director have been posted on the website of the
Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

We have always placed great importance on effective two-way
communication with our shareholders. The Board maintains an
ongoing dialogue with shareholders and in particular, endeavours
to provide transparency and strives to ensure that all shareholders
have ready, equal and timely access to all publicly available
information of the Group. With the following measures in place,
the shareholder communication policy is considered to have been
effectively implemented throughout the Year under review:

@)

Note:

Interim and annual results, the interim and annual reports
and other corporate communications of the Company
(“Corporate Communications”)Ne are published in a timely
manner on the websites of Stock Exchange and the
Company in accordance with the Listing Rules;

The Group’s Chief Financial Officer and the Investor
Relations Team presented interim and annual results through
conference calls with investors and analysts and provided
immediate responses to questions during the meetings.
In addition, the Group also released quarterly operational
data and enhanced the capital market’s understanding
with regard to the Group’s business development and
competitive edge through various communication channels
such as online or physical meetings, non-deal roadshows,
one-on-one/group meetings;

Press releases and presentation materials were posted
on the Company’s website to facilitate stakeholders’
understanding of the Group’s latest developments and to
promote transparency;

Shareholders’ and investors’ enquiries are promptly
addressed by the appropriate Board Committees or the
Board, if necessary;

The AGM is an important forum to engage with
shareholders. At the AGM, separate resolutions were
proposed for each issue and were voted on by poll. The
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the
meeting prior to the polls being taken; and

The Company’s website serves as a handy communication
channel for the Shareholders. They can access our
Corporate Communications electronically via the Luk Fook’s
website.

“Corporate Communications” refers to any document issued or to be issued by
the Company for the information or action of holders of the Company’s securities
including, but not limited to, annual and interim reports, notices of meetings,
circulars, or other publications of the Company (including any “corporate
communication” as defined in the Listing Rules).
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The Company informs shareholders of the procedure for voting by
poll in the circular to shareholders, and ensures compliance with
the requirements regarding voting by poll contained in the Listing
Rules and the Company’s Bye-laws.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention
can be sent in writing to the company secretary at the Company’s
business address in Hong Kong at 25/F, Metropole Square, 2 On
Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories. Shareholders may also make
proposals at the general meetings.

During the Year under review, a special resolution was passed on
17 August 2023 to adopt the amended and restated Bye-laws
of the Company in order to, amongst others, (i) comply with the
Core Shareholder Protection Standards as set out in Appendix
A1 to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda; (i)
provide the flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of
general meetings by allowing a general meeting to be held as an
electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting in addition to a physical
meeting; and (i) make certain housekeeping and consequential
amendments. Details of the amendments are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 18 July 2023. The latest consolidated
version of the Bye-laws is available on the Company’s and the
Stock Exchange’s respective websites.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders
of the Company. The Company intends to distribute 40% to 45%
of its annual net profits as dividends to shareholders, having
taken into consideration certain criteria set out in the Dividend
Palicy, including the Group’s financial results; cash flow situation;
business conditions and strategies; future operations and
earnings; capital requirements and expenditure plans; interests of
shareholders; any restrictions on payment of dividends; and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEUHE

The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENTAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of gold
and platinum jewellery and gem-set jewellery products.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year under review,
the material factors underlying its results and financial position and
material attributable factors of the development and likely future
developments of the Group’s business, are provided throughout
this Annual Report, particularly in the following separate sections:

(@) Review of the Group’s business — “Chairman’s Statement”
on pages 2 to 5 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(b)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing —
“Report of the Directors” on pages 69 to 100;

(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 2 to 5 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(d) Analysis using financial key performance indicators —
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(e) Information about the Group’s ESG policies and
performance — “Sustainability Report” posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
“Report of the Directors” on pages 69 to 100 of this Annual
Report;
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

f Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations — “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
40 to 68 and “Report of the Directors” on pages 69 to 100;
and

(9 An account of the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers and others —
“Sustainability Report” posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and “Report of the
Directors” on pages 69 to 100 of this Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the risk
management practices of the Group are sufficient to mitigate
the risks present in our businesses and operations as efficiently
and effectively as possible. The Board delegates some of such
responsibilities to various departments.

The Group’s financial position, operations, business and
prospects may be affected by the following identified risks and
uncertainties. The Group adopts risk management policies,
measures and monitoring systems to pre-empt and contain
exposures associated with the identified risks.

Economic Risks

Global Economic Condition

Possible economic slowdown or prolonged downturn of the global
or Mainland’s economy may affect the retail market sentiment as a
whole.

Tourist Destinations
The increase in popularity of other tourist destinations weakens
the sentiment of Mainland tourists in Hong Kong and Macau.

Operational Risks

Rent

As a retailer, rent accounts for a considerable portion of the
Group’s expenses. Rental increment on retail shops directly
affects the profit of the Group. The Group strikes a good balance
between shop expansion and profit increment. The Group strives
to lower rent via negotiations with landlords, closure of branches
with low profitability and searching for suitable locations in other
areas for new shops.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Operational Risks (Continued)

Prices of Raw Materials

Fluctuations in prices of raw materials may adversely affect our
profitability. We strive to improve our purchasing procedures in
order to maintain reasonable raw materials costs. On the other
hand, the Group has a gold hedging policy with ratio of around
20% which mitigates the impact on the profit due to the drop in
gold prices.

Fierce Competition

There is strong competition from national and local competitors
in jewellery and watch industry. The Group has formulated a set
of branding strategies to enhance brand image and awareness.
Details of such strategies are set out in “Multi Brand Strategy” on
pages 29 to 39.

Inventory Turnover

Owing to the impact of volatile macro-economic environment in
Asia especially Mainland, our inventory turnover bears the risk of
slowing down.

Management of Licensed Shops

Licensed shops play an important role in raising the brand
awareness of the Group. Maintaining a good brand image and
reputation is a win-win situation for both the Group and the
licensed shops. Therefore, the Group uses best endeavours to
ensure their operations are consistent with the Group’s image and
operation standard. We maintain a close working relationship with
our licensed shops and provide one-stop support to them, such
as shop-opening training, provision of operation manuals and
regular operation review meetings.

We also closely monitor the licensed shops through a stringent
control system which consists of 6 areas of control, including
Operational Control, Product Quality Control, Distribution Network
Control, Pricing Control, Brand Image Control, and Service Quality
Control. Details of such system are set out on page 72.
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Control System on Licensed Shops

mhd 5 E B R AR

Operational Control & iZE5 &

e Whistle-blowing System and Reward Scheme e Operational Compliance Audit Team

BRAGR TR 3] EEGHRMES/E

e Sales and Inventory System Access e Annual Contract Renewal Basis
HERTFERHEA FEBHRS

e DVR System e Cash On Delivery Basis
LRR AR SN 4l

Product Quality Control EfmmEEE

e 100% of the diamond products in Mainland o Certificates issued by NGTC/GTC for

market are offered by Lukfook quality assurance
P T 35 38 5 2 fn 100 % H 7~ AE T Eix EiRESEAEERE

e Authorised suppliers on other products e Sightholder of De Beers — steady quality rough
HithZE s T e diamond supply

De BeersiSHALER - BEBE AR ZHIE

Distribution Network Control 4 4848 E5 &

e Prior approval on retail locations

RAHZTERUE

Pricing Control {B1&E5 &

e Standardised retail price for products through Centralised control on discount policy
centralised labeling process FR R EIT 0B R
Fam—EEnE LB —ERTEE

Brand Image Control GIEH; R EEE

e Authorised renovation contractors e Standardised operational materials
IEERERERD (e.g. uniform, packaging) in all shops

o Prior approval on all advertising & promotion FrEEfHf—EEYE FIW : Hik - 25)
TEAEBHAAERESNE R

Service Quality Control PR EEE

e Mystery Shopper System on service e Centralised Staff Training
quality control m—B T
B EREMUEERERE e Regional training centres & 1515 3/l H70)

e E-Learning programmes #8 =225 312
e On-site training & #h3=Z 3l
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Regulatory Risks

Changes in Laws and Regulations

The changes in laws and regulations such as the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
adjustment to the policy of Individual Visit Scheme could adversely
affect our businesses. Our management keeps a close eye on the
changes in such laws and regulations and adjusts the Group’s
operating strategies accordingly, in order to maintain the Group’s
market competitiveness.

Intellectual Property

We recognise the importance of building a good reputation and
protecting our intellectual property. Any unauthorised use of our
trademarks in counterfeit products could harm our brand image
and reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In view of this, the Group’s legal department has set up teams
in both Hong Kong and Nansha in Mainland to handle tasks in
respect of intellectual properties (such as trademarks, design
patents and fighting against infringement).

The Group has successfully registered the “Lukfook” trademark
in the regions where “Lukfook” has a presence (such as Hong
Kong, Macau, Mainland, Malaysia, Cambodia, the Philippines,
Laos, Thailand, the United States, Canada and Australia). Our
legal department has reached a consensus with our product
development department, marketing department and design
department that any new product, collection, display prop and
fitting out design should be forwarded as soon as practicable to
the legal department as appropriate for the application of design
patent/copyright in Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau so as to
ensure the maximum protection for the Group.

The Group’s legal department and business department
constantly monitor any infringement by free-riding brands across
Mainland, and cooperate with the law enforcement agencies
to fight against infringement. The Group always encourages
colleagues to monitor any infringement during their business
trips and report the infringement to the legal department, and
endeavours to fight against infringement of the Group’s intellectual
properties.

Financial Risks
Details of financial risks are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements, and the non-compliance with such
requirements could lead to the risk of termination of operating
licences. The Group has been allocating systems and human
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and
regulations, and to maintain cordial working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the Year
under review, as far as the Group is aware, it has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group places great importance on environmental protection
and endeavours to promote sustainable development. It
incorporates relevant environmental strategies in every aspect of
its business, and implements initiatives in areas such as energy
saving and waste management in manufacturing, administration
and daily retail operations to mitigate the impact on the
environment.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers
are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is committed
1o establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees,
providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners. The Group provides a fair
and safe work environment, promotes staff diversity, provides
competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate training and
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the
latest development of the market and the industry, while improving
their performance in their positions and helping them to realize
their self-worth.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Relationships with Key Stakeholders (Continued)

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationship with customers and providing products which
satisfy their needs and requirements. The Group enhances the
relationship by continuous interaction with customers to gain
insight into the changing market demand for different products
so that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in handling customers’ feedbacks and
complaints to ensure that customers’ opinions are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner.

The Group maintains stable business relationships with its
suppliers and service providers. In order to have a better
and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance, the Group’s
management regularly conducts performance reviews targeting
the Group’s major suppliers and service providers, and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year under review are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 114.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK$0.72 per
ordinary share. A total of HK$422,718,000 was paid on 29
December 2023.

The Board proposed final dividend of HK$0.64 per ordinary share
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$0.55 per ordinary
share) to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 22 August 2024. Taking into
account of the interim dividend and the special interim dividend
(by way of distribution in specie of HKRH shares) paid, the total
dividend for the year would amount to approximately HK$1.41
per ordinary share, totalling HK$826,871,000 for the year (2023:
HK$1.10 per ordinary share, totalling HK$645,818,000). Subject
1o the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held on 15 August 2024, the final dividend will be
paid on or around 4 September 2024.
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DONATIONS
Donations made by the Group during the Year under review
amounted to approximately HK$4,831,000.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the Year
under review are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Year under
review or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2024,
calculated under the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$926,366,000 (2023: HK$807,926,000).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY hEIRBHEE
The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last ZAEBEEHZEIHAIIHLLH FREMBEESSE
five financial years ended 31 March are as follows: ZEB BEERABEBUT
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
FHEx FET FHET FET FET
Results E 4
Revenue oN 15,325,962 11,977,844 11,737,803 8,861,335 11,233,771
Profit attributable to equity KABREHEFEA
holders of the Company FE(GER) 1,767,305 1,284,757 1,392,364 1,017,335 866,315
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Total assets mEE 16,854,064 14,928,506 16,220,269 14,512,039 13,925,048
Total liabilities mefs 3,990,166 2,707,564 4,141,741 3,187,815 3,512,937
Shareholders’ funds REES 12,890,860 12,221,440 12,078,996 11,324,665 10,371,705

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year
under review.
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DIRECTORS
The directors who held office during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny (Deputy Chairman)

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung

Dr. CHAN So Kuen

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP

Mr. HUI King Wai

Pursuant to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM of the Company.
Accordingly, Ms. Wong Lan Sze, Nancy, Dr. CHAN So Kuen,
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung and Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, shall retire
from office by rotation at the AGM. Al the retiring directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Details of
the proposed directors to be re-elected are set out in the circular
sent together with this Annual Report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, aged 73, is the founder, Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Group. He
is also a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. WONG
has over 57 years of experience in the jewellery industry and is
responsible for the overall strategic planning and management
of the Group. He is the Honorary Life President of The Kowloon
Gold Silver and Jewel Merchant’s Staff Association, the Honorary
Permanent Chairman of Hong Kong Jade Association, the
Chairman of Supervisory Committee of The Kowloon Pearls,
Precious Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants
Association, the Consultant of the Gems & Jewelry Trade
Association of China, the Founding Member and Vice President
of Shenzhen Gold & Silver Jewelry Creative Industry Association,
a Respectable Advisor of H.K. Gold & Silver Ornament Workers
& Merchants General Union and the Honorary President of the
Jewellers & Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. WONG is the father of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, Deputy
Chairman and Executive Director of the Group and Ms. WONG
Lan Sze, Nancy, Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. He is also the elder brother of Mr. WONG
Wai Tong, Senior Business Director of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, aged 47, is the Deputy Chairman
and Executive Director of the Group. He is also the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of HKRH, a
subsidiary of the Company, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He joined the Group as an Operations
Manager in 2002. Mr. Danny WONG is an active participant in
the community and is currently a Member of Sihui Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a Member of The Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Guangdong’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference Committees Limited, a Vice President of Zhaoqing
Overseas Friendship Association, a Permanent President of
Sze Wui and Kwong Ning Clansman’s Association (Hong
Kong) Limited, a President of Sihui Dasha Town Clansman’s
Association (Hong Kong), an Executive Committee Member of
Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, China Limited, a Supervisory
Committee Member of Hong Kong Jewellers’ & Goldsmiths’
Association, an Executive Committee Member of The Kowloon
Pearls, Precious Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament
Merchants Association, a Member of Lions Club of Sham Shui
Po Hong Kong, and an Executive Committee Member of The
Jewellers & Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited. In
December 2008, Mr. Danny WONG received the GIA Diamond
Graduate title, and awarded the “CEQ of the Year” by Capital CEO
in 2017. He is the son of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the Group’s
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director and the
elder brother of Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy, Executive Director
and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group, the spouse of
Ms. CHEUNG Irene, the Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of HKRH, and the nephew of Mr. WONG Wai Tong, Senior
Business Director of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy, aged 43, is the Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
She joined the Group in 2006 and assists in formulating and
implementing the Group’s overall business strategies. She is
also responsible for the Group’s corporate branding, marketing,
corporate communications, product design and development,
merchandising and production functions and e-commerce
operations. Ms. WONG holds a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce
from the University of Toronto, Canada and a Master's Degree
of Science in China Business Studies from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is also a Certified Public Accountant
of the United States of America. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
WONG worked for an international professional accounting firm
in Hong Kong, where she performed auditing and accounting
assignments for a variety of business organisations including listed
companies. She received the GIA Diamond Graduate title in 2007
and was awarded the “Young Entrepreneur of the Year” at JNA
Awards 2020. She is also a Member of Young Diamantaire Group
of Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, a Member of Greater Bay
Area Hong Kong Women Entrepreneurs Association and a 18th
Outreaching & Youth Affairs Sub-committee Member of Hong
Kong Jewelry Manufacturers’ Association. Ms. WONG is the
daughter of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the Group’s Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director and the younger sister
of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, Deputy Chairman and Executive
Director of the Group. She is also the niece of Mr. WONG Wai
Tong, Senior Business Director of the Group.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung, aged 51, is the Executive Director and
Chief Operating Officer of the Group. She is also the Executive
Director of HKRH, a subsidiary of the Company, which is listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. WONG initially
joined the Group in 1994 and served various departments
for about 8 years until 2002. She rejoined the Group in 2004.
Currently, she is responsible for the Group’s operations and
development of the retail, wholesale and licensing businesses.
In addition, she is also responsible for the administration and
human resources functions of the Group. She holds a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration from University of Southern
Queensland. Ms. WONG is a Member of Guangzhou Panyu
District Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a Member of The Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Guangdong’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference Committees Limited, an Honorary Life President and
the 20th Term Vice-Chairman of Hong Kong Pun Yue Industrial
and Commercial Fellowship Association, the 6th Term Standing
Director of Guangzhou Panyu Overseas Friendship Association, a
Director of Guangzhou Panyu Overseas Exchange Association, a
Chairman of Panyu Hong Kong Charity Fund Limited, a Member
and Vice-Chairperson of The Jewellery Industry Training Advisory
Committee, a Member of Watch & Jewellery Industry Consultative
Networks, a Member of Greater Bay Area Hong Kong Women
Entrepreneurs Association, a Member of District Fire Safety
Committee (Kawi Tsing District) and a Member of District Fight
Crime Committee (Kwai Tsing District). In 2021, Ms. WONG was
awarded the “Greater Bay Area Outstanding Women Entrepreneur
Awards” by the Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises
Association and Metro Finance. She has over 30 years of
experience in the jewellery industry.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. CHAN So Kuen, aged 64, the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group, joined the Group in 2012
and was appointed as an Executive Director of the Group in
2015. She is also the Executive Director of HKRH, a subsidiary
of the Company, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. CHAN graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Oklahoma City University (the United States
of America), with a Doctorate Degree and a Master's Degree
in Business Administration, respectively. She is also a Fellow
Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Dr.
CHAN has substantial financial and management experiences
in vast varieties of businesses for more than 37 years. Prior to
joining the Group, Dr. Chan worked in international professional
accounting firms in Hong Kong for auditing duties. She also
served in various Hong Kong listed and private companies
across different industries in a senior capacity, such as finance
director, chief financial officer or chief executive officer. Dr. CHAN
is currently responsible for the overall financial management,
corporate finance, information technology, investor relations and
company secretarial matters of the Group.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen, aged 73, is the co-founder of the
Group. Presently, he is the Non-executive Director and Honorary
Consultant of the Group. Mr. TSE has over 50 years of experience
in jewellery retailing business. Mr. TSE is an Executive Committee
Member of the Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, China
Limited, a Vice President of The Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange
Society, a Vice Chairman of The Kowloon Pearls, Precious
Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants Association,
a President of The Tsuen Wan Festival Lightings Organizing
Committee, a President of the Kwun Tong District Junior Police
Call (JPC) Honorary President Council, the 35th Vice Chairman
of Macau Goldsmith’s Guild, an Honorary President of Tsuen
Wan Committee for Celebration of Reunification of Hong Kong
with China, an Honorary President of Tsuen Wan Preparatory
Community of National Day, a Vice President of Zhaoqing
Overseas Friendship Association, an Executive Committee
Member and Vice Director of Finance of Hong Kong Jewellers’
& Goldsmiths’ Association, a Vice Chairperson of Tsuen Wan
District Fire Safety Ambassador Honorary Presidents’ Association,
a Respectable President of H.K. Gold & Silver Ornament Workers
& Merchants General Union, the 14th Term Executive Director
of Guangzhou Panyu Jewelry Manufacturers Association, the
22nd Term Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong Precious Metals
Traders Association Limited, the 10th Term Honorary President
of Tsuen Wan District Elderly Welfare Association, an Honorary
Chairman of Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’ Association
and a Vice Chairman of the Jewellers & Goldsmiths’ Association
of Hong Kong Limited. Moreover, Mr. TSE was awarded the
“Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community Service” by the
Government of the Hong Kong SAR.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP, aged 77, joined the Group in 1997. He
was re-designated from an Independent Non-executive Director
to a Non-executive Director of the Company on 1 October 2011,
owing to changes in factors concerning his independence. Mr.
HUI has 53 years of experience in the securities and investment
industry. Mr. HUI had for years been serving as a Council Member
and Vice Chairman of the Stock Exchange, a member of the
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a Director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an appointed
member of the Securities and Futures Appeal Tribunal, a
member of Standing Committee on Company Law Reform, a
member of the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission and also an
appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Investigation Panel A. Mr. HUI was appointed by the
Government of the HKSAR as a Justice of the Peace in 2004 and
was also a member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from 2006 to
2017. He had also been a member of Government “Appointees”
(independent member) of Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry
Council of Hong Kong. Mr. HUI is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation
Limited (Stock Code: 0535), China South City Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1668), SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code: 2386), Agile Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
3383), FSE Lifestyle Services Limited (Stock Code: 0331) and
HK Acquisition Corporation (Stock Code: 7841), a Special
Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC), whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He also serves as an Independent Non-
executive Director of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited
(former Stock Code: 1212), the shares of which were delisted
from the Stock Exchange on 20 December 2022. He was an
Independent Non-executive Director of Asia Allied Infrastructure
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0711), Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (Stock Code: 0388) and Zhuhai Holdings
Investment Group Limited (a listed public company in Hong
Kong until its listing was withdrawn on 18 June 2021) until his
resignation effective from 1 February 2015, his retirement effective
from 29 April 2015 and his resignation effective from 6 September
2021 respectively.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP, aged 67, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company in 2011. Mr. LI holds a
Diploma of Architectural Design from Humber College of Toronto,
Canada in 1981 and a Bachelor’s of Architecture from New York
Institute of Technology in 1984. Mr. LI was awarded the Certificate
of Registration Authorized Person (List of Architects) in 1989 and
the Certificate of Registered Inspector in 2012, by the Hong Kong
Government respectively. In professional qualification aspect, Mr.
Ll is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Architects and a Member
of Architect Registration Board. He also got the PRC Class 1
Registered Architect Qualification. Mr. LI has extensive architecture
experience and is a Director of Li & Siu Associates Ltd. and
A. Li & Associates Architects Ltd. In addition, he is a Director
of Keen Mind Kindergarten. Mr. LI was appointed as a District
Council Member of Sham Shui Po District from 2000 to 2007 and
awarded the Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community
Service and Medal of Honor. He was also appointed by the
Hong Kong Government a Justice of the Peace in 2008 and was
awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in 2017. Mr. LI has been
appointed to various positions over the years including: Chairman
of Sham Shui Po District Office (East Liaison Team), Chairman of
Sham Shui Po District Fire Safety Committee, Chairman of Sham
Shui Po Council for the Promotion of Cultural and Recreation
Service Limited, Chairman of Sham Shui Po District Fight Crime
Committee, Honorary President of Sham Shui Po District Junior
Police Call, Honorary President of Kowloon City District Junior
Police Call, Honorary President of Yau Tsim District Junior Police
Call, Chairman of Yau Yat Chuen Residents Association Ltd.,
President of Police Dragon Boat Club and Chartered President
of Lions Club of Sham Shui Po Hong Kong. Mr. Li is a member
of The Sixth Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of Sheung Yue Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1633) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 72, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
2011 and is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. IP graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a degree of Social Sciences in 1973. He subsequently
pursued further studies in Oxford University and Harvard
Business School. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in
November 1973 as an Administrative Officer and had served
various government departments. Mr. IP was promoted to the
rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to
June 2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past included
Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary
for Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services. Mr.
IP took up the position of Secretary for Economic Development
and Labour Bureau on 1 July 2002. His portfolio in respect of
economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological
services, competition and consumer protection. He was also
responsible for labour policies including matters relating to
employment services, labour relations and employees’ rights. In
his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour
Bureau, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority
Board and the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the
Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well
as the Chairman of the Logistics Development Council, Port
Development Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation
Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong
Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia
Star award from the Government of the HKSAR in 2001, and is
an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP is also an Independent
Non-executive Director of Lai Sun Development Company Limited
(Stock Code: 0488), Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1888), Nameson Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1982), Milion Cities Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2892) and
C-MER Medical Holdings Limited (formerly known as C-MER Eye
Care Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 3309) which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of China Resources Building Materials
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1313), until his retirement
effective from 24 May 2024.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, aged 71, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in 2012
and is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. MAK graduated from the University of Toronto with
a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1976. He is a member of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. After working in Citibank
for over 26 years, Mr. MAK retired on 1 May 2012. He last served
as the Head of Markets and Banking for Citibank Hong Kong,
being the country business manager for corporate and investment
banking business. Mr. MAK had also held various other senior
positions in Citibank including Head of Global Banking responsible
for managing all the client relationship managers. Prior to that, he
also managed the bank’s Hong Kong corporate finance business,
regional asset management business and was the Chief Financial
Officer of North Asia region. Before joining Citibank in 1985, Mr.
MAK was an audit group manager at Coopers & Lybrand (now
known as PricewaterhouseCoopers). He worked for Coopers &
Lybrand for 8 years, 5 of which was in Toronto, Canada.

Mr. MAK is an Independent Non-executive Director of Lai Fung
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1125), Hong Kong Technology
Venture Company Limited (Stock Code: 1137), Crystal
International Group Limited (Stock Code: 2232) and K Cash
Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2483) which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Goldpac Group Limited (Stock Code:
3315), until his retirement effective from 21 May 2024. Mr. MAK
was admitted as a member of Hong Kong Housing Society
in May 2015 and is currently a member of its various working
committees.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP, aged 75, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in 2013.
Ms. WONG is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. WONG had been working with PricewaterhouseCoopers
for over 36 years specialising in the Mainland tax and business
advisory services. Since 1978, she was responsible for the
development of the firm’s business in the Mainland. Ms. WONG
joined Tricor Services Limited as a director from 2004 to 2006
after her retirement as a partner from PricewaterhouseCoopers
in 2004. She is also a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

In addition, Ms. WONG is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited (Stock
Code: 0050), Kerry Logistics Network Limited (Stock Code:
0636) and SUM Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0880), which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was an
Independent Non-executive Director of Kerry Properties Limited
(Stock Code: 0683) until her retirement effective from 20 May
2024,

Mr. HUI King Wai, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 2015 and is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is a solicitor
practising in Hong Kong. Mr. HUI is currently a consultant of
Holman Fenwick Willan. Mr. HUI was a Non-executive Director of
the Group during the period from 1999 to 2013.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. WONG Wai Tong, aged 63, is the Senior Business Director of
the Group. He initially joined the Group in 1998 and served various
departments for over 10 years until 2013. Mr. WONG rejoined
the Group in 2014. He has over 47 years of manufacturing and
purchasing experience in jewellery and gold industry. Mr. WONG
is responsible for the Group’s merchandising and polishing of
rough diamonds and assembly and production functions of
diamond products. He is a Principal Advisor of Honorary Consul
for Republic of Fiji in Hong Kong, a Director of Guangzhou
Diamond Exchange, a Director of Hong Kong Guangzhou Nansha
Association, the 6th Term Director of Guangzhou Panyu Overseas
Friendship Association, the 4th Term Director of Guangzhou
Nansha District Chamber of Commerce (Chamber), the 7th Term
Honorary Director of Guangzhou Overseas Friendship Liaison
Association. He holds the titles of a Diamond Grader of National
Gemstone Testing Center and a Certified Diamond Grader of
HRD Antwerp Institute of Gemmology. Mr. WONG is the younger
brother of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the Group’s Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director.

Ms. WONG So Kuen, aged 62, is the Financial Controller
(Financial Accounting) of the Group. Ms. WONG joined the Group
in 1997. She is mainly responsible for financial accounting and
tax planning matters of the Group. Ms. WONG often travels to
Mainland in search of information on national tax policies and
privileges in order to develop relevant tax plans for the Group. She
has over 38 years of experience in financial and accounting for
commercial firms.

Ms. CHUNG Vai Ping, aged 54, is the Deputy Corporate Gift
Director of the Group. She has over 36 years of experience in the
jewellery industry. She joined the Group in 1990 and is responsible
for the corporate gift business of the Group. In 2001, Ms. CHUNG
won the Best of Show Award for her design “Flashing” in the 2nd
Hong Kong Jewellery Design Competition. She received the GIA
Diamonds Graduate title in 2004. Ms. CHUNG is a Fellow of the
Professional Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector
Limited, an Executive Committee Member and Vice Director of
General Affairs of Hong Kong Jewellers’ & Goldsmiths’ Association,
an Executive Committee Member of The Kowloon Pearls, Precious
Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants Association, an
Executive Committee Member and Vice Director of The Jewellers
& Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited, and a Member
of Hong Kong Trade Development Council Jewellery Advisory
Committee.
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EEUHE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Ms. CHEUNG Irene, aged 47, has been serving as the head
of Legal Affairs Department of the Group since 2005. During
her tenure, the Legal Affairs Department has attained awards
and recognition in the areas of compliance, data protection,
employment and labour, dispute resolution and intellectual
property. In addition, she is the Executive Director and Chief
Operating Officer of HKRH, a subsidiary of the Company, which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. CHEUNG
received her Bachelor's Degree of Arts from the University of
Toronto and her LL.B. from Osgoode Hall Law School and was
qualified as a solicitor, barrister and notary public in Ontario,
Canada. She is also a member of the Law Society of Ontario.
In recognition of Ms. CHEUNG's outstanding leadership skills
and excellent career achievements, Ms. CHEUNG was awarded
with the “Women of Excellence 2019” by “JESSICA”, a leading
women’s magazine, and “The Awards of Women of Times
2019” by “InStyle”, an international fashion magazine and “GBA
Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Awards 2023” by HK Small
and Medium Enterprises Association and “Metro Finance”, a
leading financial radio channel. In addition, Ms. CHEUNG has
won several “In-house Counsel Awards” by China Business Law
Journal in four consecutive years from 2020 to 2024, including
“Winner — Consumer & Retail” and the “Highly-commended —
Intellectual Property (Trademark)”, in recognition of her expertise in
corporate legal management and legal knowledge. Ms. CHEUNG
is the spouse of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, the Deputy
Chairman and Executive Director of the Group.

Mr. CHAN Cheuk Him, Paul, aged 53, is the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of HKRH, a subsidiary of the
Company, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He graduated from the University of Toronto, Canada
and the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, with
a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration, respectively. He is also a Member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
about 30 years’ experience in auditing and financial management
with audit firm and various listed companies in Hong Kong. He
was the executive director and chief financial officer from August
2010 to April 2022 of Bossini International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 0592), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

RETIREMENT SCHEME
Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group are set
out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
AGM have service contracts with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which are not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The fees and other emoluments of directors are determined
by reference to industry norm and market conditions, with
discretionary bonus on performance awarded to executive
directors.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the Year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year under review.
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EEUHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed below, none of the
directors and chief executives of the Company had interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to the Model Code set out
in Appendix C3 (formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange, to notify the Company and the Stock Exchange:

ESRESITHAEREFZEHKR
HKE

R2024F3831H B FXFTIREE N &AA
BEERERSTHABMENR AR NEM
HEEE (EEREBSFRPEERAIEXVE) 2
B& D~ FERA IR (D KB HERE > B ()R ¥R 5
R B G 1B 5535216 FR & B s R sz A& Pk &
o 5 o) RIER T SR B M ERC3 (FI A
fEE—+) FRE VAR ZESFRIZBR E A A B KR
Frzfemkika .

(1) THE COMPANY (1) F=2H
Long positions in shares and underlying shares T ATIRG RIERAKRSZEFE
of the Company
Number of Ordinary Shares
LERYE
Beneficial Controlled Beneficiary Other Total % of
Name of Director Owner Spouse  Corporation of a Trust Interests Interests Shares
ESftd BaEA Eff  SENEE  EREEA Rt EadE (SROEMM
note (a)
it 6
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung 9,004,561 454,000 7,352,504 238,501,722 - 255,312,787 (1) 43.49%
BRERLE note (b) note (c) note (d)
I (o) M (o) WiZE (d)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny 360,000 - - 288,501,722 - 238,861,722 1) 40.68%
BERLE note (d)
Mzt (o)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy 723,000 - - 238,501,722 - 239,224722 (L) 40.75%
BEEUL note (d)
iz (o)
Dr. CHAN So Kuen 180,000 5,000 - - - 185,000 (1) 0.03%
BEEELT note (e)
hEAE]
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen 453,344 - - - - 453,344 1) 0.08%
il Eavivs
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung - 50,000 - - - 50,000 (L) 001%
Fidic sy note {f
B3 ()
Mr. LI Hon Hung 837,437 170,000 - - 8,956,853 9,964,290 1.70%
TEELE note (q) note ()
W3t (g) Mz ()
(L) Long posttion ##&
Note (a) M5 (@)

The percentage is based on the total number of issued shares of the
Company as at 31 March 2024 (i.e. 587,107,850 shares).

B tEThR#R2024F3831 B 2 A AR B & 1T KR H
#a % (A1587,107,850% B 17) st& -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

(1)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company (Continued)

Note (b)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung’s spouse, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, held 454,000 shares of
the Company.

Note (c)

The directors of Dragon King Investment Ltd. were accustomed to act in
accordance with the directions of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, hence Dragon
King Investment Ltd. was deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mr.
WONG Wai Sheung, and in return Mr. WONG Wai Sheung was deemed to
be interested in 7,352,504 shares of the Company held (whether directly or
indirectly) by Dragon King Investment Ltd..

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung together with other parties acting in concert in
respect of the voting matters in Dragon King Investment Ltd., collectively
controlled (whether directly or indirectly) over 30% of the voting power of
Dragon King Investment Ltd..

Note (d)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and Ms. LUK Chui Yee are the founders and settlors
of The WS WONG Family Trust (the “Trust”). Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms.
LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust. The Trust was interested
in 238,501,722 shares in the Company, comprising (i) the 1,511,050 shares
in the Company held by the Trust and (i) the 236,990,672 shares in the
Company attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust indirectly
controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited
(being approximately 46.29%) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Luk Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

The members of the Trust, together with other parties who act in concert with
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung in respect of the voting matters in Luk Fook (Control)
Limited, collectively controlled (whether directly or indirectly) over half of the
voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited.

Note (e)

Dr. CHAN So Kuen’s spouse, Mr. LO Kwing Chi, held 5,000 shares of the
Company.

Note (f)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung’s spouse, Ms. SHEK Milly, held 50,000 shares of the
Company.

Note (g)

Mr. LI Hon Hung’s spouse, Ms. lIrene LI,
Company.

held 170,000 shares of the

Note (h)

Mr. LI Hon Hung, as the administrator of the estate of the late Mr. LEE Shu
Kuan, held (i) 6,370,229 shares of the Company (which beneficially held by
the late Mr. LEE Shu Kuan); and (i) 33.3% of the issued share capital of Wah
Hang Kimon Investments Limited and 51% of the issued share capital of Wah
Hang Kimon Holdings Limited, which each in turn held 630,624 shares and
1,956,000 shares of the Company respectively.

1
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E%igig:EEi#gitz
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EEREREITHABRES ZESR
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN =R )

SECURITIES (Continued)

(2) ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of HKRH (“HKRH Shares”)

(2) HEEEE
EARRRMG RAMKRG ((EEE
RiiD) ZHE

Number of Ordinary Shares
LERSE

94

Beneficial Controlled Beneficiary Other Total % of
Name of Director Owner Spouse Corp‘oratlon of a Trust Interests Interests Shares
303 EREA Ef  SEHEE  GEEEA Hitnigs ERlE (ROEM
Note (3)
ELE)
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung 145,785 - - 216,015,403 - 216,161,188 (1) 80.16%
RRERE Note (b)
Wizt (o)
Mr WONG Ho Lung, Danny - - - 216,015,403 - 216,015,043 (1) 80.10%
= Sk Note (b)
Wizt (o)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
EfELT - - - 216015408 - 216,015,043 ) 80.10%
Note (o)
BiZE (o)
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung 20,500 - - - - 20,500 (1) 0.01%
IEBLT
Dr. CHAN So Kuen 25,000 - - - - 25,000 () 0.01%
REGET
Mr, Tse Moon Chuen 41,600 - - - - 41,600 (1) 0.02%
il
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung 150,034 142,500 - - - 292,534 (1) 0.11%
FRmEE Note ()
Wi (c)
(L) Long position {7 &
Note (a) MI5E (a)

The percentage is based on the total number of issued HKRH Shares as at
31 March 2024 (i.e. 269,671,601 HKRH Shares).

Note (b)

These HKRH Shares represents the aggregate of the three lots of shares
being 214,092,904 shares held by Luk Fook 3D Investment Holding
Company Limited, 1,125,000 shares held by Luk Fook Holdings Company
Limited and 797,499 shares held by Luk Fook 3D Management Company
Limited, all of them are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. The
Company is the controlling shareholder of HKRH and the Company is held
as to approximately 40.37% by Luk Fook (Control) Limited. Over one-third of
the voting power (being approximately 46.29%) of Luk Fook (Control) Limited
is held by the Trust where Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and his spouse, Ms. LUK
Chui Yee, are the founders and settlors and Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms. LUK
Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy are
the discretionary beneficiaries. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. WONG Wai Sheung,
Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, and Ms. WONG Lan Sze,
Nancy are therefore deemed to be interested in the HKRH Shares held by the
Company.

Note (c)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung’s spouse, Ms. SHEK Milly, held 142,500 HKRH Shares.
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R+EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEUHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN T ERRRMN IR RIERARRS 2
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as known to the directors and chief executive of the  F2024FE3H31H BB FXFFIREE I B
Company, as at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed below, no AFREEZEEESTHASMRE  #HEEMMIE
person, other than a director or chief executive of the Company, AABEBEEZFXERSTHAEZ ATRAEARAFT
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying &1 &AERARRMD  BEBIRIEE S RBEK
shares of the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Bl FEXVELFE2 R B3N WK BRI A ATIKE
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of ~ Z &K A o

the SFO.
Number of Total
Name of Shareholder Shares Capacity Interests % of Shares
RRER, BB R ®E i R R ES L
Ms. LUK Chui Yee 454,000 (L) Beneficial Owner 258,041,608 (L) 43.95%
BEERZL BB
18,633,150 (1) Spouse
note (a) [
fiz* (a)
238,954,458 (1) Beneficiary of a Trust
note (b) FEEZaA
BiIzE (o)
Ms. CHEUNG Irene 240,575,737 (L) Spouse 240,575,737 (1) 40.98%
BB YL note (c) [
Wizt ()
Luk Fook (Control) Limited 234,924,672 (L) Beneficial Owner 234,924,672 (1) 40.01%
TR (2R) BRAR EREBA
LF Holding Services Limited 240,215,737 (1) Interest of controlled 240,215,737 (L) 40.92%
note (d) corporation
B EE (o) RERERz B
BOS Trustee Limited as Trustee 240,315,737 (L) Trustee 240,315,737 (L) 40.93%
note () ZEEA
Mit5E o)
Silchester International Investors LLP 76,421,600 (L) Investment Manager 76,421,600 (L) 13.02%
RELE
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. 40,846,000 (L) Investment Manager 40,846,000 (L) 6.95%
RELE
Silchester International Investors 39,518,600 (L) Investment Manager 39,518,600 (L) 6.73%

International Value Equity Trust

() Long position #7&

RELE
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EETIIRTG

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Note (a)

By virtue of SFO, Ms. LUK Chui Yee was deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by her spouse, Mr. WONG Wai Sheung.

Note (b)

Ms. LUK Chui Yee and Mr. WONG Wai Sheung are the founders and settlors of
the Trust. Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny
and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust.
The Trust was interested in 238,954,458 shares in the Company, comprising (i) the
1,611,050 shares in the Company held by the Trust and (i) the 237,443,408 shares
in the Company attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust indirectly
controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited (being
approximately 46.29%) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Luk Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

Note (c)

By virtue of SFO, Ms. CHEUNG Irene was deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by her spouse, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny.

Note (d)

LF Holding Services Limited held 100% of the issued share capital of LF Enterprises
Limited and 46.29% of the issued share capital of Luk Fook (Control) Limited, which
held 1,511,050 shares and 238,704,687 shares of the Company respectively. Hence,
LF Holding Services Limited was deemed to be interested in 240,215,737 shares in
the Company.

Note (e)

BOS Trustee Limited owned 100% of the issued share capital of LF Holding Services
Limited and was deemed to be interested in 240,215,737 shares in the Company in
the capacity of the trustee of the Trust.

In addition, BOS Trustee Limited, as trustee of another trust, was deemed to be
interest in the 100,000 shares in the Company held by the trust.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year under review as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements do not constitute connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS FROM RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year under review was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its associates, its fellow subsidiaries, or its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors and the chief executive
of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporations.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the
relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former
Directors) of the Company or its associated companies. The
permitted indemnity provisions are provided for in the Company’s
Bye-laws and in the directors and officers liability insurance
maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and costs
associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against
such Directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
During the Year under review, the percentages of sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

EETFREIRX
REBEERARBERARSBBHAL &2
ARARERNAE BEUR AT REH
EAREE (BEHNESE) AZHEANBER
X EEFRERHRERNEADZA
A8 URREEMAEERERITEA
EBENSERMRA AHRRRESENE
AE 0 EL B A5 T $95 1 v B T 22 A AR R B8 AR T
R B o

EFEER
REBEFER 2EBEIEEF ML ERH
EREZEDLLT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$ 000

F#T FHT

The largest customer RAER 1.0% 1.5%
Five largest customers combined hBRAERGE 2.4% 3.7%

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined is less than 30%.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had interest in the major customers
noted above.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS
The percentages of purchases for the Year under review
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

FEBLLRAZFHWAMGLEEGS DR
30%°

BEZ REZMBALTNEEEZMAES
RABSNU ERAZEFRER  HEES L
MEEERZEme

EEMHEH
REREEER FEBEEHEBMEEE
BEZEALNT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#T FHET

The largest supplier BRAMIER 45.3% 41.5%
Five largest suppliers combined AR AMER S 82.6% 82.6%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had interest in the major suppliers noted
above.

BEZ REZMBALNBESMAES
RABSNU ERAZEFRER  HEES L
MEEMEH I EE
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BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFTS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings of the
Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in Notes 31 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES
Below are the updates and changes of directors’ information since
the date of the Interim Report 2023/24, required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

1. Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny was re-designated from Non-
executive Director to Executive Director with effect from 1
April 2024.

2. Mr IP Shu Kwan, Stephen ceased to be an Independent
Non-executive Director of China Resources Building
Materials Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited) (Stock Code:
1313) with effect from 24 May 2024.

3. Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin ceased to be an Independent
Non-executive Director of Goldpac Group Limited (Stock
Code: 3315) with effect from 21 May 2024.

4, Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina ceased to be an Independent

Non-executive Director of Kerry Properties Limited (Stock
Code: 0683) with effect from 20 May 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company for the AGM will be
closed from 12 August 2024 to 15 August 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attendance at the AGM to
be held on 15 August 2024, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 August 2024.

The register of members of the Company for the final dividend will
also be closed on 22 August 2024 and no transfer of shares will
be registered on that day. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 21 August 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group
is based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the directors are reviewed and determined by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics. No director, or any of his or her associates involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Company had 80.1% interest in HKRH as at 31 March 2024.
Therefore, interests of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. TSE Moon
Chuen, Ms. WONG Hau Yeung, Dr. CHAN So Kuen and Mr. HUI
Chiu Chung, who were directors of the Company, in HKRH, were
not considered as having an interest under Rule 8.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

As at March 31, 2024, none of the Directors or their associates
has any competing interests in the businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group or
would otherwise require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to shareholders by reason of their holdings of the
Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the public float of shares in the Company has remained
above the minimum percentage required by the Stock Exchange
throughout the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
under review have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
The Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

By order of the Board,
WONG Wai Sheung
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LUK FOOK
HOLDINGS (INTERNATIONAL) LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 114 to 258, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2024;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.
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B Ko R K 1

HEEE (B BRABKRE

(I EFRZEA LI BB R E])
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NEEER (B BREAT CUTEBIEAE)
REWBAT UUTHBIEER)) F&8HNE
114E258E A HEHRK  81F
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8ER;

s HEZALFENGERTE,

s HEZALFENGSEEHWARE,
s HEZALFERNGOE@mEIHE

s HBEZALFENGAREARER R

s KREMBRRMNE @REBESHBER
REMBEREESR -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
HER K B a E T - B ERK R
Mt : +852 2289 8888 » fHEL : +852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matters identified in our audit are related to
existence and valuation of inventories and impairment assessment

of goodwill and trademarks.

Key Audit Matters
PR E st H1E

Existence and valuation of inventories

FEFEMRREE

Refer to Note 4(a) and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying value of inventories of the Group is
HK$9,567 million as at 31 March 2024. The Group’s
inventories mainly comprised gold, platinum and gem-set
jewellery products in the stores, manufacturing facilities
and distribution centres. Valuation of inventories is at
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. Significant portion of
value at cost includes cost of precious metals and gems
which are subject to the risk of changes in market value.
The assessment of net realisable value of inventories is
based on estimates and judgements by management
in respect of, amongst others, the economic condition,
forecast sales performance, marketability of products
and the subsequent market price of precious metals and
gems used to make the jewellery products. Furthermore,
there is a higher inherent risk of theft and pilferage given
the high intrinsic value and portable nature of individual
inventory item.
F2RRE MBIk EMEE4(a) K23
R2024%3A31H EEEEFENIREER9,567H
BEr EEEGEFECRER LEERERDHE
AONEE - HERKEEMER FENENAER
AIZRFEMECREEGHE FTENTERFES
HEEHARERNG S ER S TR A ki
EfX -MAEBASDAETEREENLS MZF
MARZ T EES R - FEN TSR FEREIEEMN
(HR a4 &ER0 - FEHE KRR EREHEM
MEREEUBEMERMASEBRKENRETE
st R AEETSE - 9N BRI FENRTEES
BRAGEMS CHETRSHNERGEERE-

iﬁﬁﬁ aJr‘:F‘a#)c/”J'J NEREFTEEEEME
ENEFEEMREEEURAEREENRIE
G

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMME N EERRE T EE

Our procedures in relation to existence and valuation of
inventories included:

1) We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process
of existence and valuation of inventories
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

2)  We evaluated and validated management’s key
controls over existence of inventories by inspecting
a selection of daily physical inventory count reports
and the reconciliation of daily ending inventories
recorded in the inventory system;

HPMEFENEEEREBERFHVERDT -

1) RMPETHREERHGEENEEUERAEBEN
WBRER K sT L B12  WIBBE B st A FEE M
BYAZ B R EAth PO 7E Bl Bz (R 3R B9 K F > 0B RN ~
TEM B EARHNEEERENGFRISURE
LEHE AR RABI R FERRE ;

2) RFMCZEBEMEREAEBEYEFERIRS LU
REFERENEFERENEIREICE ST E R
HEEENTFENEEENERIES ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
FREHIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFELERREE (8

FlEEstEE (@)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

We evaluated and validated management’s key
controls over valuation of inventories by inspecting
a selection of in-house gemological appraisal or
laboratory reports on the authenticity of gold and
platinum products and valuation and authenticity
of gem-set jewellery products;

We attended the annual physical inventory
counts close to year-end date in selected stores,
manufacturing facilities and distribution centres
of the Group and performed sample count
procedures. We compared our sample count
results in annual physical inventory counts with the
counts performed by the Group and the records in
the inventory system. We performed roll forward/
backward testing on the inventory movements
between the annual physical inventory count dates
and year-end date as appropriate;

HMEZBHMERE EEENETRAEE
mVEEMHURKEEHERNEBEREEN
MRS HREEENERRS  HERRREEE
HEERNEERNRRES

RFMERBOFHEESE SEEINER £
ERMRDHEPONFEEEN T GBI ET
HEREERL - RPIR RPN FEB YRR
HERRE SHEENMEERMHEFERMAT
BN -RIERIME  RPAHFEENFER
HMEAKRFRBMZENFEEFETHRIER
# /BRI
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
FREHIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFELERREE (8

We focused on auditing the existence and valuation
of inventories because the existence of inventories is
subject to high inherent risk given the high intrinsic value
and portable nature of individual inventory item while the
estimation of net realisable value of inventories is subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty.

RHBERFENEEEAABENES RASE
RENFERERNTEESSRABEEE FEF
AMRASRERR MESFEIE2RFEREE
BEMGFTTHEENE -

FlEEstEE (@)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

In evaluating management’s assessment of net realisable
values and provision of inventories:

5)  We evaluated the net realisable values of gold and
platinum inventories assessed by management
with reference to the year-end market price of
precious metals;

6) We obtained an understanding of management’s
processes for the identification of slow moving
gem-set jewellery products and the related
inventory provision with reference to, amongst
others, the market price movement of the
materials, cost to re-work of gem-set jewellery
products, the ageing profile, the historical sales
pattern and the subsequent selling prices of these
products;

HEEEERFE SR EREH T GIB
B

5 HFMELZEEXRETBHHER FEEEEF
EHNEERIPEFERNRSFFE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
FREHIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFELERREE (8

FlEEstEE (@)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

We selected samples of gem-set jewellery
products, comprising items of different nature,
ageing profiles and price for gemological appraisal
carried out by independent gemologists engaged
by the Group to verify their authenticity and to
assess their condition and valuation;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent gemologists and
obtained an understanding of their scope of work
and the terms of engagement; and

We have assessed whether the selected gem-
set jewellery products were recorded at the lower
of cost and net realisable value by comparing the
results of gemological appraisal reports and their
costs.

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
the existence of inventories, as well as the estimates
and judgement made by management in respect of the
valuation of inventories, are supportable by the available
evidence.

7)

HPEHREGLSITRMNE BRI AERN T
HEMiEmEs B SEEBRENBIEAE
EEMETERAEE  URBHAR WA EERK
nREE;

RMEHEBIUIELEERMAA BE BN REE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
FREHIH

Impairment assessment of gooadwill and trademarks
BEERBIE R EFTE

Refer to Note 4(d), 4(e), and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group carried HK$278 million goodwill and HK$537
million trademarks with definite useful lives on the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2024.

Goodwill is required to be assessed for impairment at
least annually. In performing the impairment assessment,
management compared the carrying amount of the cash
generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated with its
recoverable amount based on a discounted cash flow
forecast to determine if any impairment provision was
required.

2RRE MBI RMIETAd) 4€) %180
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FlEEstEE (@)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
goodwill and trademarks included:

1)  We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment of goodwill
and trademarks and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

R EERE R ETEEFHERLT -
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Impairment assessment of gooawill and trademarks (Continued)

BERBIZRHEE (8

Trademarks with definite useful lives are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Management considered there are
impairment indicators on the trademarks because the
cash generating units to which trademarks are grouped
were loss-making during the year. In performing the
impairment assessment, management compared the
carrying amount of the cash generating unit with its
recoverable amount based on a discounted cash flow
forecast to determine if any impairment provision was
required.

Management engaged an independent external valuer
to assist them regarding the impairment assessment
of goodwill and trademarks. Based on management’s
impairment assessment, management has concluded
that there is no impairment in respect of the Group’s
goodwill and trademarks for the year ended 31 March
2024,

EUEFEMHWFERECRBEHRE AR S E AW
B X ARRRAERFHNERETREEE -8
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

We assessed the reliability of management’s cash
flow forecasts by comparing budgeted results in
prior year's forecasts with actual performance of
the current year;

We evaluated the key assumptions adopted in
the cashflow forecasts, including average revenue
growth rates, average gross profit margin rates,
terminal growth rates and discount rates, by
considering approved budgets, historical data,
actual performance as well as industry data, with
the involvement of our internal valuation experts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
FREHIH

FlEEstEE (@)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BME M EEMRENFE

Impairment assessment of gooawill and trademarks (Continued)

BER B 1R E T ()

We focused on auditing the impairment of goodwill
and trademarks because the estimation of recoverable
amounts is subject to certain degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and trademarks is considered
elevated due to subjectivity of significant assumptions
used for determining the discounted cash flows under
the value in use calculations. The key assumptions used
are as follows:

° Average revenue growth rates;

° Average gross profit margin rates;

° Terminal growth rates; and

° Discount rates.
RMEMBFHEREENREST G REER G
FIEIE Y k—ERENG AEERR -HRE
REEHEZTECHRARERERBEHEARBR

WHEFEFEHMN AEELRBRNENEHEBRNEAS R
BRRR AR - FTEIRERERRNT

TN EEE ;

. FHERE;
b V\Eiiﬁz &
. FExo

4)  We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management to assist them regarding
the impairment assessment of goodwill and
trademarks; and

5)  We evaluated sensitivity analyses performed by
management over key assumptions in the models
in order to ascertain the extent of change in those
assumptions would be required for the goodwill
and trademarks to be impaired.

Based on the above, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions used in
the impairment assessment of goodwill and trademarks
are supported by the evidence obtained from the
procedures performed.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the 2023/24
Sustainability Report and all of the information included in the
2023/24 Annual Report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ERVRER S GIIES§=

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ERVRER S GIIES§=

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Pui Ling, Sandra.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3831HILEFE

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
iz FET FET
Revenue A 5 15,325,962 11,977,844
Cost of sales THE A 7 (11,151,623) (8,747,447)
Gross profit EF 4,174,339 3,230,397
Other income HugA 6 197,181 228,859
Other gains/(losses), net Hhz,~ (§518) » /338 8 92,206 (17,3998)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (2,043,459) (1,653,445)
Administrative expenses TEEA (254,107) (214,070)
Net (provision for)/reversal of SREE KA FIER
impairment losses on financial BERE BHE)
assets and financial guarantee e {EIpE-RC (50,537) 1,832
Operating profit et AR 2115623 1,576,175
Finance income AU 28,977 33,125
Finance costs MHER (59,596) (20,763)
Finance (costs)/income, net M B WA RE 9 80619 12,362
Share of results of an associate BIE—RBERSESE oo - (28149
Profit before income tax PRER{S IR AT F 2,085,004 1,565,391
Income tax expenses PSR = 10 (327,166) (280,664)
Profit for the year FRiEH 1,757,838 1,284,727
Profit attributable to: FE(LEEF -
Equity holders of the Company KRBE@FBA 1,767,305 1,284,757
Non-controlling interests JEE R R (9,467) (30)
1,757,838 1,284,727
Earnings per share for profit FATATESTE AEWN
attributable to equity holders of BHNZzERERN
the Company during the year
Basic and diluted BEXRK#EE 11 HK$3.018757c  HK$2.19%8 7T

The above consolidated income statement should be read in  _FiliAR &85 RIELAFBEMIMI T —HEEE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4 |:| %EH&/_\JFE%E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3831HILEFE

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
b 55 FET FET
Profit for the year . 1,757,838 1,284,727
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: E {th 2 & (§548) WA :
Items that may be reclassified OB B DI EBm
to profit or loss HH
Exchange differences on translation &8N EFFH
of foreign operations bE 2 = 28 (383,138) (502,167)
Items that will not be reclassified AT EEN T E .
to profit or loss EHH
Revaluation of financial assets BAREFAEMER
at fair value through other WAZ EREEEMR
comprehensive income 21 655 423
Remeasurements of employee EERBHEENEN
benefit obligations FE 30 3,487 5,249
Other comprehensive loss for FREMEZEESE
__theyear netoftax = iR (378996) (496495
Total comprehensive income for FRZEEWKWA
the year 1,378,842 788,232
Attributable to: THALRER:
— Equity holders of the Company A VNEIL-EEST=PN 1,389,358 788,262
— Non-controliing interests —JEE RS (10,516) (30)
Total comprehensive income for FRZEEWKA
the year 1,378,842 788,232
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — _E it 4x & 2 [ W A 3R 2= FE B2 B8 B B 55 — F
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. R8s o
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As at 31 March 2024
%2024F3831H

As at 31 March

##3H31H
2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FAET FET
ASSETS =13
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 15 1,176,194 918,560
Investment properties s d—L7/ES 16 925,726 1,127,727
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 1,346,143 670,058
Goodwill HE 18 277,674 -
Intangible assets B EE 18 537,241 -
Interests in an associate R—KEZE A 2w 19 - -
Financial assets at fair value through AR EFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZ ERIEE 21 - 788
Trading licence RS 1,080 1,080
Deposits, prepayments and BE FENRERK
other receivables HAhEW RIS 22 103,050 90,724
Deferred income tax assets IRILFTISINEE 29 154,648 146,666
4,521,756 2,955,603
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =78 23 9,567,062 8,852,611
Right of return assets RO#EE 105,194 98,878
Trade receivables B S EWERTE 24 265,773 213,823
Deposits, prepayments and e FENIREREME
other receivables AR TS 22 366,595 440,212
Amount due from an associate FEW — KBt A B BRIE 19 - 4
Income tax recoverable E{EERE 29,465 19,724
Cash and bank balances H& MIRTT4E BR 25 1,998,219 2,347,651
12,332,308 11,972,903
Total assets HEE 16,854,064 14,928,506
EQUITY Ex
Capital and reserves attributable AT EZFEA
to the equity holders of BB RKHEE
the Company
Share capital [N 27(a) 58,710 58,710
Share premium & 17 5 B 27(0o) 2,494,040 2,494,040
Reserves (E4i] 28 10,338,110 9,668,690
12,890,860 12,221,440
Non-controlling interests IR (26,962) (498)
Total equity RER4REE 12,863,898 12,220,942
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As at 31 March 2024
%2024F3831H

As at 31 March

#3H318
2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities EFRHEE
Deferred income tax liabilities FIEFTIEM AR 29 119,789 59,656
Lease liabilities HEas 17 319,420 147,605
Employee benefit obligations BERMNEME 30 34,148 33,872
473,357 241,133
Current liabilities mENEfE
Trade payables, other payables B EMNIRIE S EhEN
and accruals IRIBRFESTRIE 26 1,226,814 1,235,102
Financial guarantee contracts HHBIEREN 36 - 36,831
Contract liabilities HHEE 188,264 162,962
Derivative financial instrument TEERMIEA 20 8 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 17 287,697 172,462
Sales refund liabilities HERMEE 214,374 193,516
Bank borrowings RITER 31 362,000 115,020
Gold loans =EEE 32 1,065,805 425114
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTIRIR AR 171,847 125,424
3,516,809 2,466,431
Total liabilities Had 3,990,166 2,707,564
Total equity and liabilities EmkaBEiEE 16,854,064 14,928,506

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in L #i4x & & E & B X FE B 5B MM 5 — 6
conjunction with the accompanying notes. RIE o

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the #(F&BFEIRRLAEEDH2024F6H28H #t
Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and were signed on its behalf  EIASH Ty BB RES
by the following directors:

Wong Wai Sheung Chan So Kuen
HERS BR&RIB
Director Director

EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

'i_‘/\ _“E_I - ZEZ@J%
Z > jnCiy
AR T e
For the year ended 31 March 2024

B ZE2024F3B31HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AAREGRHA NEG

Non-
Share Share controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Subtotal interests equity
fEx RHEE & INEt o JRERMEZ RS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET THET THET

(Note 28)
(Mi3Ee8)

For the year ended #ZF2023%E3A31H

31 March 2023 LLEE
As at 1 April 2022 1202254811 58,710 2,494,040 9,526,246 12,078,996 (468) 12,078,528
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2EKA ~ (§58)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/ (8518) - - 1,284757 1,284,757 (30) 1,284,727
Other comprehensive income/ Efti2EKA

(loss) (#518)
Exchange differences MEBIMNERN

on translation of [ERELR

foreign operations - - (6502,167) (602,167) - (602,167)
Revaluation of financial BAnEFAEMEZE

assets at fair value WAz EHEESR

through other comprehensive (FfzE21)

income (Note 21) - - 423 423 - 423
Remeasurements of employee ~ EE @A EENEH

benefit obligations (Note 30) 52 (Mi5E30) - - 5,249 5,249 - 5,249
Total other comprehensive loss AMEE@MIR - - (496495  (@96495 - (496.495)
Total comprehensive income/ 2E4&UA / (5518)
Moss) o T_______T__ _ 188202 788262 (30 788,232
Transactions with owners HBBEEAZRS
Dividends paid (Note 12) BRE (MEE12) - - (645,818)  (645,818) - (645,818)
Tz (abB1g (640818 - (645818)
At 31 March 2023 1202353 831H 58,710 2,494,040 9,668,690 12,221,440 (498) 12,220,942
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3831HILEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAREERA AEMY
Non-
Share Share controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Subtotal interests equity
fgd  ROEE s Vet EEERERE 0 RDRE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER FER FER TER FER TR

(Note 28)
(P¥zE28)

For the year ended #HE202453A31H

31 March 2024 LLEE
As at 1 April 2023 120234811 58,710 72,749420749 o 79,76987,6799 - 7172,72217,4749 - 7(4;9?)7 7172,72?07,974? i
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2EKA ~ (§58)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF/ (518 - - 1,767,305 1,767,305 (9,467) 1,757,838
Other comprehensive Hitt2EBA

income/(loss) (#548)
Exchange differences BB EBN

on translation of ERELR

foreign operations - - (382,089) (382,089) (1,049) (383,138)
Revaluation of financial BAnBEFAEMEE

assets at fair value through BAZ EREEED

other comprehensive (Pf5E21)

income (Note 21) - - 655 655 - 655
Remeasurements of employee ~ BEE@FEENEHR

benefit obligations (Note 30) 5t £ (HI5£30) - - 3,487 3,487 - 3,487
Total other comprehensive loss AMEHEMAER - - @747 (@17847) (1,049 (378,996)
Total comprehensive income/ 2EHAKA / (5548)

(loss) . ...=......- 17389358 1389358 (10516) 1,378,842
Transactions with owners HBBEEAZRS
Non-controlling interests W BB AR

on acauisition of subsidiaries R ER

(Note 34) (Pf5¥34) - - - - (8,026) (8,026)
Reclassification of exchange ZHWE—ERBEA

difference arising from step BELENEREEN

acquisition of a prior associate B 4E (fi:E34)

(Note 34) - - 17,767 17,767 - 17,767
Dividends paid or provided for ENHEEERE

(Note 12) (MizE12) - - (137,705)  (737,705) (7,922)  (745,627)

Doz _(19908) (119,938) = (15948) _ (735,886)

At 31 March 2024 1202438310 58,710 2,494,040 10,338,110 12,890,860 (26,962) 12,863,898

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  _E ¥t 47 & # &5 %4 8 2% & B4 BE MY B 55 — fF
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. FEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3831HILEFE

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities &3&;5E1 ZIR&HE
Net cash generated from operations SEESXIHESIFH 33(a) 1,954,594 1,685,341
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEAFER (32,038) (7,001)
Mainland and overseas income B it KB IR ISR
taxes paid (259,643) (336,869)
Net cash generated from EEEMEL ZIREFE
operating activities 1,662,913 1,341,471
Cash flows from investing activities 8 & 5B ZIREHE
Payment for acquisition of MREWEIRESE
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired AN EPNSIRNER 34 (135,076) -
Purchases of property, BEVE BEKREE
plant and equipment (293,373) (107,280)
Purchases of land use rights, BB TMERE
included in right-of-use assets (BiEEREEE) (383,014) -
Purchases of investment properties BEREYE 16 - (99)
Proceeds from other receivables LAIHE—KWBAD
arose from prior disposal of B4z HEKERIE
a subsidiary FrigsI8 58,635 7,627
Interest received BUFIE 9 28,977 33,125
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BERKREZE
plant and equipment FTi8sIE 15 2,196
Placement of bank deposits with FARERBB=EA
maturities over 3 months HIRITER (53,500) -
Net cash used in investing activities KREREMA IR & FEE (777,336) (64,431)
Cash flows from financing activities FiE;EEIZIREHE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRTTEREAIE 33(0) 1,764,700 114,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRITER 33(0) (3,263,720) (1,382,371)
Repayment of other borrowings BEAMEES 33(0) (84,500) -
Proceeds from gold loans with DIREFEENEEEE
cash settlement FriS =18 33(c) 2,938,298 3,015,671
Repayment of gold loans with EEMNIRSEENES
cash settlement Ei= 33(c) (2,361,076) (3,102,977)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaE (81
(including interest) FME) 33(c) (343,438) (294,158)
Interest on bank borrowings and IRTTERR=EEEE
gold loans FME 9 (35,642) (12,846)
Withdrawal of restricted bank IR HIIRITER
deposits 873,670 -
Dividends paid TATRE B (745,627) (645,818)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEPMAZ RS R (1,257,335) (2,308,499)
Net decrease in cash and HERAEEEBM2ZRL
cash equivalents BRE (371,758) (1,031,459)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 4B 1HZIREKRIRE
ZEY 2,347,651 3,492,037
Exchange differences b 72 A= 2 (45,282) (112,927)
Cash and cash equivalents H3A3IEZRERRAE
at 31 March E 3Ly 25 1,930,611 2,347,651

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

e RERERE BB M E—H#
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

GENERAL INFORMATION

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda on 3 September 1996 as
a company with limited liability under the Companies Act
of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of
gold and platinum jewellery, and gem-set jewellery.

The Company’s shares were listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 6 May 1997.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated, and
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) on 28 June 2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(including derivative financial instruments), financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income, and gold
loans which are measured at fair value, as explained in Note
3.

—HeEH

NEREE (BER) BARAR (TRA8)
R1996F 9B T ERERBEERE
REVEFMMILABRRE > HE MM
425 R It A Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda°

KRB REMBAR B TAER) £
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KABIRIDI1997ESHA6REE B &
RGFRBERAR (THRFT)) EM e

BREAMRBAEIN LFEREMBHRED
AT (M) 25 1 ERr2024F68
HEEFE ((EFF) #HETH-

REEE

AL EREMBRRFFAERAZEE
SR BRREN T -BFRBERAEN
EEBRECRFTE2RFEERHNER -

FAEEZIEEMBREDREETEVE
WREER (BEBYBREER) KEB
NENRPIEE22E IR E RS

PRUNPYSESPRAREE » BT QA ES AR
mzEMIE (BETEERIA) &
AREFARMEEBAZ EMEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group
The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards that are effective for the first time
for the financial year beginning 1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments
HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
(Amendments)
HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
(Amendments)
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
(Amendments) and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
(Amendments) Model Rules (Amendments)

The adoption of new and amended standards did not
have any significant impact on the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have
any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon initial application.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. However, they did not have any material
impact on the overall deferred tax balances presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the related deferred tax balances qualified for
offsetting under HKAS 12.

2 RREEG®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) Amended standards and interpretation not
yet adopted by the Group
Certain amendments to existing standards and
interpretation have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year beginning 1 April 2024
and have not been early adopted:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements )
(Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liabilities in a Sale and

Leaseback ("
HK-Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(Revised) - Classification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability @

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ©

M Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2024

@ Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2025

© To be announced by HKICPA

The directors of the Group will adopt the above
amendments to existing standards and interpretation
when they become effective. The directors of the
Group are in the process of assessing the financial
impact of the adoption of the above amendments
to existing standards and interpretation, none of
which is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risks, commodity price risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a)

The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses
derivative financial instruments to manage certain risk
exposures. The use of financial derivatives to hedge
certain risk exposures is governed by the Board of
Directors of the Company.

@

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong with
most of the transactions settled in HK$. The
Group also has retail and wholesale operations
in Mainland, Macau, Canada, the United States,
Australia and Malaysia. Foreign exchange risk
arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”).
The majority of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary items are cash and
bank balances denominated in RMB, which
are held by group companies whose functional
currency is not RMB. In addition, certain group
companies whose functional currency are
HKS$, have intra-group advances from their
subsidiaries denominated in RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net
foreign exchange exposures. The Group also
uses foreign exchange derivative contracts to
manage their foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and recognised
asset or liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the group companies’ functional currency,
primarily with respect to RMB, if necessary.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (@) MBEREE (@&

126

@

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group’s assets and liabilities, and
transactions arising from its operations primarily
do not expose the Group to material foreign
exchange risk. The Group’s assets and liabilities
are primarily denominated in the respective
group companies’ functional currency.

As at 31 March 2024, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit would
have been approximately HK$10,488,000
(2023: HK$10,072,000) higher/lower
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB
denominated monetary items in entities whose
functional currency is not RMB.

(@

ShEE RLER (48)
rEBNEEREE UK
HEEXEFEENRZ I E
BYRAEFAZEKRINER
RoAEBNEEREGRET
EUEBREBRATNINES
HEtHE-

12024538310 » i AR #E
RAETTHE B2 E5% AT
BEMB2HRIFTAE  BRR
BB B AEEE, R A
10,488,000 75 (20234 :
10,072,000/ 7T) » FEHR
BMENEE K mIEAREN
ERAMUAREHENGE
BHENERWE 8

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (i) RERERARENEEIE
The Group’s income and operating cash flows REBNRA RKEIRE R
are substantially independent of changes in EABERZHHHEEE

market interest rates as the Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets except
for bank deposits, other receivables arose
from prior disposal of a subsidiary and other
receivables from licensees, which were entered
at fixed interest rates, and expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s interest
rate risk also arises from gold loans and bank
borrowings. Gold loans at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. Bank
borrowings at variables interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group
does not enter into derivatives to address these
risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rates on
bank borrowings had increased/decreased by
50 basis points with all other variables held
constant, the impact on post-tax profit would
have been approximately HK$1,511,000 (2023:
HK$480,000) lower/higher respectively.

Commodity price risk

The Group mainly engaged in the sales of gold
jewellery. The gold markets are influenced by
global as well as regional supply and demand
conditions. A significant change in the prices of
gold could adversely affect the Group’s financial
performance. The Group manages commodity
price risks mainly by hedging gold price
fluctuations through certain derivative financial
instrument-trading of gold contracts and gold
loans. Should the gold price go up, the Group
would charge a loss representing the increase in
gold price compared to the contract price, and
largely net against the increase in turnover of
gold products as a result of gold price increase.

The gold contracts are settled on daily basis
and the differences between the contract price
and market price are immediately recognised
in the consolidated income statement. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the notional
amount of contracts under daily trade was
547 kilograms (2023: 547 kilograms). As at 31
March 2024, if the market price of gold had
increased/decreased by 5%, post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 March 2024, due to changes
in fair values of gold contracts, would have
been approximately HK$12,477,000 (2023:
HK$11,277,000) lower/higher respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (@) MBEREE (@&

128

(iii)

(iv)

Commodity price risk (Continued)

The gold loans (Note 32) are settled at maturity
which usually mature in 1 to 3 months (2023:
1 to 6 months) from date of inception and the
fair value changes are immediately recognised
in the consolidated income statement. As at 31
March 2024, gold loans of HK$1,065,805,000
(2023: HK$390,627,000) represents gold loans
involved cash settlement. As at 31 March 2023,
gold loan contracts of 69 kilograms amounted
to HK$34,487,000 are outstanding and involved
physical settlement.

As at 31 March 2024, if the market price of
gold had increased/decreased by 5%, post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024, due to
changes in fair values of gold loans, would have
been approximately HK$44,497,000 (2023:
HK$17,774,000) lower/higher respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash and bank balances, deposits with banks
and financial institutions, trade receivables,
rental and other deposits, other receivables,
mainly including other receivables arose
from prior disposal of a subsidiary and other
receivables from licensees. Credit risk is
managed on a group basis. Management has
policies in place to monitor the exposures to
these credit risks on an on-going basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&

Cash is deposited with financial institutions
with sound credit ratings and the Group has
exposure limit to any single financial institution.
Transactions involving financial assets and
derivative financial instruments are also executed
with counterparties of sound credit standing.
Given their high credit ratings, management
does not expect any of these financial
institutions will fail to meet their obligations.

Management has performed recoverability
reviews on trade and other receivables regularly
and actively followed up the overdue balance
of trade and other receivables in order to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. In relation
to trade receivables related to retail sales,
retail customers normally settle in cash or
credit cards issued by major banks with low
credit risk, mitigating credit risk. The Group’s
concessionaire sales through department
stores and online sales platforms are generally
collectible within 30 days from the invoice date
while credit sales are generally on credit terms
within 90 days. Normally the Group does not
require collaterals from trade debtors. The
Group performs periodic credit evaluations of
its customers, taking into account their financial
position, history of default and other factors. The
utilisation of credit limits is regularly reviewed.
No material credit limits were exceeded during
the reporting year, and management does
not expect any material losses from non-
performance by these counterparties. For other
receivables, mainly including other receivables
arose from prior disposal of a subsidiary and
the receivables from licensees, to manage
credit risk, the Group has considered the
long-established business relationship with
the counterparties and obtained security in
the form of guarantees and collaterals which
can be called upon if the counterparty is in
default under the terms of the agreement. As
at 31 March 2024, these receivables were fully
performing, and the credit risk is assessed to be
insignificant. Refer to Note 22 for details.

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HABAREZE (&)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued) (iv) EEARE (@
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management (Continued)

The Group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated balance sheet. Except for the
financial guarantee given by the Group as set
out in Note 36, the Group does not provide any
other guarantee which would expose the Group
to credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets and other item
Expected credit losses are unbiased probability-
weighted estimates of credit losses which are
determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes and taking into account past events,
current and future conditions, on the ability of
the Group’s customers and creditors to repay
the debts.

The Group has derived the expected loss rate
by referencing to historical payment profiles,
credit rating analysis and external default data
to determine the probability of default of its
financial assets and other item and incorporated
forward-looking information, including significant
changes in external market indicators which
involved significant estimates and judgements.

The Group has the following types of financial
assets and other item that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

° Cash and bank balances;

o Trade receivables;

° Deposits and other receivables; and

o Financial guarantee contracts

3 MBRKREE (@)
(a) MBEARER (B

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)
All bank balances and bank deposits are held at
reputable financial institutions with sound credit
ratings and there is no significant concentration
risk to a single counterparty and there is no
history of defaults from these counterparties.
The expected credit losses are close to zero as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for trade receivables. The
expected credit loss provision rates for
trade receivables are based on historical
payment profiles and historical credit
loss experience, adjusted to reflect,
where relevant and appropriate, current
and information specific to the debtors,
future economic and market conditions
and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the debtors to settle the receivables that
the Group considers are reasonable and
appropriate.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers
with significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually.
These include receivables from
department stores in Mainland. As at 31
March 2024, there were in aggregate
of loss allowances of approximately
HK$52,000 (2023: HK$199,000) in
respect of these individually assessed
receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

MIBEERERE (&)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (@) MBEREE (@&
(iv) Credit risk (Continued) (ivy EEEKE @

Impairment of financial assets and other item THEERAMELE

(Continued) (#&)

()  Trade receivables (Continued) () EBEZEWRRE @&
Measurement of expected credit loss on BEHEEEFEFAH
collective basis EEfE15
Expected credit losses are also estimated JEHEEmBEZAR
by categorising the remaining trade HUGEERBEHEN
receivables based on the nature of BEERPZMHEDSE
customer accounts sharing the similar HEZEWREET
credit risk characteristics. These include et HEARBIEKREE
receivables from electronic payment FEARBHEER A
service providers, department stores MBEE®S  AME L
in Mainland, online sales platforms in HEF A @R
Mainland and individual wholesalers/ 7/ &b hE T 09 FE UK AR
licensees. Trade receivables have been BB EWIRIBELE %
further grouped based on the days past BHAREE— P DM
due.

The following table presents gross carrying TREFR2024%3H
amount of the trade receivables and the 31H K%2023FE3831H
loss allowance provision analysed by HWEZEWRKREBENIER
aging band as at 31 March 2024 and 31 HBEERZRRHE
March 2023: DITEEESE
130 31-60 6190  91-180  Over 180
days days days days days
Current pastdue pastdue pastdue pastdue pastdue Total
bl bkt bl t] il (] paak
As at 31 March 2024  4202453H31H EP&R 1-30X  31-60K  61-90K 91-180%K 180KM L st
Gross carrying amount  BREI4E(E (T387T)
(HK$'000) 21341 24006 14,614 4,929 831 104 265825
Lifetime expected FHEHEEEERE
credit loss alowance  (F37t)
(HK$'000) o o 5 = o (59) (52)
1-30 31-60 6160 91-180  Over 180
days days days days days
Current past due past due past due past due past due Total
aH il piak:i] k) ks
Asat 31 March 2023 12023438318 B 180K 3160k 610K  91-180K 180RM L @t
Gross carrying amount  BREI4E(E (T387T)
(HK$'000) 183883 12157 10828 1538 218 398 214,022
Lifetime expected 2HBEHEEEEEE
credit loss alowance  (F37T)
(HK$'000) - - - - - (199) (199)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

U)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the expected
credit loss rate is 0% (2023: 0%) for trade
receivables aged current to 180 days past
due, and 50% (2023: 50%) for those aged
over 180 days past due, respectively.
Expected credit loss is close to zero for
the trade receivables aged current to 180
days past due as there is limited recent
history of default.

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
includes, amongst other, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan
within the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

3 MBEREE (@
(a) FMAHERER (@
(v) fEEER @)
PHEERRMELRE

(#)

U)
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AR MR M T

HK$279,000 (2023: reversal of
loss allowance of approximately
HK$1,832,000) was included in the
consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

(i)  Other financial assets
Other financial assets include deposits and
other receivables, mainly including other
receivables arose from prior disposal of
a subsidiary and other receivables from
licensees that are subject to the expected
credit loss model.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFSESEEIE (&)
Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HABAKEZE (&)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued) (ivy EEEKE @
Impairment of financial assets and other item THEERAMELE
(Continued) (#&)
()  Trade receivables (Continued) () EBEZEWRRE @&
Measurement of expected credit loss on BEHEEEFEFAH
collective basis (Continued) EEEE (B)
The movement of loss allowance for trade BSEWRENEIR
receivables as at 31 March 2024 and B 2024 %2023
2023 is as follows: FIHTHNEEFWM T -
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TFAET
Opening loss allowance 4818 Z F¥EEEH
at 1 Apri (199) (2,031)
Reversal of loss allowance 51813 #[0] 279 1,832
Acquisition of subsidiaries UEEMI B AT (Fi5£34)
(Note 34) (52) -
Exchange difference ERER (80) -
Closing loss allowance MR3A31H Z FREEEE
at 31 March (52) (199)
A reversal of loss allowance on trade BSEWREBENEIR
receivables amounted to approximately BB D14 2279,000

BT (20234 : E518#
#$3[81491,832,00058
7o) st A B E2024£3
B1HIEEENES
Brmke

HiEHMEE
HEMEECRE®
TR EMBEWERE =
PEELEMEE —R
MEABEEZHA
FE UL BR T e 2K B dm 2
Bz HMERERE 5
ZAHEEEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(i)

Other financial assets (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental deposits and utilities and
management fee deposits. These deposits
are mainly placed with various landlords
and property management companies in
Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland and other
regions and are due to refund upon the
expiry of the tenancy agreements and
handover of the leased premises. As at
31 March 2024, management considered
that the risk of default for such deposits
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, therefore, the impairment
provision, which is determined based on
the 12-month expected credit loss, is
assessed to be close to zero.

Management has closely monitored the
credit risk in relation to other receivables
arose from prior disposal of a subsidiary
and other receivables from licensees. As
at 31 March 2024, certain guarantees
and collaterals from counterparties are
held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. Furthermore, the risk of default of
the counterparties is assessed taking
into account their repayment history,
financial position, and other factors,
including the economic environment in
which the counterparties operate. As at
31 March 2024, these receivables were
fully performing, therefore management
has considered that the credit risk of these
receivables has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and the impairment
provision, which is determined based on
the 12-month expected credit loss, is
close to zero.

M EREE (8
MEERER (&)
(v) fEEER @)

EHEERAMEL BE

(&

(i)

HihsmEE (&)
& K H fh FE WL BR 18
FTEAHERERA
REEREEERS-
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M ENSEETRY
¥EENT) wARTHE
EwmzREmkxx B
EYERIRE - 722024
F3H31H EEER
AZERETNEVR
B EVBER R
BEEN > FILRE12
BEEHREEFER
EZREEETIES
B

EEERYERARH
BIHE—XKWB AT
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RkEmEEmZE M
FEWERIENEE R
R2024%3831H
MFEEREHF AN
BT ERRIEHER U
HEBEEERR UL
o RAREFANE
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AR (BEHFHK
ERKEIREE) &1
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#EBE o FR2024FE3H
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2EEHN RAILEIER
RAEZERKTERN
BAR B IE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(i)

Financial guarantee contracts

As at 31 March 2024, there was no
corporate financial guarantee issued
by the Group to any independent third
parties. For the year ended 31 March
2024, prior to a step acquisition of a
prior associate (Note 34), the maximum
amount that the Group guaranteed
under the respective contracts was
HK$1,075,000,000, which represents
50% of the aggregated amount of bank
facilities granted to a prior associate.
The bank facilities utilised by the
prior associate was approximately
HK$1,746,000,000, which were partially
secured by pledged bank deposits of
the prior associate of HK$887,778,000.
Prior to the step acquisition, the
Group recognised a loss allowance of
HK$50,816,000 in the consolidated income
statement in accordance with expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9.

Immediately before the step acquisition
date, the loss allowance recognised
amounted to HK$87,647,000.

As at 31 March 2023, the maximum
amount that the Group guaranteed
under the respective contracts was
HK$1,075,000,000, which represents
50% of the aggregated amount of bank
facilities granted to a prior associate.
The bank facilities utilised by the
prior associate was approximately
HK$1,643,500,000, which were partially
secured by pledged bank deposits of a
prior associate of HK$836,140,000. As
at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
a loss allowance of HK$36,831,000 in
accordance with expected credit loss
model under HKFRS 9.

3 MBEREE (@
(a) FMAHERER (@
(v) fEEER @)
PHEERRMELRE

-

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets and other item

(Continued)

(i)  Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)
The credit risk on financial guarantee
contracts represents the risk of default of
a prior associate. The Group assessed the
default risk and measured the expected
credit loss arising from such financial
guarantee contracts. Details of the
financial guarantee contracts are set out in
Note 36.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances
and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of and upgrades on
property, plant and equipment, payment on
debts, purchases and operating expenses. The
Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and
bank borrowings, as necessary.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure it
maintains sufficient cash and bank balances and
has available funding through adequate amount
of committed credit facilities to meet its working
capital requirements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows, including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates, based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

MIBEERERE (&)

MBREREZ (&)
(iv) EEEE (@

v)

EHEERAMEL BE

-
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (@) MBEREE (@&
(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) wENEERARE @&
Maturity Analysis — Undliscounted cash outflows BRI A T — KRR 2
T E
More than More than

1 year 2 years but Total
Repayable Within but less less than  undiscounted
on demand 1year  than2years 5years cash outflows
Bia—F BREME  KEWEE
BREKRE —-Fh  EOREE  EOREE B

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEn TEn TEn TEn

As at 31 March 2024 1R202453A31H
Trade payables and BRENRER
other payables HitEMERE - 946,116 - - 946,116
Lease liabilties with interest MERMRIENHEEEE
payables - 330,175 216,165 117,155 663,495
Gold loans with cash settlement B4R EELEE 1,065,805 - - - 1,065,805
Bank borrowings FITEM 362,000 - - - 362,000
1,427,805 1,276,291 216,165 117,155 3,037,416
More than More than
1 year 2 years but Total
Repayable Within but less less than  undiscounted
on demand 1 year than 2 years 5years  cash outflows
BE—5 BBRE  ARERS
BREREE —ER  BLRWE  EIREE  RHEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
As at 31 March 2023 R202383831H
Trade payables and other payables & 3 RE(TERERE M
AR - 1028033 - - 1028033
Lease liabilties with interest WEEMRIENHEESR
payables - 198,681 94,246 58,663 351,590
Gold loans with cash setlement  B& X EE2EE 390,627 - - - 390,627
Bank borrowings RITER 115,020 - - - 115,020
505,647 1,226,714 94,246 58,663 1,885,270
As at 31 March 2024, there was no corporate R2024FE3831H » AEE
financial guarantee issued by the Group to any EEAABILIE=HRERD
independent third parties. Bl TR 0
As at 31 March 2023, the Group issued PR2023FE3831H » AEET
corporate financial guarantee to banks B —KpiE QB iR
in respect of bank facilities granted to a MERRITEL QB MBEE
prior associate. The maximum amount the RoWERZHFHRRZ
Group could be required to settle under the 8 AEBEREERESE
arrangement for the guaranteed amount if the ZHOISEATHREZRE S
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the %8 41,075,000,0005% 70 (M
guarantee was HK$1,075,000,000 (Note 36). 5%36) ©
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HABAKEZE (&)
(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) RENVEZRE (&)
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings and gold FEIH 247 — RIFE B IX
loans with cash settlement subject to repayment MR ZRITEM KRBT E
on demand clauses based on scheduled B2 EEZES (BIZEN
repayments including interest payables. FIE) o
More than More than
1 year 2 years Total
Within but less butless undiscounted

1year than2years than5years cash outflows
Bia—F BAmE  KMREE
—FR  ELREE  EOREE RHEEH

HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx TERT FER® FTERT

As at 31 March 2024 2024538310
Bank borrowings RITER 362,250 - - 362,250
Gold loans with cash settlement  BETIESEE 1,066,203 - - 1,066,203
1,428,453 - - 1,428,453

As at 31 March 2023 2023538310
Bank borrowings RITER 115,246 - - 115,246
Gold loans with cash settlement ~ BETEEEEE 390,801 - - 390,801
506,047 - - 506,047
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a)
(v) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative
financial instruments that will be settled on a
gross basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at 31 March
2024 to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not

BERABEE @)

(v) wENEERARE @&
TRIBENR2024E3831H
2B THEESHNREHEA
A IS R AR BR EL AR 4
HRNTESRIERAER
EIHRERET Do TR
WENEEAGHNRLIRIA
EMEB-HNERENEER
Ko 1218 B A I HA Y 45 8%
BN EREEHRBES

significant.
More than More than
1 year 2 years Total
Within but less butless undiscounted
1year than2years than5 years cash flows
Bia—F BAmE RERRE
—&R BLREE BOREE e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET THET
As at 31 March 2024 2024435318
Foreign exchange forward contracts  SMERHEEH)
- Inflow —mA 1,668 - - 1,668
- Outflow — 1,676 - - 1,676
As at 31 March 2023, there were no KR202343H31 8 » AE M}
outstanding derivative financial instruments for EAEBETEEMI R
the Group.
(b) Fair value estimation (b) AnfEfHE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets,
including cash and bank balances, trade and other
receivables and deposits and the Group’s financial
liabilities, including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities.

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price.
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AR E AT AR MYEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities not
traded in active markets are estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair values, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

MBERER (59
(b) 2AnfEfHEH (&)

ARERTHZEENEHEER
BEZAREBEDHRAEERTREM
TRTAAERZHERTEHNE
MIERREGHRTREMMGSt -

TERARBGEZHRARETD
RNEMTANDH -ERENS
EARAIENT

s FREENEEHELTEDS
ERRE CRERFE) (B—
#R) ©

s BE—MAEENREN
EESNBENTER BE
%) S (B BRI H) B
ZRFBEAE BZR) -

o WIFREAERERTHHEE
ENEESEEHAE B
TRHBRBAB FE=M -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMERMEIE @&

(b) Fair value estimation (Continued) (b) 2nEMH @)
The following table presents the Group’s financial TREF|AEER2024F %2023
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair FIRNHEAANEBEFENEME
values at 31 March 2024 and 2023. EREmMame
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1k $4 B st

HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR FERT FET TR

As at 31 March 2024 142024538310
Liabilties 8B
Derivative financial instrument fTEEMIA - 8 - 8
Gold loans with cash settlement BeXi=sEE - 1,065,305 - 1,065,305
As at 31 March 2023 12023FE3H31H
Assets BE
Financial assets at BRAREFTARM
fair value through other 2HBAZ
comprehensive income TREE 788 - - 788
Liabilities =6
Gold loans with cash settlement BERIESEE - 390,627 - 390,627
As at 31 March 2024, there were no liabilities 2202453831 H » REBBEELE QR
measured at fair values for the Group. The following BtENEaE TREF AEEFR2023
table presents the Group’s liabilities that are measured FIRINBRANEFENEE
at fair values at 31 March 2023.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—k B4 B8 st

HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

As at 31 March 2023 1R2023F3H31H
Liabilities &
Gold loans with physical settlement ~ BE&XEZEEEES - 34,486 - 34,486
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
transfer out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused
the transfer.

(b)

There were no transfer between levels 1, 2 and 3
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

There were no significant changes in valuation
techniques during the year.

@

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the balance sheet date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the market share price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

3 MBEKEE (B)

(b)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments in level 2 (Continued)
Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

° The fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts is determined using forward
exchange rates at the balance sheet date,
with the resulting value discounted back to
present value.

o Other techniques, such as discounted
cash flow analysis, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.

The fair value of gold loans is determined using
discounted cash flow valuation technique
reference to quoted market bid price of gold
traded in active liquid markets as a key input.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payments to shareholders, issue of new shares or
obtain new bank borrowings.

3 MBEKEE (B)

(b)

(c)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

QnfEfhEt (8)

(i) SB-HKAZEMIA @)
AREEERIANKER
BERMeE :

e HUITEMTHRE
BRZERE -

e JSNEEHAEMANAR
BEREERZERE
REE FTEEZEE
AR R st R E -

o HAEAM AIMIREIRIR
EREDM > BUEE
HHFEMBIANAR
Be

BEEBENARETERRM
RREMNEMERMERE
WEEREERSTIEESE
ZEEZHHBEAREFR
FTEHARIE-

BRERER
FEREESANERA/RES
EEFREFIES  REMARE
RO B EMA mAREE FE M
A a0 R (R FFER AR B B A 2R 48 1L
IR E AR ©

AEBEREARE LRABLE
RIBHEEFH AR - B RITNA
BEARE AEEARAEZNTF
RERBYIR B~ SITHTAR IS HTRY
IR{TER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E 23
e I ER RN
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFSESEIE (&)
(c) Capital risk management (Continued) (c) BEXERER @
The Group also monitors capital on the basis of KEBTUBEEELXERHE
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as BEX-BREEWLXEZNFEE
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/(cash) FRUMBERGE FEE/ B
is calculated as total borrowings (including bank ThZERBRE (BRERITER RS
borrowings and gold loans) less cash and bank FEE) BIREMIRTTHEGES
balances. Total capital is calculated as “equity”, as Ho@EARTL MR (WMEREE
shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net EBEXRT INFEEE (RE)
debt/(cash). FESEH
The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure RE B 2024 5F 2023538 31H
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023: ZERREDHAOT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAERT FAET
Bank borrowings (Note 31) RITER (FI5E31) 362,000 115,020
Gold loans (Note 32) swEE (f5E32) 1,065,805 425,114
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIRTTAER
(Note 25) (Hf5E25) (1,998,219) (2,347,651)
Net cash FIRE (570,414) (1,807,517)
Total equity AR ER 12,863,898 12,220,942
Total capital mER 12,293,484 10,413,425
Gearing ratio BEEELE N/AFER N/AT 78 A

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a solid capital
base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term.

FEENRBASERRENESR
B UAREBEREBERREM
REISZH-
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the
consolidated financial statements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are set out below.

(@) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
[t could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycle. Management reassesses these
estimates at each balance sheet date.

4
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets including
trademarks (other than goodwiill)

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, related depreciation or amortisation
charges for its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets including trademarks (other than
goodwill). This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets including trademarks of
similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation or amortisation charges where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives. It will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable or amortisable lives and therefore
depreciation and amortisation expense in future
periods.

Valuation of trademarks acquired

The fair value of trademarks acquired are determined
using valuation techniques. The Group’s management
uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions based on financial budgets and
forecasts covering a period of over 10 years approved
by management and estimated terminal value at the
end of the budget period.

RRSR & sH& 5t R #IER (48)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Valuation of trademarks acquired
(Continued)

There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow forecast for
the period covered by the approved budgets. Key
assumptions include average sales growth rates,
average gross margin rates, terminal growth rates
and discount rates to reflect the risks involved.
Management prepares the financial budgets and
forecasts reflecting actual and prior year performance
and market development expectations. Judgment is
required to determine the key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow forecasts and the changes to the
key assumptions and hence the result of valuation of
trademarks.

Details of the valuation methodology and key
assumptions are disclosed in Note 34.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of
goodwill is determined based on the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal or value in use
calculations. The recoverable amount calculations
primarily use cash flow forecast based on financial
budgets and forecasts covering a period of 5 years
approved by management and estimated terminal
value at the end of the budget period.

There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow forecast for
the period covered by the approved budgets. Key
assumptions include average sales growth rates,
average gross margin rates, terminal growth rates and
pre-tax discount rates to reflect the risks involved.
Management prepares the financial budgets and
forecasts reflecting actual and prior year performance
and market development expectations. Judgment is
required to determine the key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow forecasts and the changes to the key
assumptions and hence the result of the impairment
reviews.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

No impairment has been recognised in the year
ended 31 March 2024. Details of result of impairment
assessments, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in
Note 18.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets including property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets including trademarks (other
than goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to sell.
These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that the
related asset values may not be recoverable; (i)
whether the carrying value of asset can be supported
by its recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test and as
a result affect the Group’s reported financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance and
resulting future cash flow projections, it may be
necessary to take an impairment charge to the
consolidated income statement.

RRSR & sH& 5t R #IER (48)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(e)

)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, after
reviewing the business environment as well as the
Group’s strategies and past performance of its cash-
generating units, management concluded that there
was no impairment of property, plant and equipment
(2023: HK$1,467,000) or right-of-use assets (2023:
HK$1,407,000). Also, no impairment has been
recognised for investment properties and intangible
assets including trademarks (other than goodwill)
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in the assumptions used in the impairment
reviews would not affect management’s view on
impairment at 31 March 2024 (2023: Same).

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Mainland and other jurisdictions. Judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes
in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations during the ordinary course of
business for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such as differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred income
tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities relating to undistributed
profit of those subsidiaries in Mainland are recognised
based on the undistributed profit of those subsidiaries
in Mainland generated since 1 January 2008 which is
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.
When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and liabilities and
taxation charges in the period in which such estimate
is changed.

4 FAEESHEE RAIER ()
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors and senior management collectively
are identified as the chief operating decision-makers
(“CODM”"). The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The
operating segments are reported in accordance with the
internal reporting reviewed by the CODM.

The CODM considers the business by nature of business
activities and assesses the performance of the following
operating segments:

Retailing — Hong Kong, Macau and overseas

i Retailing — Mainland

ii. ~ Wholesaling — Hong Kong

iv.  Wholesaling — Mainland

V. Licensing

CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on segment results. Finance income and
costs, share of results of an associate and corporate income
and expenses are not included in the results for each
operating segment that is reviewed by the CODM. Other
information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude interests in an
associate, certain leasehold land and buildings, investment
properties, deferred income tax assets, income tax
recoverable and corporate assets, all of which are managed
on a central basis. Liabilities of reportable segments exclude
deferred income tax liabilities, current income tax liabilities,
bank borrowings, gold loans, financial guarantee contracts
and corporate liabilities, all of which are managed on a
central basis. These form part of the reconciliation to total
assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Sales to external customers are stated after elimination
of inter-segment sales. Sales between segments are
carried out at mutually agreed terms. The revenue from
external parties, assets and liabilities, reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement and balance sheet.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEEHR @)
Year ended 31 March 2024
HEN4FIPANALEE
Retailing -

Hong Kong, Inter- Reportable
Macau and Retailing -  Wholesaling-  Wholesaling - segment segments
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing elimination total
ZE-FE - & - RS
HIREIH At &% fust REEE  DNHEHE poiEhy

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FiEgn FiEn Fign Fi#n FiEn Fign FiEn

Revenue - at a point of time WA-RERE

Sales to external customers WIERHE 9,885,611 2,863,204 108,527 1,433,852 - - 14,201,084
Sales of scrap HERN - - 212 - - - 212
9,885,611 2,863,294 108,739 1,433,852 - - 14,291,496
Inter-segment sales DEEHE 103,197 651 2,543,267 163,264 - (2,810,379) -
Sales of merchandises WeEs 0983808 2863045 2652006 1,597,116 - (2810379 14291496
Revenue - over time WA -1 —ExF5ES
Royalty and senvice income RERERBERA - - - - 939,065 - 939,065
Consultancy fee income BEERA - - - - 95,401 - 95,401
Total st 9,988,808 2,863,945 2,652,006 1,597,116 1,034,466 (2,810,379) 15,325,962
Results of reportable segments ~ FJ 2R I 1,052,531 194,322 80,752 105,332 719,705 - 2,152,642
A reconcliation of results of EEEGEES Etan)yil
reportable segments to profit HIRNT

for the year is as follows:

Results of reportable segments T 2RAEH 2,152,642
Unallocated income AREWA 349,402
Unallocated expenses FROERZ (386,421)
Operating profit s 2,115,623
Finance income B 28,977
Finance costs HHER (59,596)
Profit before income tax PRFRTSHRAT IR 2,085,004
Income tax expenses Frigtis (327,166)
Profit for the year FERET 1,757,838
Add: Loss attributable o I JEER R R LA

non-controlling interests 9,467
Profit attributable to equity SARRGEEE AR

holders of the Company 1,767,305
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEEF G
Year ended 31 March 2024
HE2024E3ANBLEE
Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and Retailing - Wholesaling-  Wholesaling -
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing  Unallocated Total
TE-EH TE- #HH- -
RAIRES Ftt ] At e FAE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T TR TR TR TR TER TR
Depreciation of property, % BERRERE
plant and equipment (29,862) (13,531) (792) (14,214) (10,054) (40,915) (109,368)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRBEEITE (301,392) (23,741) - (328) (3,938) (17,787) (347,186)
Depreciation of investment properties R B EHE - - - - - (29,121) (29,121)
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESH - - - - - (6,870) (6,870)
Net provision for impairment SHEERMBERAE
losses on financial assets and BREETE
financial guarantee - 279 - - - (50,816) (50,537)
Addition of goodwill (Note 18) BERE (f1518) - - - - 277,674 - 277,674
Addition of intangible assets (Note 18) Ef/EERE (fizH18) 60,198 206,985 - 26,286 250,642 - 544,111
Additions of other non-current assets  H3ERBEERE
(excluding right-of-use assets and (FEEEREEER
by acquisiton of subsidiaries) WREKEAT) 52,173 22,885 350 18,278 13,59 189,928 297,200
Additions of other non-current assets KBS I EA B AYEMIER
by acquisition of subsidiaries BE (F1OEFREER)
(excluding right-of-use assets) ARE 1,811 10,754 - 19 235 3,483 16,302
Additions of right-of-use assets BREEE (TaEKE
(exclucing by acquisition of WBAR) KB
subsidiaries) 574,023 19,756 - - - 383,014 976,793
Additions of right-of-use assets by~ WEMBAGNERREE
acquisition of subsidlaries (Note 34)  7RE (HizE34) 8,674 683 - - - 11,843 21,200
As at 31 March 2024
1R2024%3A31H
Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and Retailing -  Wholesaling-  Wholesaling -
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing  Unallocated Total
FE-F&. FE- #E- #HH-
ls)-3: fsth i st RIBER RAE EeHy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET TR TF#T FHET TR TF#T
Segment assets NBEE 6,938,580 2,512,415 705,380 2,546,408 1,233,123 13,935,906
Leasehold land and buidings HELHKIET 1,490,047 1,490,047
Investment properties REME 925,726 925,726
Deferred income tax assets BEFEREE 154,648 154,648
Income tax recoverable AKREFMER 29,465 29,465
Other unallocated assets EtFNEEE 318,272 318,272
Total assets BEE 16,854,064
Segment liabilities AHaE (864,044) (144,820) (29,002) (209,413) (788,664) (2,035,943)
Deferred income tax liabilties EEFRRAR (119,789) (119,789)
Current income tax liabilfies HHFRRERE (171,847) (171,847)
Bank borrowings SRITER (362,000) (362,000)
Gold loans HEfRE (1,065,805) (1,065,805)
Other unallocated ligbilties HhRAERAR (234,782) (234,782)
Total liabilties aaf

(3,990,166)
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEFEN (@)
Year ended 31 March 2023
HZE023FIBAILERE
Retalling -
Hong Kong, Inter- Reportable
Macau and Retaling-  Wholesaling-  Wholesaling - segment segments
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing elimination total
TE-FE TE- - HE- 2R
RPIR S it B st RIEEE  HDEHH DER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TERT TET TR TER FEL
Revenue - at a point of time WA-RERE
Sales to external customers WINERHE 6,464,974 2,306,955 104,580 2,047,466 - - 10923975
Sales of scrap HERN - - 407 - - - 407
6,464,974 2,306,955 104,987 2,047,466 - - 10,924,382
Inter-segment sales NEEHEE 53,772 1,870 1,871,171 56,850 - (1983,669) -
Sales of merchandises HEBR 6,518,746 2,308,825 1,976,158 2,104,316 - (1,983,668) 10,924,382
Revenue - over time WA -1 —Ex RS
Royalty and service income RS RREERA - - - - 960,695 - 960,695
Consultancy fee income BRERA - - - - 92,767 - 92,767
Total st 6,518,746 2,308,825 1,976,158 2,104,316 1,063,462 (1,983,663) 11,977,844
Results of reportable segments ~ FJ 2R I 549,384 132,598 10,399 254,728 776,527 - 1,723,636
A reconcliation of results of EEEGEES )yl
reportable segments to profit HIRNT
for the year is as follows:
Results of reportable segments ]2 L4 1,723,636
Unallocated income FRERA 138,266
Unallocated expenses ANEREZ (285,727)
Operating profit mEER 1,576,175
Finance income BBIBA 33,125
Finance costs HHBER (20,763)
Share of results of an associate BlE—REENTEE (23,146)
Profit before income tax FRFRR AR 1,565,391
Income tax expenses FrigHS (280,664)
Profit for the year FRiEH 1,084,727
Add: Loss attributable to M FERERREER
non-controlling interests 30
Profit attributable to equity SATERFE AEGET

holders of the Company 1,284,757
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SHEERE @&
Year ended 31 March 2023
HE0BEFIHLEE
Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and Retaling-  Wholesaling-  Wholesaling -
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing Unallocated Total
ZE-FH 2E- & e
RPIRES i i st RIBEH FAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TR
Depreciation of property, NE BERRENE
plant and equipment (14515) (11,642) 892 (12,329 (0.554) (34,174) (83,100)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREBEEITE (256,844) (21,945) - (345) 4,131) (5,359) (288,624)
Depreciation of investment properties B E#EHTE - - - - - (34,389) (34,389)
Provision for impairment on g BEREGHERE
property, plant and equipment (1,467) - - - - - (1,467)
Provision for impairment on CRESERERE
right-of-use assets (1,407) - - - - - (1,407)
Net reversal of impalrment SHEENESBEDTE
loss on financial assets - 1,832 - - - - 1,832
Additions of non-current assets FRBEERE (FREER
(excluding right-of-use assets) (Note) %) (2£) 39,826 23478 79 20846 14,991 102,439 202,376
Additions of right-of-use assets (Note) GEEEERE (K 224,840 39,807 - - - 264,266 529,003
Note: P 5T
During the year ended 31 March 2023, included in the additions of non- HZE2023F3ASHIEEE  IERBEEREHE
current assets and right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment of BENAEFCEEREURAMZ ZEXER
HK$98,380,000 and right-of-use assets of HK$264,266,000 were transferred ANERYERCRBEBRENE - BRERKE
from prepayments for the acquisition of several commercial properties located 98,380,000 71,5 15 FA ## & 264,266,000 7T ©
in Mainland for owner’s occupied purpose.
As at 31 March 2023
2023358318
Retalling -
Hong Kong,
Macau and Retaling-  Wholesaling - Wholesaling -
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing Unallocated Total
TE-FE TE- Hh¥- HE-
RMRES it B st eSS FAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEn TiEn TEr TER TiEr
Segment assets NHEE 5,751,856 1,755,619 902,250 2,778 445 953,514 12,141,684
Leasehold land and buildings HELHKET 925,396 925,396
Investment properties REME 1,127,727 1,127,727
Deferred income tax assets EEFMRREE 146,666 146,666
Income tax recoverable Bl EEEE 19,724 19,724
Other unallocated assets EtRNEEE 567,309 567,309
Total assets sEE 14,928,506
Segment liabiltes HHaE (534,371) (56,087) (90,447) (216,527) (834,070) (1,731502)
Deferred income tax liabilties EEFERAR (59,656) (59,656)
Current income tax liabilties NEmERas (1 25,424) (125,424)
Bank borrowings RITER 115,020) (115,020)
Gold loans HERE (425 14) (425,114)
Financial guarantee contracts HBERAN (36,831) (36,831)
Other unallocated liabilties EtFNEEE (214,017) (214,017)
Total liabilities aafE )

(2,707,564
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by location in which the
transaction took place is as follows:

FEEH (B
BRPET BB D 2 FEBRAS
A -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET

Revenue WA
Hong Kong &5 6,510,151 4,360,265
Mainland P ith 5,286,146 5,391,825
Macau and overseas R Y R ig ah 3,529,665 2,225,754
15,325,962 11,977,844

During the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue recognised
of HK$162,962,000 was included in the contract
liabilities balance as at beginning of the year (2023:
HK$165,173,000).

Management expects the full amount of contract liabilities
balance as at 31 March 2024 will be recognised as revenue
in the next year (2023: Same).

The Company is domiciled in the Bermuda while the Group
operates its business primarily in Hong Kong, Mainland,
Macau and overseas. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
no revenue was generated from the Bermuda and no assets
were located in the Bermuda (2023: Nil).

Accounting policy for revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax, sales returns and discounts,
after eliminated sales within the Group.

B E2024FE3HA31HIEFEE > BELZ
WA 162,962,000 T ESF AFETNEDN
B E4EE (20234 : 165,173,0005&7T) ©

BEEBIEFTN2024FE3831HZ &K &
BEGRENRES BRI AWA (2023
AR °

RABMIRERE MAEETERS
BB EEE - BE
2024F3H3THIEFE  TENBRE
EEXWATEEEMNERE (2023
&Fm) o

W B AR 0 @ RSB
WamtE A~ EERABEHFRTHEEY K
RHRGZMEBERIERAEBZARE
W R RRIEER VIRE RITN L
HAREENE ZHERBERTIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEEE (4B)

Accounting policy for revenue recognition
(Continued)

(a)

Sales of goods - wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of gold and
platinum jewellery and gem-set of jewellery products
in the wholesale market. Sales are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the licensees/
wholesalers, the licensees/wholesalers have full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the acceptance of the products. Delivery
does not occur until the products have been delivered
to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the licensees/
wholesalers, and either the licensees/wholesalers
have accepted the products in accordance with sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

A sales refund liability and an asset for the right of
return goods are recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the credit refund or return which
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group entitled.

A contract liability is also recognised when the
licensees/wholesalers pay deposits before the Group
transfers control of the products to the licensees/
wholesalers.

Wi o B SR BV & B TSR (48)

(a)

HEGm— %

REBRGERNMETS LHE
—RIENTEHMRAKREEME
e BEMZEFRREERRE BIE
ERXMTmERE HMEm &
R HEBHEEERNES
REREAZENER BXE
RETEENERZEHERNE
WeBs) c SHERRTL TR - EE
mENEEEEMR BERKEBR
R B SR T MR, H B 0 T
mhEE MEBMERBHESH
RUE i IBUBIRRRE 1FRE » A
EEAEFHEBRT A ZRE
MELETR BRMMFERNE

[}
aon °

HERERMNHERNERBRE
ENRiREEEAERDPES-
EEXBRPEBEEIGHEER
MERE EBAEEBRERY
AENETRZRERA-

S

mhRE BN AERRE
MV ERIREE T QIR
BRI RER TERIS08

f&e
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEEE (4B)

158

Accounting policy for revenue recognition
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Sales of goods - retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores selling a
variety of gold and platinum jewellery and gem-set
jewellery products. Revenue from the sales of goods
is recognised when the product is transferred to the
customer who takes delivery in store.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
when the customer purchases the gold and platinum
jewellery and gem-set jewellery products. It is the
Group'’s policy to sell its products to the end customer
with a right of return within one year at an agreed
discount on the original selling price. A sales refund
liability and an asset for the right of return goods are
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. The
Group uses the expected value method to estimate
the sales refund or return which best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group
entitled.

Royalty and service income

Royalty and service income in respect of the use of
the Group’s trademarks is recognised over time on
an accrual basis in accordance with the substance
of the relevant agreements. The refund of credit to
licensees when certain credit refund criteria is met
are considered as variable consideration. The Group
uses expected value method to estimate the credit
refund which best predicts the amount of variable
consideration to which the Group entitled.

Consultancy fee income

Consultancy fee income in respect of technical
support and consultancy services are recognised over
the period in which the services are rendered.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by
the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence,
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

Wy &5 BEST RO & SHECR (48)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E AT AR MYEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5

Accounting policy for revenue recognition

(Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
(other than deferred income tax assets, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, certain deposits, prepayments (except
for prepayments for purchase of properties and
equipment) and other receivables and interests in an
associate) by location of assets is as follows:

2024

Macau and

Hong Kong Mainland  overseas
2 mit RFIRES
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér TEr TEn

SEPER (48
Wi o B SR BV & B TSR (48)

REEFMEME D2 FEBIFR
HEE FBRELEPMMSREE
BAnESFARMEARAZSE
MEE -ETHS BAAREMRE
ME R FHZ AN IRERIN KE
MEWRERN —KBE AT Z
) DU -

2023

Macau and
Total HongKong Mannland  overseas Total
@it &8 mit EFRESN Bt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKH000
Té8r TEn TEx  TErn  TEn

Property, plant and ¥ BERRE

equipment 527,272 556,803 92,119
Investment properties  REY¥ 216,45 709,270 -
Right-of-Use assets FHREEE 346,711 789,286 210,146
Goodwil BHE - 271674 -
Intangiole assets BHEE 50438 477,803 -
Prepayments for purchase SBEYE Rk EZER

of properties and R

equipment - - -
Trading licence B 1,080 - -

1,176,194 475606 354482 88382 918560

925,726 281,352 846,375 - 1enner
1,346,143 141418 395508 133,182 670,008
211,674 - - - -
537,24 - - - -
- - 3,681 - 3,681

1,080 1,080 - - 1,080

1,150,957 2,810,836 302,265

4,264,058 899546 1600046 221514 2,721,106
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AR E AT AR MYEE

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HftllA
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Government subsidies BTN
— Value-added tax (“VAT”) refund (Note () —1gEMR (NEER)
Bar (BFEE() 13,467 37,786
— Other government subsidies (Note (i) —H B e (O %) 61,963 77,328
— Employment Support Scheme (Note (i) — TMREEZE) 513 (B (i) - 24,000
Rental income FHEWA 70,886 64,244
Others HAth 50,865 25,501
197,181 228,859
Notes: fisE
0] This represents refund from the tax authority in Mainland. The amount i b A% B AR FFIER 2 RN B EEE

of refund is based on the VAT payment made in excess of 4% of
the original input VAT. The Group is entitled to the refund as it is a
member of the Shanghai Diamond Exchange and the diamonds are
imported through the Shanghai Diamond Exchange.

(ii) This mainly represents subsidies from a municipal government in
Mainland.
(iii) The amount represents salaries and wage subsidies granted under

Anti-Epidemic Fund by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region for the use of paying wages of employees from
May to July 2022.

Accounting policies for other income recognition
(@) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease period.

(b) Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

BB RERIE ERN4%F H 2 18 BRI G
HoHRNAEER LEHARZAZME
MEATER LBEARFIED A%
EARERR

(i b E B2 A BT 3 2 Rk o

(i)  EEEHEBEBITHE BT IRERE 7
BESRUZFESRIBHM BRZIE
BR2022F5AE7TRZ TE-

H i A FES2H & 5H B ER
(@) MEWA
AEZ WA LB -

(b) EXRTHEED
EARERERWEME  BARE
B 28 T — TP 5 1 1R BF > R 48
B H R R EREEE o
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A BREN

A\ AN

OPERATING PROFIT 7 KEEH
The operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) the KERM&RR GtA) TFIEBEERZRY
following: iR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FAT
Cost of sales (Note (i) tHE A (BFEE()
— cost of inventories sold —-BEFEMRX 10,868,146 8,503,872
— cost of licensing business — R EB A 283,477 243,575
11,151,623 8,747,447
Staff costs (including the directors’ ETHA (BEESHD)

emoluments) (Note (i) (B 5(i)) 967,143 796,496
Expenses relating to short-term leases T E R ATEAE MR

and variable lease payments ek 188,870 135,456
Rent concessions related to COVID-19 WemERIEREESES - (10,576)
Commission expenses to TR FEAREMER 2

payment service providers HEAX 96,171 69,769
Depreciation of property, ME -BERREITE

plant and equipment (Note 15) (M95E15) 109,368 83,100
Depreciation of investment properties KEYEITE (H3E16)

(Note 16) 29,121 34,389
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) R EERE (fizE17) 347,186 288,624
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) ER B E#BHE (H:E18) 6,870 -
Provision for impairment losses on property, ~ #1%  kE K& & & RE

plant and equipment (Note 15) FEEE (HE15) - 1,467
Provision for impairment losses on FREREERESEEE

right-of-use assets (Note 17) (M95E17) - 1,407
Advertising and promotion expenses BEREGERS 106,886 91,586
Other taxes Hhina 111,264 105,601
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE BERREZ

plant and equipment 518 3,600 11,033
Gain on lease modification HEETT W= (275) (1,678)
Legal and professional fees EEREEER 20,882 11,618
Auditor’s remuneration ZE B &

- Audit services — BT 7,218 6,052

— Non-audit services —IFELIRTS 2,980 1,848
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7 OPERATING PROFIT (Continued) 7 BEEN G
PfsE -

Notes:

(i) Save as disclosed above, staff costs of HK$330,474,000 (2023: (i)
HK$336,660,000) are included in cost of sales.

PR EHLISh  SHERABIERE TR A
330,474,000 7T ( 20234 : 336,660,0007

(i) Breakdown of total staff costs are as follows:

7T) °

(i ETRAMEMADMT :

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Basic salaries, wages, bonus and allowance EAR§E 5 & {CALR 2RS 1,214,262 1,028,408
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRORE ALAS — E BB AR AT &
(Note 13) (FF5E13) 79,565 70,350
Long service payment (Note 30) RHAR®EE (MH5£30) 3,790 34,398
1,207,617 1,133,156
8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8 Hftwlkzm ~ (5H) - F48
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Net realised losses on derivative THEERIAZBEER
financial instruments (Note (i) BEEEE (i) (27,326) (8,191)
Net realised (losses)/gains on 2LEEZBEEI (518
gold loans (Note 32) /W HEE (Hf5E32) (20,188) 38,427
Net unrealised losses on gold loans HEeBEZREIREE
(Note 32) JEEE (M95E32) (73,541) (24,236)
Net realised losses on gold loan FEWESEEZBEEIR
receivables (Note (iii)) EEEEa (B 5Eii) - (32,569)
Net realised gains on exchange ZHMNESH 2 BEIR
forward contracts (Note (ii)) U328 (M=) 2,075 5,408
Net unrealised losses on exchange ZHASMES N 2 REIR
forward contracts (Note (ii)) 538 %58 (M) 8) -
Remeasurement gain on previously held LRIFBE —KABEAT
interests in a prior associate, net (Note 34) 1% > EFHstEWE
PEE (MEE34) 186,711 -
Fair value gain on settlement of a AR A E A E]
shareholder loan due from a prior BEERZ AnEWRE
associate (Note 34) (Fz£34) 26,756 -
Net exchange (losses)/gains ER (58 W F58 (2,273) 3,763
92,206 (17,398)
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AR E AT AR MYEE

8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (Continued) 8

Notes:

(i) Derivative financial instruments mainly represent gold contracts and
platinum future contracts. These derivative financial instruments are
not qualified for hedge accounting within the context of HKFRS 9.

(i) Exchange forward contracts are not qualified for hedge accounting
within the context of HKFRS 9.

(iii) As at 31 March 2022, gold loan receivables represent a loan of
physical gold of 121 kilograms borrowed by a licensee, a prior non-
controlling shareholder of a disposed subsidiary. The balances are
interest bearing at 5.50% per annum and repayable by semi-annual
instalments over 5 years from June 2020 with physical settlement,
which are secured by collaterals including certain properties located in
Mainland, inventories of the licensee’s retail shops and equity interests
in certain private entities related to the licensee. The balance of gold
loan receivables was fully settled during the year ended 31 March

Hitwigss < (§548) - 388 (48)

5T -

0 TEERMIARTIERESAORBEHE
BR-NERUBREENBORED ZF
MTEEMTATT L TEHERL-

(i REBMBREENFSRER ZFEHR
SNEENRTEHPEER

(i) R2022F3831H  FENE S EEIERIERE
(—REHEMBAT 2 AT FFERRKE)
&2 BMRER121A T &S RRIGERE
5.50%5t 8 ¢ i 78 EH2020E6 3 EE5ER T ¥
FEUBYRENHHEE HLURH SR (81
fIRAMZETYE REBZ2SEEES
RARREmERzETHABE R F
IR B E2023F3H3THILEE ) ERES
BEZEHRERRBEE-

2023.
9 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 9 WM ER) WA B
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Finance income: WA
- Bank interest income —IRITHIEUA 26,129 29,197
— Interest income on other receivables —HMEWERE B
WA 1,995 3,329
— Interest income on gold loan receivables —EWEEEEZFE
WA 853 599
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 28977 33125
Finance costs: MBER
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings —RITERZHEHZ (31,280) (8,837)
— Interest expenses on gold loans —=5xEBEZHEH% (3,551) (3,233)
— Interest expenses on gold loans from —MA—REEEART
a director BEZHMEME (811) (776)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEsGEZHER% (23,954) (7,917)
... (5959  (20763)
Finance (costs)/income, net 3% (BR) WA » iBEE (30,619) 12,362
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164

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising from
Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2 million of estimated
assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining estimated assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2023: Same). Taxation on overseas profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year
at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

10 FhiSTRRASZ

ERANEBRIERBRAFEREEBESE
Z BT FEERFR A 3L 0 K 16.5% 51 1
BOEARER KRB ARG ZA
BT EaMMBEIFESNEGNEZEE &
WEB AR Z GstERER TP 8288
BITI%8.25% 2 M EMIR > T ERML 5T
FERFEFI%16.5% 2 MEEM (2023
FER) BIMNEN ZRIBEILMAEE
TR R IR A E B E=HEAERR
BRMESHE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Current taxation: BUHERTRIE !
- Hong Kong profits tax —E5BFER 63,857 8,313
— Mainland and overseas taxation — U K B INR B 228,345 217,969
— Withholding tax on dividend declared —RAMEIREEZ
in Mainland Fafnig 46,848 36,583
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years —BEFEE BEESB
BETRE (10,699) 21,478
Deferred income tax (Note 29) IEIEFRSHR (B95E29) (1,185) (3,679)
327,166 280,664
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10

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax
calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to the profits of

10 FRiSHIRISZ ()
A8 B FRSIAT A 2 AR E RS
AREREREAHBERENZEHR
Yz REEEBReEERN

the consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as T
follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Profit before income tax BRPTISIR AT & A 2,085,004 1,565,391
Add: Share of results of an associate e EE—BERABES - 23,146
2,085,004 1,688,537
Tax calculated at domestic tax BERAREEEER
rates applicable to profits in HAHNEMRETFTE 2
the respective jurisdictions HI1E 338,965 242,448
Income not subject to taxation BERRZ WA (43,998) (9,338)
Expenses not deductible for a0z 2 H
taxation purposes 15,073 5,230
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE GBERE)
BETRE (10,699) 21,478
Tax losses of which no deferred RHEDIRILIRIBEEY
tax asset is recognised MIEE1E 10,615 3,034
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AR UERERRIEE 1B
tax losses (6,335) (3,768)
Withholding tax on undistributed profit I B A B R DK
of the subsidiaries in Mainland A Z FEINR 23,545 21,580
327,166 280,664
Note: B 5E

The Group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules. Of
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, Canada and Malaysia
enacted Pillar Two legislation during the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Group applies the exception to recognising and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar
Two income taxes, as provided in the amendments to HKAS 12
issued in July 2023.

The Group has assessed the effective tax rates as per HKAS 12 of
Canada and Malaysia based on the financial data for the year ended
31 March 2024. Based on the assessment, the effective tax rates as
per HKAS 12 of Canada and Malaysia are both above 15%. Due to
the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating Global Anti-
Base Erosion Proposal income, even with accounting effective tax rate
of above 15%, there may still be Pillar Two tax implications.
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166

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
Accounting policies for current and deferred
income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

10 FR{SIREZ (8)

BB B IEFRS TR BV & STEL SR

HNMIER X BEIARIEIERIE - 1R
ARG EmRES HHRRERE
fthEEW AR ERN ER R ZE
BERERI -EXBRT RETE
DHREthEEWARERR Ba g

.
x5
a0 ©

HAMM AR IR R 5T E BRI UK
ABERER& ZBRMESREGER
FEAIRE T TR ZR A RBARE

HEHEE

(@) ENHAFRTSR
AR A DB EARE
ARBAREMNBABRKERESE
ERRVUAZBEREEMBHREE
MRz AT E - BIEE EHsT
MERREBELIREAEFREZER
ZIRIAFR IR ERENIE T > 3 AR
BHRASSAJERZTEER
R r~EERERAELRES
RN TAHEE (R AIE S AR
TR N EERROBRT F
ME) stEHRIEEER
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10 FhiSIREESZ (&)
EPHARAEIEFRIS IR BV & 5B SR (48)

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
Accounting policies for current and deferred

income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

(b)
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EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 SREHN
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on BREEABADBEARAD DR
the Group’s profit attributable to equity holders of the BEANEEARERFEFA,767,305,000
Company of HK$1,767,305,000 (2023: HK$1,284,757,000) 7t (20234 : 1,284,757,0005 7T)
and the weighted average number of 587,107,850 (2023: RERASETEBRZMEFLHSH
587,107,850) ordinary shares in issue during the year. 587,107,8500% (20234 : 587,107,850
i) st8 -
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March HR TR EDEHTREBETE S REN
2024 and 2023 are the same as the basic earnings per @R WA E20244F K&2023F 34531
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares HEFESREESRIEERERR
outstanding during the years. FAE[E o
DIVIDENDS 12 RS2
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FAT
2023/24 interim dividend, paid, of HK$0.72  B.Jk2023/24F E AR
(2022/23 interim dividend: HK$0.55) per REREBR0.72ETT
ordinary share (2022/23F FEHER
RS : 0.55%87T) 422,718 322,909
2023/24 special interim dividend, by way 2023/24F E R HARKR S
of distribution in specie of Hong Kong MUEYMDREABERER
Resources Holdings Company Limited BRAR (EEER)) 2
(“HKRH”) shares (Note (i) Pz HREIK (HIEE) ) 28,404 -
2023/24 final dividend, proposed, of HK$0.64 ##/k2023/244F fE R £ A%
(2022/23 final dividend: HK$0.55) per EEREER0.64ETT
ordinary share (Note (i) (2022/23F EREARE. !
0.557%87t) (&%) 375,749 322,909

Notes:

(i)

On 28 March 2024, the directors resolved to declare a special interim
dividend in form of a distribution in specie of 24,071,422 issued
shares of HKRH. Based on the closing price of HK$1.18 per issued
share of HKRH as traded on the Stock Exchange on 28 March
2024, the aggregate market value of the distribution shares was
HK$28,404,000. The dividend distribution in specie was equivalent to
HK$0.05 per ordinary share.

At a meeting held on 28 June 2024, the directors recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.64 per ordinary share. Such
dividend is to be approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company on 15 August 2024. The aggregate amount
of the proposed dividend is expected to be paid out of retained
earnings at 31 March 2024, but not recognised as a liability at year
end.

5T -

0] 2024538280 » EHH RS IKFEFRIFH
B UBY DIRG9 IKk24,071,42208 &
BERCEITRM - RIR2024F38280F
REZETEBERER RN I B FT AU
HmESRI18ETHE DIRRMDNEHE
#528,404,00078 7T ° KRR I BE EAEE R
@ A0.0578 7T ©

(ii) R2024F6B28H BT GFE L EFEH
TAT RIS SRR EEAR0.64B T BRI
B ABREEARATN2024E8F15AE4T
ZREBERY EHE - FEIRRKR B AREE
# B 122024FE3831H Z R BB F] FIK(T
ERERHRERAE G
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13 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS 13 BIKEFIREZS
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Net contributions to pension plans charged Riz&BE RPN
to the consolidated income statement BB ERTUSERE 79,565 70,350
The expense is recognised in the following line items in the BRI GEERERZUTEERE
consolidated income statement: R
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Cost of sales & A 28,020 27,980
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER 44,244 36,734
Administrative expenses THER 7,301 5,636
79,565 70,350
Notes: B 5E
[0) The Group contributes to a MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong 0] AEEAEEBREESR AT ELAER
Kong, under which both the Group and each employee make monthly B BItAEE RS EELERREEZEE
contribution to the scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the HIMAS%RIEEAERZR KGR HMRE LR
employee, subject to a maximum of HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per 51,5007 70 (20234 © 1,50057T) ©
month.
(ii) The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland also contribute to retirement (ii) AEE R A M EA B N ESTERE R
plans for their employees in Mainland at a percentage of their salaries MHEAZHREAERRMNEEFHAE
in compliance with the requirements of the respective municipal e — B2t BARETEIMER - MEF R
governments in Mainland. The municipal governments undertake BAEAEBRPRAMBMEIRE MARKIE
to assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and future KEBZBIKEHEE-

retired employees of the Group in Mainland.
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14 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable to the

14 EEREHREEASEF RiEDS
() EEREETHASME

FARNERAEERESITH

directors and chief executive of the Company during ABZNE4ERENT ¢
the year were as follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Fees e 1,705 1,705
Salaries e 14,950 13,081
Performance and discretionary BRIBIBEERZTEA
bonuses 58,053 60,807
Contributions to pension plan BIREETEIMERR 595 538
Total directors’ emoluments, payable B & E it & M # R =
and expensed in the consolidated S BRI
financial statements 75,303 76,131

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a
person’s services as a director, whether of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

MABAA T EREE RS NENE
NEEFENHEYME :

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H$E20245E3831HILEE

Performance Estimated Employer's

and money  contribution to
discretionary Housing  values of other a retirement Total
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits  benefit scheme emoluments

Name of director and RERRE HitigRIZ EXmEHk
chief executive EZRERIHAARS ik & BHzitd EEE  GHEREE  BUGBER Hess
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiE#n TR FiE#R TR FER TR
WONG Wai Sheung (Note) BEE ) 55 5614 31,804 - - 28 37,811
WONG Ho Lung, Danny BitE 110 1,39 - - - - 1,506
WONG Lan Sze, Nancy BEE 55 975 12,583 - - 49 13,662
WONG Hau Yeung Eacl ] 55 1,148 9,934 - - 57 11,194
CHAN So Kuen E3] 55 4368 3,642 - - 27 8,282
TSE Moon Chuen #Hz 55 1,329 - - - 2% 1,408
HUI Chiu Chung it 110 60 - - - - 170
LI Hon Hung TERE 110 60 - - - - 170
P Shu Kwan, Stephen® 3l 300 - - - - - 300
MAK Wing Sum, Alvin* p2% 300 - - - - - 300
WONG Yu Pok, Marina* B 250 - - - - - 250
HUI King Wai* SEE 250 - - - - - 250
1,705 14,950 58,053 - - 595 75,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

14 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14 EERSREIEASEIIRIELS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) (&
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s () EERESITTHASME @&
emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIE2023F3831HIEFE
Performance Estimated Employer's
and money contribution to
discretionary Housing ~ values of other a refirement Total
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits  benefit scheme emoluments
Name of director and RERENE HftgRlz BIRER
chief executive BERERTHABLS ik e B2l EREEE  BHENEE  BHEER Meum
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fén T TiEn T TiEn TER TiEn
WONG Wai Sheung (Note) EEE () 55 5212 41,88 - - 206 46,821
WONG Ho Lung, Danny Bith 110 180 - - - - 290
WONG Lan Sze, Nancy Ei 5 909 8,936 - - 40 9,940
WONG Hau Yeung 55 55 1,060 7,055 - - 47 8217
CHAN So Kuen BEE 55 4070 2,587 - - 180 6,892
TSE Moon Chuen BN ES 55 1470 941 - - 6 2,581
HUI Chiu Chung FER 110 60 - - - - 170
LI Hon Hung TEE 110 60 - - - - 170
P Shu Kwan, Stephen® =3l 300 - - - - - 300
MAK Wing Sum, Abin® A 300 - - - - - 300
WONG Yu Pok, Marina® B 250 - - - - - 250
HUI King Wai* STRE 250 - - - - - 250
1,705 13,081 60,807 - - 538 76,131
# Independent non-executive directors # BUERITES
Note: BdsE :
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung is also the chief executive officer of the BREBRETARAT ZITHMESR
Company.
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14 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

14 EEREHREEASEF RiEDS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) ()]
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (@) ESRESTHASME (&)
emoluments (Continued)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Aggregate emoluments paid to or MIERARBHEME
receivable by directors in respect of AT EE 2 RFE AT
their services as directors, whether ~ EE S EEEUR
of the Company or its subsidiary Bl & 48 %8
undertaking 1,705 1,705
Aggregate emoluments paid to or MEMEEAABHHE
receivable by directors in respect of MIBASEFH 2 EE
their other services in connection HipRF e ;e
with the management of the affairs il 4858
of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking 73,598 74,426
75,303 76,131
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EEZEBAREN
Except for the employer’s contribution to a retirement Fr(a) BTN E 2 B F ERAKEF
benefit scheme as disclosed in (a), no other retirement sHEIMH RSN B E2024FE3H31H

benefits were paid to the directors of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 in respect of
their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries (2023: Same).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c)
None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: Same).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for (d)

making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
did not pay any consideration to any third parties
for making available the services of themselves as
directors of the Company (2023: Same).
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14 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
were entered into by the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking in favour of the directors of the Company,
a controlled body corporate or a connected entity of
such directors at any time during the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: Same).

14 EEREHREEASEF RiEDS

)

(e)

BRANES - ZEEEZ2EE
ZERAEERASEAZE
PEUSRREMEEZE
REE2024F3831HIEFERNE
ARE AT HEKNBA B
FEIIUNUANBDESE ZEESR
ZERELEAREEEREATTA

B BLUEREEMEEZH
(20234 : #8[E) °

Directors’ material interests in transactions, N EZBEFENXKZ THHEHZE
arrangements or contracts K
Save for transactions disclosed elsewhere in the notes FRZERE M IRR W E A SR
to these consolidated financial statements, no other DIREZ X RN AR B L
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts KEBEBITUARAESENHE
in relation to the Group’s business to which the FEERERIEEERARE
Company was a party and in which a director of the FE2024F3H31H L FEHERFF
Company has a material interest, whether directly or EREAFBERZEHEMEAR
indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during P BHEREH (20234 1 #8[E) ©
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Same).
Five highest paid individuals (0) HDBESHMAL
Among the five highest paid individuals, four (2023: All TEEeHFMALTES mEH
of them are directors of the Company and the details (2023%F . 28F) AALBEE>
of their remuneration are disclosed in the preceding HEZMEFBEEN LERFE-
paragraph.
Senior management’s emoluments (hy SHREEBEASHE
The emoluments fall within the following bands: BEZMENF T4 -

2024 2023
Nil - HK$1,000,000 ZE%1,000,00078 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 752 1,500,0007 75 = -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7875 Z2,000,0007 75 = -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 22,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 75 £ 3,000,000 75 -
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 E3,500,00078 7T = -

5 3

Senior management represents senior management
staff who are non-directors.

SREEEEFEFZSREEAER-
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ME - -BERSE
Furniture
and fixtures
Land and Leasehold and computer Plant and Motor  Construction-
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles  in-progress Total
i RER
IHREF REMEERE Bz BERHE "E TRIR ag

HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET ThL Thn ThL ThR TEL ThR

At 1 April 2022 120204818
Cost [ 867,590 541,914 219,463 56,636 21,732 45,789 1,753,124
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment  23HTEREE (121,995) 492,769) (177,756) (48,915) (19,105) - (860,534)
Net book value REFE 745,595 49,151 41,707 7,721 2,627 45,789 892,590
Year ended 31 March 2023 BENBEIRINALFE
Opening net book value FREEE 745,595 49,151 41,707 7,721 2,627 45,789 892,590
Additions HE 98,380 49,133 35,146 6,011 1,266 12,341 202,217
Disposals HE - (7,778) (5,444) m - - (13,229)
Depreciation charge (Note () mEZL () (29,944) (26,151) (21611) (4,011) (1,383) - (83,100)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 16)  BEZREME (H316) (58213) - - - - - (58213)
Transfer =t 39,781 - - - - (39,781) -
Impairment losses (Note (i) AEES (1) - (1467) - - - - (1,467)
Exchange differences ERES (9,69) (765) (1,935) (554) @ (7,256) 20,298)
Closing net book value EXRRAFE 785,903 62,123 47,863 9,160 2418 11,093 918,560
At 31 March 2023 1¥202353R310
Cost 779 929,825 491,295 217,952 57,494 20,809 11,093 1,728,468
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment £t ERE (143,922) (429,172) (170,089) (48,334) (18,391) - (809,908)
Net book value BESE 785,903 62,123 47,863 9,160 2418 11,003 918,560
Year ended 31 March 2024 HENUFI[NALERE
Opening net book value ERESE 785,903 62,123 47,863 9,160 2418 11,003 918,560
Addtons HE 181,417 61,806 38,557 6072 2201 7,156 297,200
Acquistion of subsidiaries (Note 34) WERBAE (k) - 10,200 5,678 - 424 - 16,302
Disposals HE - (95) (8,454) (66) - - (3,615)
Depreciation charge (Note () FEZH (3H) (36,899) (43,732 (23,397) (3,995) (1,345) - (109,368)
Transfer from investment BRELENE (HiHe)

properties (Note 16) 76,264 - - - - - 76,264
Transfer a5 - 8,131 - - - (8,131) -
Exchange differences EREE (14,983) (1,025) (1,934) (452) (138) (626) (19,158)
Closing net book value EXEEFE 991,702 97,408 63,313 10,719 3,560 9,492 1,176,194
At 31 March 2024 142024%3A318
Cost [ 1,181,550 547,708 242,664 59,076 21,344 9,492 2,061,834
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment  E3tHTERE (189,848) (450,300) (179,351) (48,357) (17,784) - (885,640)
Net book value REFE 991,702 97,408 63,313 10,719 3,560 9,492 1,176,194
Notes: e -

0] HTEERA 22,591,000 7t (20234F : 3,563,000
HBiT) Bt AHE A~ 100,258,000 7T
(20234 : 72,687,000 7T) Bt A E
R & E A 6,519,000 7T (20234 :
6,850,0007870) BT AITHEMR ©

[0} Depreciation expense of HK$2,591,000 (2023: HK$3,563,000)
has been included in cost of sales, HK$100,258,000 (2023:
HK$72,687,000) in selling and distribution costs and HK$6,519,000
(2023: HK$6,850,000) in administrative expenses.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i)

()

The Group considers each individual retail store as a separately
identifiable cash-generating unit. Management performed impairment
assessments for the retail stores that had impairment indicator.
The carrying amount of the retail store asset is written down to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is in excess of
its estimated recoverable amount. The estimates of the recoverable
amounts were based on value-in-use calculations using discounted
cash flow projections based on the management’s forecasts covering
the remaining tenure of the lease, with major assumptions such as
change in revenue, change in running cost and change in gross profit
and product mix.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment HK$1,467,000 and right of-use
assets HK$1,407,000, respectively in ‘selling and distribution costs’ in
the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 March 2024, no bank borrowings were secured by fixed
assets. As at 31 March 2023, bank borrowings of HK$115,020,000 in
aggregate were secured by land and building of HK$301,023,000 and
investment properties of HK$69,898,000 in aggregate. Refer to Note
31 for details.

The market value of the Group’s land and buildings were
approximately HK$1,167,934,000 (2023: HK$934,221,000) as at
31 March 2024, comparing to the carrying value of approximately
HK$991,702,000 (2023: HK$785,903,000). Such market value
is determined by an independent valuer, AVF Corporate Valuation
Advisory Limited who holds a recognised and relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the location and category
of the land and buildings being valued, with comparison approach
(2023: Same).

Accounting policy for property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

15 % BB K= (@)

MiEE © (8

(i FEBRAEBENTEEHRBILTH
MREELSEU - EEEESHRLRBAETR
NEEEHETRETG - HEEEHEE
ZEREEBHEMG TN EIEER  BIARME
EZREEMEEHEATKEIEEE ARG
AIREIERELIREEEE RERF THER
BTRA) - SRR SR ETHRIFT st ERIE
FREETMEE et R U A S EERA
2 ENREREAEHEIZRR-

HE2023F3A31BIEFE > ZAEARFE
BRRZ THERDHEMEI PYE - -BRER
S5 R (E B8 781,467,00058 7T 0 M RS
ERERES1,407,0008 7T

(ii) 2202438318 I MU E T & EK T
BIIRITIE R - 1A202343831 8 » iR171E
AE 115,020,000 Tt H R igF
&$301,023,0008 TR EMESH
69,898,000 L 1EIK I o 15 F 2 BIMI 5
310

(iv) R2024E3831H  AEBZ T K18
FrHEA#1,167,934,00058 7T (2023
£ 1 934,221,000 7T) » HEEREENA
991,702,000 7T ( 20234 : 785,903,0003
70) BT ERBILGEEMMECEHE
BHBERAT FERA REMEEER
WHRFEEL M RIEF 2 UERER AR
A THAER) WILEUAE T (20234 1/
@) °

ME - BERREHENE R

M BB e SR TH IR E L R AR AT ER
SiR-EEMABEEWREZSTEEEE
R Z RSz

ERRBEEARZ BREENE IR
AREE > BZIRE Z A FEH Pl 5T
B HEMA DG AZBEEZR
HEXNEIA—BBHIEE REAE
MME) - BEERDZREEREERK
IEHESR - PREHMEERFESNHEE
FHMBHBRNERGEm AR
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Accounting policy for property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and 50 years or over the unexpired

buildings lease period of leasehold land,
whichever is shorter
Leasehold 5 years or over the unexpired
improvements lease period, whichever is
shorter
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
and computer
equipment
Plant and machinery 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction or pending installation and is
stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on assets under construction
in progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use. On
completion, the relevant assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment at fair value or cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 18).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
net proceeds with carrying amount of the relevant assets
and are included in the consolidated income statement.

15 % BB K= (@)

ME - BERRFHENEEE (8)

WENFEREGEN AT ERE
D EHM A FIRRRISHER 58 ¢

HE Tt RIEF S0FIZAE LM
MR ERHARE U]
REE )

HEYEEE  SFEIIRBLEERE

B (UBREE BE)

R KB 5%

BiRE

Kk tE 5%
RE 5%F

BEEZHNBREENERFHESER
Bigsy > WEEERHE -

FRIBEERRTAGFTRENYE
o P2 5 % 1 > I 422 B A TR R (B S 48 (1N
B) IR ERIEE NEEL AMELHT
Effm BEEHBEELRTWA{ERTE
RERBLE-RETHR BEEERAR
BRMAR R EBREREYE
o 5 Be s o

HEEZREESRAMGFSTWRESE
B AZREEZREEGHRHURE
HeWe[ol88 (95E18) o

HERBEBZBRAEREFEEAHE
EZRAELEREEL S AGEER
*o
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 IREWME
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
At 1 April #4818
Cost %N 1,362,672 1,132,360
Accumulated depreciation RETITE (234,945) (124,754)
1,127,727 1,007,606
Year ended 31 March HESAHLEFRE
Opening net book value FEREFE 1,127,727 1,007,606
Additions B - 99
Transfers (to)/from property, plant and B (®) BVE-BEXR
equipment and right-of-use assets REUARGREEE
(Note (iii)) (B 2 (i) (129,467) 224,977
Depreciation (Note (ii)) ITEE (PT5%(i) (29,121) (34,389)
Exchange differences PE =28 (43,413) (70,566)
Closing net book value FREEFE 925,726 1,127,727
At 31 March #3H31H
Cost B As 1,164,893 1,362,672
Accumulated depreciation RETITE (239,167) (234,945)
925,726 1,127,727

Amounts recognised in consolidated income

MIEEMERGSHRERPERZ

statement for investment properties &8
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T TET
Rental income from operating leases KEREZHEESWA
(Note 6) (MFzE6) 70,886 64,244
Direct operating expenses arising EFESWAZKEEYZE
from investment properties that FTE B ERS
generate rental income (32,236) (85,014)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Fair value (Note (i) N E FEEE) 1,445,409 1,736,921
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Amounts recognised in consolidated income
statement for investment properties (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The fair value of the investment properties was determined by an
independent valuer, AVF Corporate Valuation Advisory Limited, who
holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of the investment
properties being valued, with comparison approach (2023: Same).

Depreciation expense of HK$29,121,000 (2023: HK$34,389,000) has
been recorded in administrative expenses.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has leased
certain office premises to a prior associate, and classified those
office premises as investment properties, with carrying amount
of HK$129,467,000, on the consolidated balance sheet. After a
step acquisition of the prior associate to a subsidiary, the Group
has reclassified such investment properties to property, plant and
equipment of HK$76,264,000 (Note 15) and right-of-use assets
of HK$53,203,000 (Note 17) due to the change of use as owner-
occupied.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group ceased to use
certain office premises classified as property, plant and equipment
with carrying amount of HK$58,213,000 (Note 15) and right-of-use
assets of HK$166,764,000 (Note 17). The Group intended to rent out
these offices premises and reclassified them as investment properties
accordingly.

Future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
leases are as follows:

16 IRBEWE &
MEEMERGSHRERPERZ
&% (8

MsE

0

(i)

(i)

)

REMEZ AABETHBUGEMHER
EAEEFZABRAT EFBRIRERE
EER TRAIEEZREDEZMERE
A7 EHEA KR MBI E (2023
F AR ©

FrERX29,121,0008 T (20234 :
34,389,000 70) ERTTHERBF AR

B E2024F3R31HIEEE  AEFBDHE—
RS AR HEETMAEYE  UZ
FMAEYEDBAKRENE REEEE
B ERMNIREEA129,467,0005 7T ° R & H
WA E AT ANBARR AEEER
AR AXTERMEEHARENES
WMDBEYE BB R K#76,264,0008 7T

(MI5E15) Ko A # & E53,203,00078 7T (Mt
F17) o

HE2023F3A31 B IEFE > ZEBMAHE
BETHBEAVE BERZENRAG
BRMEIE58,213,0007%8 7T (HI5E15) KfEAES
EEIRE{E166,764,000%8 70 (fi5E17) o ANEME
REAZEMA B MIRLEERSEAER
EC/EL

RBET AT HH 2 AEMN R RBERZ RE
THESMEEMT ¢

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Not later than one year —FRN 63,684 79,936
Later than one year and not later than five years —ER&BARBBAESE 123,911 171,776
187,595 251,712

As at 31 March 2024, no bank borrowings were secured by fixed
assets. As at 31 March 2023, bank borrowings of HK$115,020,000 in
aggregate were secured by land and building of HK$301,023,000 and
investment properties of HK$69,898,000 in aggregate. Refer to Note
31 for details.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)
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16
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Particulars of investment properties
As at 31 March 2024

16 REME (&

7202453531 H

Attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
bk B it FEBRGEGZERL
Office A on 10th Floor, Bank Tower, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Nos. 351 and 353 King's Road, for rental
North Point, Hong Kong
BB AR EE KRI5EREBTLI10IEAE BEAELAE RHERTRA)
Flat 3 on 10th Floor, Hong Kiu Mansion, Commercial building Short-term leases 100%
No. 313 Nathan Road, Yaumatei, Kowloon, for rental
Hong Kong
SANE R AZES 13 EB R E10183E [EEFNEEE ySEELER!
Luk Fook Jewellery Centre, Jordan, Commercial building Long-term leases 100%
No. 239 Temple Street, Kowloon, for rental
Hong Kong
BANREEHEER9R A REER D BEAELHE Y
Unit 15 on 3rd Floor, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%

Guanghua Changan Building,

No.7 Jianguo Men Nei Avenue,

Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC
FEERHRAEREPFINAGTRERZAESE
15%

for rental

[EEINCE

IR
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AR MR M T

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Particulars of investment properties (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

16 IREME (@
BREMESH @
72024538310 (&)

Attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
bk B it FEBRGEGZERL
Units 1907-1910 on Level 19, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Tower 1, Kerry Everbright City, for rental
No. 218 West Tianmu Road,
Zhabei District, Shanghai, the PRC
FEEETELEXEABISREEARNE—E BEAELAE FERTEA
191%1907-1910ZF
Units A1802 on Level 16, Fullink, No. 18 Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Chaoyang Men Wai Avenue, Chaoyang District, for rental
Beijing, the PRC
FEIRTHRERRFNAEISRERER6E  BEAELRE FERTEA
A1802E
Level 32-34, Reith International Building, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Xinxiu Village, Xinxiu Road, Luohu District, for rental
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
FEEREARIMBNENARNTANGEBRERAE BEAELHE FRERTRAY

32-3418

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Particulars of investment properties (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

16 IREME (@
BREMESH @
72024538310 (&)

Attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
i B il rEERGRTZEAL
Units 2807, 28th Floor, Block 1, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Yongwei Times Centre, Zhangba Second Road and for rental
Jinye First Road, High Technology Zone, Xian City,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC
FERASALTaMEL N\ ZRRBE—RKEE BEASLHE FERTRA
R0 E281E2807E
Units 1401-1412 on Level 14, Units 1501-1512 Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
on Level 15, Units 1601-1612 on Level 16, for rental
Block B, IBC, No. 3008 Buxin Road, Luohu District,
Shenzhen City, the PRC
FEFINTENERLB008TKERELHBAE  BERNEHA HERTRA
(IBC)BE14121401-1412% ~ 151£1501-1512% ~ 1618
1601-1612%
Unit 3101-3112 on Level 31, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%

Units 3201-3212 on Level 32, Units 3301-3312

on Level 33, Units 3401-3412 on Level 34,

Units 3501-3512 on Level 35, Block B,

IBC, No. 3008 Buxin Road, Luohu District,

Shenzhen City, the PRC

BRI S & 50 30085 K BB S A=
(IBC) BEE311£3101-3112% ~ 321$3201-3212% * 331%
3301-3312% ~ 341%3401-3412% * 351£3501-3512F

for rental

[EEINCEx

RHIRA
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Accounting policy for investment properties
Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land
and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and is not occupied by the Group.

Investment property is measured at cost, including related
transaction costs, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method
to write off the cost of the investment properties over
their estimated useful lives of 30 to 50 years. Where the
carrying amount of an investment property is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probably that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment. At the date of
reclassification, its cost and accumulated depreciation are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and become
its cost and accumulated depreciation for accounting
purposes. If an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, it is
reclassified as investment property.

16 BWE (@)

REMENGSHE
REVFETEZHEE LM RBFRAE
B RESRPESRENERAER
mEFRBMER > BXIFAREE (G
=D

REMERAAE (BEEEXZER)
HRRHTERRFHRERE WH) 7
fRo

WERBEGENERBAB0ESF 2
EET A E A F MR EDEZ A -
HREVEREESNEMGTWREE
g2 RUBDBSMUB E K P IR Bl 28

EREEEREAZBREEN =
MARER > BZBEB Z A FEH R 5
SRR B BEEREENRERE
X oPRBEHEMEERFRERNEINREEZ
MBHBERGEm R

HREMFEHEETER MEHDER
ME-BERRE-REFIEEH>
HlAERAITENBREEYE - KF
K&t WARIR G 51 R A A H Al A< £
Rt E -HETERNERAERS
MlBREDE  IEMDERREYD
o,
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= A +
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17 LEASES 17 #HE
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) MEEEEAERHEIAZEEHE

balance sheet

2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FAT

Right-of-use assets EREEE

Opening net book amount FYEREFE 670,058 601,635

Additions RE 976,793 529,003

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)  UXBEHI B AT (FI5E34) 21,200

Depreciation (Note 7) Es (MysE7) (347,186) (288,624)

Transfer from/(to) investment 'R (B REYE

properties (Note 16) (fF5E16) 53,203 (166,764)

Impairment losses (Note (i) AERSE (B 5X (i) - (1,407)

Lease modification HEELT (2,031) (365)

Exchange differences e =8 (25,894) (3,420)

At 31 March W3831H 1,346,143 670,058

Notes: BdsE -

i) The Group leases various retail spaces and premises and (i) AEEHESEASETHRYEN
warehouses. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed KRE -HEGHNBERIESFEZE
periods of 1 to 5 years but may have extension options. Lease EHARR > B A - A E R IZ
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide ERIEER » SIESE R RRRTR R
range of different terms and conditions. The Group also leases o RERE TN A EE T LM
certain land use rights in Mainland. These land use rights are B -zE T MEREZHENT16
leased for a period of between 16 and 51 years on which ES1F N AEERERIEFE
plants and buildings of the Group are situated on. it o

(ii) Extension and termination options are included in a number of (ii) AEBNZBEREHYEELERRE
leases across the Group. Most extension options in property 1B o REP DY) TR E NRVIERT
leases have not been included in the lease liabilities, because EERTRGARESE BERAR
the Group considers these terms are used to maximise EERAZERRBAEREERES
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts and HAERARREMESSEE TN
assesses the exercise of extension options on a periodic W EH R T R E R o R R
basis. During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no 2024F3H31HIEEE M EMAITHE
revisions of lease term due to the exercise of extension option JEHAEE fE R & e R E IR AR (2023
(2023: Nil). Fim) e
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and no AERETEEINE AR ERE
leased assets are used as security for borrowing purposes. BENMIBAEEEZERRC

(iif During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has (il HE2024F3831HIEFE  AEE
no impairment loss of property, plant and equipment RizaBmiz HE kD HMZA
(2023: HK$1,467,000) and right of-use assets (2023: FRIE A R R s 5 (20234 ©
HK$1,407,000), respectively in ‘seling and distribution costs’ 1,467,000 70) REREEE (2023
in the consolidated income statement. Refer to Note 15 for £ 1 1,407,00078 7T) BIEE 5215

details.

FE2RIMIEE15
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17 LEASES (Continued)

184

(a)

AR MR M T

Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a)
balance sheet (Continued)

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following

amount relating to the leases:

17 HE @)

RiREREARRERSZEH
(&)
RAEEERBRXREIUTERME
BEZ®f:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#ET FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights in Mainland (Note) i > i A (MY EE) 755,772 362,798
Properties leases MERE 590,371 307,260
Total right-of-use assets EREEEREE 1,346,143 670,058
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$’000
F#ET THET
Lease liabilities HEafm
Current Vit 287,697 172,462
Non-current IERE 319,420 147,605
607,117 320,067
Note: N

The market value of the Group’s land use rights in Mainland were
approximately HK$764,967,000 (2023: HK$428,458,000) as at
31 March 2024, comparing to the carrying value of approximately
HK$755,772,000 (HK$362,798,000). It is determined by an
independent valuer, AVF Corporate Valuation Advisory Limited who
holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of land use rights in
Mainland being valued, with comparison approach (2023: Same).

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

R2024F3H31H  ZEBERAM 2 + i)
E R HEAT764,967,000% 7T (2023
£ 1 428,458,000 7T) P HEREENS
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17 LEASES (Continued) 17 A& @
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) MRESBEEREIZEEE
income statement
The consolidated income statement shows the FEEaREVUTEREEEZ
following amounts relating to the leases: EEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Depreciation of right-of-use ERHEEEIRE
assets
Land use rights in Mainland TR Pt 2 3 {55 P 4 20,081 9,835
Properties leases MERE 327,105 278,789
347,186 288,624
Interest expense MEMRZ GFAREER)
(included in finance costs) 23,954 7,917
Expense relating to short-term leases 52 #ATH EMRBIFAS GTA
(included in selling and distribution HE RDHER)
costs) 1,283 10,889
Expense relating to variable lease wEFARESEZ
payments not included in lease EIE-LiEh AN E sl
liabilities (included in selling and Az GTAHER
distribution costs) DiEER) 187,587 124,567
Note: Mk -
For the year ended 31 March 2024, depreciation of right-of-use B E2024F3R3 1 HIEEE  FRAREER
assets of HK$347,186,000 (2023: HK$288,624,000) was included in 347,186,000 7T (20234 © 288,624,000
selling and distribution costs. 70) St ASHE R D IHER ©
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflow for leases B E2024F3B31HIEFE - HEZRS
was HK$538,054,000 (2023: HK$429,614,000). i tH 4845 5538,054,00038 7T ( 20234 :

429,614,000 7T) °
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LEASES (Continued)

Accounting policy for leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

17

HE (&)

HEN TR
HEFEEEETHAEEER AR
RREREEE URIEEEHE.

HEEEZEERGRY LEREET
STE-HERGEEEUTHEHEMRZ S
RE:

o BEEMR (BEBHEBEENN B
FRABWEEERS

o ERBHIAXRZIEHEENR
(MPERRRAB AR ERN

FIEHE) ;

s FEBREBEEFRTZAEETAHRRE
HRUE 5

o BEEEBEZITEER (HEEE
GEMBETEZEER &

o RIFMABEMXNZIEM (HEEH
[ BR A 1T e s BE 4 AE) ©

HEMNREAEEMRRS ZFRF LR
R MHEEEEZM R RIEAAEA
ZIBEERA)R BRI AR UEH
RIS DB LURR U R (5 AES AR EL
BEBEMBESIOAIHIFR

ERREERRAFE BENTEE:

s HEBRZVIHERE;
o MHABBEBIZAIFREZERE

B BRI Z EAEEE
E .

TR )

o EAIGBERRE; K&

o BIEMA-
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17 LEASES (Continued) 17 8 @)

Accounting policy for leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful live and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful live.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated income statement. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office equipment.

(@) Variable lease payments
Estimation uncertainty arising from variable lease
payments
Some property leases contain variable payment terms
that are linked to sales generated from a store. For
individual stores, up to 100 percent of lease payments
are on the basis of variable payment terms and
there is a wide range of sales percentages applied.
Variable payment terms are used for a variety of
reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base
for newly established stores. Variable lease payments
that depend on sales are recognised in consolidated
income statement in the period in which the condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

(b) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
certain property and equipment leases across the
Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The
majority of extension and termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognised in income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred
in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expenses
over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
balance sheet based on their nature.

SR E HEER (@)

ERAREE —RINEENRERFRK
B (UBREERE) AUEGETU
TE-HAERSERETREEREE
B RIERAREENEAEENAEA
FHRTURE -

BIGHEERMEEEEREREM N
MUBBENGERERTEI A
o R EEERA12EA 12
BRZEE -REEEESE/NEHRA

ERfEe

(@) FIEAEER
PJEHA BB 1G5 T HE
4
BOMEHELIREHEEZ
i1 5 AR R R = PT (T RRARRR o B
a7 & & BRI E N RIFRZE
EMERSIE100% I B
BZERDtLEEERE A
BUMERZREBZE > GEfE
% IS B 2 [B] 1 A4S B U E &
B-BURRIEE BRI E2EEN
A P SR E R R
T ERREGRGETDRTER

(b) MEERLILESRE
FEBZETMERKBEHES
SRERKRIEEEZ EER - ZF
HERAREEEGNTERAR
EHIR SR FEE L -FTERANK
HoBHEHRKIEHEEEREY
MAAEETHE MIFASEZHA
ANiTfE

AERFAHBEANCEEENEER
AMBEHER BN W SRR
EEEEHEEENTBERMASTA
TR E ERBREE » X0 HE 2 P DU SR
& U A BIAR R A 2 RSB A B 52 o (8 Al
HEEERHUEEF ARGEERR
*o
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18 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 BEREFEE

188

Goodwill Trademarks Total
[ i3k i “aEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F#ET FHET
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, }#20225%4H1H +
and 1 April 2023 2023F3HA31B K&
2023%F4H1H
Cost BN - - -
Accumulated amortisation E gt - - -
Year ended 31 March 2024 #H F20245%£3831H
I E
Opening net book value HYARERE - - -
Acquisitions of subsidiaries I RERTE A B
(Note 34) (M35%34) 277,674 544,111 821,785
Amortisation (Note) iy (s - (6,870) (6,870)
Closing net book value FAZRERMEIF(E 277,674 537,241 814,915
At 31 March 2024 1$20245%3831H
Cost DN 277,674 544,111 821,785
Accumulated amortisation R - (6,870) (6,870)
277,674 537,241 814,915
Note: s -

Amortisation expenses of HK$6,870,000 have been included in cost of sales

(2023: Nil).

#$459326,870,000/8 T E ST A EMA (TEZ=

FIE)o
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18 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill and trademarks
Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,
being the operating segments.

Goodwill of the Group is monitored by management at the
level of an operating segment of HKRH identified in Note
5. The following is a summary of goodwill allocation for the
operating segment of HKRH.

18 BEREMREE (B)

BEREFRENS

[k

HETRENS BEROKREREE
TR -HmERASOETEEREN
EFoHPREaNRETEFEUNRS
EEEUME BUNEMENRADE
EEMNHBEETREENRMERER (B
EENED) EE -

FEEHEREERNNESTEES
BEREREEDBEEDETRE -UT
RHEBEREENHBINEESERE -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FExT
As at 31 March #3A31H
Licensing RlE 277,674 -

Trademarks

For the purpose of impairment testing of trademarks, the
Group identified (i) Retailing — Hong Kong and Macau, (i)
Retailing — Mainland China, (i) Wholesaling — Mainland
China, and (iv) Licensing of HKRH as 4 separate CGUs as
the businesses of each CGU of HKRH are with separate
customer bases and market focuses. Management
performed impairment assessments for all 4 CGUs as there
are impairment indicators.

1

MERAENAMS  ARNEBERS
ReETBUZEBAEIRATRERK
mIZE FIEAEEFEEBERN()
TE-FBRERFI (()ZE—PREIAM
(it 3% — R Bl Pt Ke(iv) b8 2 75 580
AHIVEB IR E L B AR FETR
BEFR EEEHEHNEREELE
T RET G
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190

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill and trademarks
(Continued)

Impairment assessments by CGU of HKRH

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”,
the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based
on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value
in use calculation. The Group has made reference to the
valuation reports issued by an independent valuer for the
calculation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow forecast covering a five-
year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the terminal growth rate stated below.
Inherent in the development of the present value of future
cash flow forecast are assumptions and estimates derived
from a review of the expected revenue growth rates, gross
profit margin rates, business plans, cost of capital and, if
applicable, tax rates. Certain assumptions are made about
future market conditions, market prices and interest rates.
Changes in assumptions or estimates could materially affect
the determination of the recoverable amount of a CGU, and
therefore could eliminate the excess of recoverable amount
over carrying amount of a CGU entirely and, in some cases,
could result in impairment.

As at 31 March 2024, the key assumptions and parameters
used for value in use calculations are as follows (2023: Nil):

18 BEREMREE (B)

HEREIRRENR (&)
ERERNREEEEMIRENE

RiEE B 2R BE36% EERE
REELEBUNATWESEREAA
AERHENTEEFRBETRSE
EE-AEEE2ETBUMGEMELHN
HERS  UstEREELEBUNAIUY
C&M- &St EXRBALFHHFRAIER
TREBRAET AFHRNRTRE
FBATHKEERRER - st ERKER
ERERANRESI NREERER
WA RREFNREHHE BXN
AR (HER) MENBR KRG TR
R IBES BTERMERTETETR
RoBRUMFNEHIHNREELSE
UrJ e EENEEEMEARTE I
FISEEIL 2 BUR IR & E £ B U nJ ik[a]
THRBHEEENEZR EETERT
TRR]BEEBURIE

12202438318 AEES B AA
BURASRRR R 20T (20235 © ) :

Retailing -
Hong Kong Retailing-  Wholesaling-
and Macau Mainland Mainland Licensing
BE— BE— #a—
EARREM it it AR TS
Average revenue growth rates U A 1 £
(Note (i) (B 5EG)) 37.2% 25.2% 41.4% 45.9%
Average gross profit margin rates 9 EF|= 27.6% 28.1% 13.2% 29.9%
Terminal growth rates (Note (i)  KA&E1EE (M=) 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rates (Note (iif) HIRE (5L (i) 12.4% 12.3% 12.3% 12.0%
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18 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 BHERERSEE @)

(Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill and trademarks
(Continued)

Impairment assessments by CGU of HKRH

(Continued)
Notes:

(i) Average revenue growth rates cover forecasts of a five-year period.
They are based on the past performance and management’s
expectations on market development.

(i) The terminal growth rates do not exceed the long-term average
growth rate of the business in which the CGUs operate.

(iii) Pre-tax discount rates applied to the pre-tax cash flow forecasts.

These assumptions and parameters have been used for
the analysis of each CGU within the operating segment
of HKRH. Management determined the financial forecasts
based on past performance and its expectations for the
market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

In the Retailing — Hong Kong and Macau CGU, the
recoverable amount calculated based on value in use
exceeded the carrying amount by HK$5,271,000. A fall in
average revenue growth rate to 35.9%, a fall in gross profit
margin rate to 27.4%, a fall in terminal growth rate to 2.5%,
or a rise in discount rate to 12.5%, all changes taken in
isolation, would remove the remaining headroom.

In the Retailing — Mainland CGU, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use exceeded the carrying
amount by HK$136,141,000. A fall in average revenue
growth rate to 21.1%, a fall in gross profit margin rate to
27.1%, a fall in terminal growth rate to -0.7%, or a rise in
discount rate to 13.7%, all changes taken in isolation, would
remove the remaining headroom.

In the Wholesaling — Mainland CGU, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use exceeded the carrying
amount by HK$26,718,000. A fall in average revenue
growth rate to 33.1%, a fall in gross profit margin rate to
11.8%, a fall in terminal growth rate to -2.7%, or a rise in
discount rate to 14.5%, all changes taken in isolation, would
remove the remaining headroom.

HEREIRRENR (&)
FRERNREEEBMRAENG (B
MI5E

() THWmERFRERFTEAL BHLBE
=RREREHTSERNBADKE -

(i KERRERFGBARTESL BAMEE
NEBNRATHERE-

@iy — FERRFRRAIESRERABBRRATER

ZEBRRKRB2HUEANROHEBERE
ENERNEReELEU -EEERS
ARBEREHTISERNTAREEMH
FER o Fr e BT IR R B BRI AT LE X
i Bz ik ELARRE 0 20 REBYAS E LR o

NEE-—SERAMRESELEMM
SOREAEEHFEN KB EER
BREERBE5,271,0005 7T © i FH UL
A ERTEESS.0%  EMRTEE
27.4%  KEBIERETEE2.5%HITIR
EEAZFE125% FREEBEEHEEH
PRFIGRB BB

MEE-—RNMIRSEEBUMS @ B
FREEENTROSELREES
H136,141,00058 75 s F U A 12 R X
TFEE21.1% BEFEFTEE27.1% 7 K
ERMERTERE-07HHIFTRELAE
183.7% > Fi B B BE IS HBREIGHMN

FEFo

ML E-MIREELEUMS BRI
FREGAENTWEISEER LR
826,718,000 7z © 6 F WA 1L R =
TEES3.1% > EFERTEE11.8% K
BERTRE2I%HITRELASE
14.5% > FTB BB Z HRFIGRHN
FEF o
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192

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill and trademarks
(Continued)

Impairment assessments by CGU of HKRH
(Continued)

In the Licensing CGU, the recoverable amount calculated
based on value in use exceeded the carrying amount by
HK$235,109,000. A fall in average revenue growth rate to
37.0%, a fall in gross profit margin rate to 23.6%, or a fall
in terminal growth rate to -0.2%, or a rise in discount rate
to 14.5%, all changes taken in isolation, would remove the
remaining headroom.

In practice, changes in some of the assumptions may be
correlated. As at 31 March 2024, there were no reasonably
possible changes in any of the key assumptions mentioned
above that would have caused the recoverable amounts of
the Retailing - Hong Kong and Macau CGU, the Retailing
— Mainland CGU, the Wholesaling - Mainland CGU and
the Licensing CGU to be less than their respective carrying
amounts.

Accounting policies for goodwill and intangible

assets and impairment of non-financial assets

(@) Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

18 BEREMREE (B)

HEREIRRENR (&)
FRERNREEEBMRAENG (B

MR EFRIRSELEMAMS  BIREE
BAEATEN T WO EBHERE
235,109,000 7T {8 FH UK AL £ X
TEZE37.0% > EFZHTEE23.6% K
BIERTHRE-0 2%V AR
14.5% FTBE 2L B BEEFE HERRR
BYF (B o

MBERERMS & TRROEEN A
BB R o 7R2024FE3831H £t &
BRI ESESIEND EEE), &
REE-FSERBEMAREELEMN T
E-AMIRSEAL B HE— IR
SELBURREERIRSELSMN
WElEBENS ENREE-

BERBETEERIEEMEERE

R &

(@ W&
WHERB A ABNEmEIABREE
E-BERNTEHIE EEFEETH
B EEEHHRI B RE
R s IR R E R ETTE A
2R ERE > W AR S RET
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MEEEIEEMMESREEEN
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18 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)
Accounting policies for goodwill and intangible
assets and impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Trademarks

Intangible assets other than goodwill, including
trademarks, are measured initially at cost or, if
acquired in a business combination, fair value at the
acquisition date. An intangible asset with a finite useful
live is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful
live as follows and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Trademarks 16.5 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful lives are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

18 BEREMREE (B)

BERENEERIFEMEERE
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19 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

19 R—REEQT 2

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#T FHET
As at 1 April (Note (i) 4818 (REE) - 23,146
Share of pre-acquisition results of M —REERABFEER
an associate for the year (Note (i) and (i) WBERT 248 (PO (i) R i) - (23,146)
Remeasurement upon step acquisition B INEBRENE
(Note (iv) and 34) (Pt 3% (v) %34) 204,478 -
Transfer to subsidiaries upon step acquisition & & I BB EEEH B AT
(Note (iv) and 34) (Bt EE(v) &34) (204,478) -
As at 31 March R3B31H - -
Amount due from an associate (Note (v)) Bl —REE AT RE
(F¥5EW) - 4

Particular of an associate of the Group as at 31 March 2024

and 2023 is as follows:

20244 202338310 AEEH—
REENT ZEBWT ¢

Particulars % of attributable
Place of of issued interests held directly
Name incorporation share capital and indirectly Principal activities
ERRRERARIGED
&8 B AR BETRAHE aatt TEER
2024 2023
China Gold Siver Group The British Virgin USD3,334 N/A 50%"  Retaling and franchising operations of
Company Limited (‘CGS") Islands (‘BVI") (Note (iv) gold and jewellery products in Hong
Kong, Macau and Mainland
HEERERERAT EEETRES 33B4ETT TER 50% RER RFRAMKEEREREGEE
(MhEIER)) (EEERRES)) (M (v)) BER TERRTNEER

Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement, the company is controlled
by the third party, which holds the casting vote in the directors’

meetings.

Notes:

(i) The balance includes a shareholder loan of HK$100,000,000 granted (i)
to CGS, in connection with the acquisition of CGS, an associate, on
6 June 2014, of which the Group and HKRH each agreed to provide
HK$100,000,000 funding to CGS for general working capital and
business expansion purpose. Such loan was unsecured, interest-free,
denominated in HK$ and not to be repaid within one year after the

end of the reporting period.

Having considered the financial position and future business
development of CGS, it is not expected that this shareholder loan
will be demanded for in the near future and therefore the balance is
reclassified as part of interest in the associate during the year ended

31 March 2020.

iz —8 D
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19 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19 HR—RBEAT) 2= (&)

Notes: (Continued) MiEE : (8

(i) The financial year of this associate is not conterminous with that of (i) ZHMENTD M BREERAKNEERE > HEf
the Group and the financial statements used for equity accounting are BRI AEE G A MEHE2023F
for the 12 months period ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. This F20225E12831H IE1218 B #ARS o s B &
associate uses 30 June as its financial year-end, which is conformed B FAGB30EEAEMHMFEFE R MU
with its holding company’s reporting date. BWHEZERATINRE BHE—e

(iii For the year ended 31 March 2024, share of pre-acquisition loss (iii B E2024F3A3MHIEFEE  —RBER
and other comprehensive loss of an associate of HK$112,327,000 AL EREEREMEEEED A
(2023: HK$40,021,000) and HK$20,684,000 (2023: HK$15,266,000) 112,327,000 75 (20234 : 40,021,0007 7T)
respectively was not recognised by the Group as such loss exceeds $220,684,0007 75 ( 20234 : 15,266,000
its interests in an associate. ) EZEEEBEER—REE QTN

T m A A E EFERD o

(iv) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 79.4% (iv) HE2024F3A3HIEEE  AEFWKBES
of the issued shares of HKRH, which represented 39.7% of effective BERBETRMENT.4% LHPHAEIRE
capital of CGS and thus the Group is able to exercise control over PREANG9.7% > I A EEEH P E 2 IR
CGS. As a result, CGS ceased to be an associate and CGS and its TEZEGIE-EIL FESRIEAEE R
subsidiaries (collectively as “CGS Group”) became non-wholly owned 5 PEEIREEN B AT @i HEEIR
subsidiaries of the Group since then. Refer to Note 34 and Note 38 £E) BERARERENIEZERB AR
for details. S¥iE5E R M S84 K i 5538

v) As at 31 March 2023, amount due from an associate was trade v) R2023E3H31H B — KK E A B RIE
in nature, denominated in HK$, unsecured and interest-free. Such RHEBZME WEBTE BERREE -
balance was aged within 30 days. %R RE B AR B A B AA30K ©

(v The Group provided corporate financial guarantee to CGS as at 31 (vi) R2023F3831H » AEE M FEHE RIEH
March 2023. Refer to Note 36 for details. REV R - #1555 RMIEE36

(vil  The Group’s associate did not have any significant capital (vi)  AEEBEREE QS R2023FE3831 B &
commitments as at 31 March 2023. fAIERE A
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 20 TE®FTH
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T#T THET
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Foreign exchange forward contracts (Note) 9MNEZHAE 49 (%) 8 -
Note: F5E :

As at 31 March 2024, the notional amount of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts represented RMB denominated foreign
exchange forward contracts of HK$1,668,000.

As at 31 March 2023, there was no outstanding foreign exchange forward
contracts for the Group.

R2024F3A3 B R FBIEEREN 2 LEE
FIEUARIESHEZ SMNER IS 491,668,000 7T ©

R2023F3A3 B AEBMUBEKRTRINERMS
#o

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21 BARESARMZEEBAZE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE MEE
INCOME
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 1 April 74818 788 365
Net fair value gain recorded in equity REmARZ ARERR
(Note 28) 28 (f5E28) 655 423
Deemed disposal upon acquisition of WHEHI B AR BREHE
subsidiaries (Note 34) (MF5E34) (1,443) -
At 31 March F8HE31H - 788

As at 31 March 2023, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income represent the Group’s
investment in common shares issued by HKRH listed on the
Stock Exchange. The financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income are denominated in HK$ and
stated at fair values.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, on the deemed
disposal of these equity investments, the related
balance within the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income revaluation reserve of
HK$10,581,000 was reclassified to retained earnings (Note
28).

R2023F3H31H A REFTAEM
S2EBAZ EREEIERER TN
EmzEABRMET2EEBRNE
B Bt AEMEEBAZ &R/
BELBTHE TUARET R

B E2024F3A3 A LEFE  IRRIEW
EZERERER  BANEFAEM
EHBAZEREENEREMGLRE
FREE10,681,0008 TEM D BB RER
) (Pfy5E28) °
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22 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

22 ¥ FAHEIRIER HthEURARIE

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Non-current JEBNHA
Rental deposits it 91,485 45,221
Prepayments FE{TERIE 2,568 6,404
Other receivables arose from prior SRIHE—KWB A
disposal of a subsidiary (Note (i) ELXZHMEWERE
(BF3EG) 8,997 39,099
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 103,050 90724
Current BPHA
Rental deposits HeEs 43,007 60,642
Value-added tax recoverable AU [EIE(ER 110,068 155,964
Prepayments FE{JRRIB 70,814 67,554
Subsidy receivables from a municipal RERHEBT 2
government in Mainland & WA Bl 18,735 12,318
Other receivables HEWERTE 33,101 18,659
Other receivables arose from prior LHIHE—KB AT
disposal of a subsidiary (Note (i) E4 2z EhEIERIE
(B () 16,002 44,535
Other receivables from licensees (Note (i) 2K B SahEE =~ EAth
FEUSERTE (BT 5E(i) 33,164 28,030
Other deposits Hiz s 41,704 52,510
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 366,595 440212
469,645 530,936
Notes: B 5T
[0) The other receivables arose from prior disposal of a subsidiary 0] SRIHE—RINB AR ES 2 HMtEWER

represent the balances due from a licensee upon the completion
of disposal of a subsidiary in 2020. The receivables bear interest
rate at 5.50% per annum and repayable in 5 years by semi-annual
instalments. Such receivables are secured by collaterals including
certain properties located in Mainland, inventories of the licensee’s
retail shops and equity interests of certain private entities (2023:

same).

TH1520205F & — 5 & 2 B 52 A B AR UK
— KRR 2B o ZBUWRRIZEF X
5.50%sT B LARSFRAEHFFHHER-
ARBYCERELUER R (BE AR A2 &
FYE- - REHTEEHIFERETBA
TR Z IRIE) EIRIR (20234 : #EM) °
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22 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22 ¥E - FASERIBR HthFEULERIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (€]
Notes: (Continued) M © (4B)
(ii) As at 31 March 2024, trading facilities in aggregate of (i) R2024F3A31H mgmmEAERNE

RMB30,760,000 (equivalent to HK$33,164,000) were made available
to the licensees in purchases of inventories from the Group or other
destinated external suppliers (2023: RMB25,170,000 (equivalent to
HK$28,543,000)). The facilities bear interest at 6.00% (2023: 6.00%)
per annum and are secured by collaterals including certain properties
located in Mainland, inventories of the licensees’ retail shops, equity
interests of certain private entities and cash deposits received from
the relevant licensees, which were classified under ‘trade and other
payables’ (2023: same).

As at 31 March 2024, HK$33,164,000 trading facilities were utilised
by the licensees (2023: HK$28,030,000). These receivables bear
interest at 6.00% (2023: 6.00%) per annum with a maturity of 6
months (2023: 6 months) from the date of inception. Such balances
were pledged with cash deposits received from the relevant licensees
totalling HK$40,848,000 which were classified under ‘trade and other
payables’ (2023: HK$35,173,000).

MisENEEIEE R EE SR EIRME
B5m&E4%%E ARK30,760,0007t (48
E17433,164,000%8 50) (20234 : AR
25,170,0007T (F8E7428,543,0008 7)) ° 5%
£ R E#6.00% (20234 : 6.00%) 2 FF|
st B LU & (BEARAMZET
ME REETERHIEE BETAAS
e IR BAEERME KRRz HeRe)
EIRIR BTy D184 TE 5 R EME[TIRIE)
(20234 : 18R °

22024438310 RIEEHBZEZME
#97433,164,0007 75 ( 20234 : 28,030,000
FBIT) o ZEEWARTEIRET)Z6.00% (2023
£ :6.00%) 5t 2> BB EERE6EA
(2023 : 6@ H) 2 - BRI B8R
AR AN 2 I £ 4 $£40,848,0008 7T
EIRIE HTyDiEA TE S R EMEIRE)
(20234 : 35,173,0003 7T) °

The carrying amounts of the deposits, prepayments and e -FANREREMERIRIEZRE
other receivables approximate their fair values and are BEHREQAERE WL THEEEE !

denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
HK$ =TT 132,505 139,042
RMB AR 266,054 331,701
MOP BT 58,468 49,231
Other currencies Hihgsits 12,618 10,962
469,645 530,936
Details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arisen from NEBAZZHMEBWRBEEEZ
other receivables, risk management and the expected credit ERkBEREERBREEBETE
loss assessment are disclosed in Note 3. Z BRI ESRIRE -
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24

INVENTORIES
The inventories net of provision are as follows:

23 78

HBEzFawT !

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET THET

Finished goods SR 9,565,187 8,704,837
Raw materials R A%} 1,875 147,774
9,567,062 8,852,611

At 31 March 2024, inventories carried at net realisable
value amounted to approximately HK$1,200,610,000
(2023: HK$817,762,000). As at 31 March 2024, the Group
recognised inventory provision of HK$120,878,000 (2023:
HK$81,776,000), resulted in inventory provision charge
amounting to HK$35,087,000 (2023: HK$2,555,000)
included in ‘cost of sales’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Accounting policy for inventories

Inventories, comprise raw materials and finished goods,
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. The
cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct
labour and other direct costs. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

20243831 H > 2 a] &I 3 EF R
217 E#7%41,200,610,0007% 75 (2023
£ 1 817,762,00077T) © 1202483831
H> A& BEEREFE#15120,878,000%
70 (20234 : 81,776,000 7T0) > EE1F
S #ERI 35,087,000 7T (20234 :
2,555,000/ 7T) > Wt ARREEmKRZ
MY E R A ©

FRIEEHEER

FE (BEEMEREMS) BDEAE
BRASRFEME ZBEEIRK K
AERBIASHEERE - RALMAMAE
BRMAMBRE TAREMBERER
Ao ERBEERA A - Al FETS
BRAEXEBBERTZAFEERER
ZRJEHEER-

24 HHEWARIE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Trade receivables B RIERE 265,825 214,022
Less: Allowance for impairment B B REWNARIEREEE

of trade receivables (52) (199)

265,773 213,823
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24

200

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group’s sales comprised mainly cash sales and credit
card sales to retail customers and sales to licensees.
Concessionaire sales through department stores, sales
through e-commerce platforms and sales to wholesale
customers are generally on credit terms ranging from 0 to
90 days. The ageing of trade receivables, based on invoice
date, is as follows:

24 BHEKERIE (&)

FERBHETZOENTERRZRE
HERERAFHERNREHZHE -
BEAGETHE B TAHEERRA
HEZFHEZEEH RN F0EWD
H-EZRUIRRRER QR RN
™

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

0 - 30 days 0&30H 221,341 188,883
31 - 60 days 31Z260H 24,799 12,176
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 14,339 9,727
91 — 120 days 91Z2120H 4,412 2,635
Over 120 days #Bi8120H 934 601
265,825 214,022

Less: Allowance for impairment B BREWRERE

of trade receivables B 15 (52) (199)
265,773 213,823

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their
fair values and are denominated in the following currencies:

BEZRUREZRAEBEEAEANEE
A WL EEEHE -

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

HKS BT 41,564 13,872
RMB AR 198,278 181,392
MOP BP9 18,071 14,484
Other currencies Himg 7,860 4,075
265,773 213,823

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss model for all trade receivables. The Group
does not hold any collateral for its trade receivables. Details
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arisen from trade
receivables, risk management and the expected credit loss
assessment are disclosed in Note 3.

The provision and reversal of provision for impaired
receivables was charged and credited to the consolidated
income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance
account are generally written off when there is no
expectation of recovering the amount.

AEERAEBYHREENFORMG
IBEstERREEERR EfAES
FEWSRIER B2 TR RRE - K&
B L 2 B 5 R R IR R A R
meAEEMAR ESRKREES
ZzEERE EREERBHREEBRE
P2 SEIB MY EE3AI IR ER

sHERBOER AR KRB BHETH
FEBRmRIARILEA - EFRAAIFI
EREERNGZ B ZSRBE
T LU S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25 & RIPITLERR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAET
Short-term bank deposits, with maturites ~ FJEAH /L FA3ME B Z 55 HASR
less than 3 months THER 146,761 252,783
Cash at bank and on hand RTIREAFHEIREE 1,783,850 2,094,868
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 1,930,611 2,347,651
Restricted bank deposits, for certain SREIRITERBERET
banking arrangement RITLHE 14,108 -
Bank deposits, with maturities more than ~ Z|HA B BiB3E S =~
3 months RITERR 53,500 -
Total cash and bank balances RS R IRITAERRAERE 1,998,219 2,347,651
Maximum exposure to credit risk EeiEERE 1,959,611 2,313,650

As at 31 March 2024, the cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB, amounting to approximately
HK$1,095,078,000 (2023: HK$1,464,612,000), are held
by the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland. The conversion
of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by Mainland government.

As at 31 March 2024, short-term bank deposits
with maturities less than 3 months, amounting to
HK$146,761,000 (2023: HK$252,783,000). The interest
rates of the short-term deposits ranged from 2.70% to
5.33% (2023: 2.03%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, bank deposits with maturities more
than 3 months, amounting to HK$53,500,000 (2023: Nil)
bear an average interest rate of 3.15% (2023: Nil) per
annum.

20243 831H  UAREEZIR
S KRIREEEY41,095,078,000 BT
(20234 : 1,464,612,0003%& 70) JH 4
ERRAMZINBATFE -BZFEU
AREHEZ BB AINEBET R
I TP A8 2 SNEE B SR B R R B -

R2024FE38310  BEEH/ D HR3ER =2

SHEAIRTTIE N A146,761,00078 7T (2023
£ 1 252,783,000/ 7T) © FZHRTFE A EF
KAF2.70%E5.33% (20234 : 2.03%)
S8

20243831 H  BIHAHBBEMER K
$R1TEFA53,500,00054 7T (20234
) FHEREH3.15% (20234F

) °
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25 RERINITHEER R
R EERRMBEERRSRBRAT

25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)
The above figures reconcile to the amount of cash shown in

the statement of cash flows at the end of the financial year MRS EEHRWT ©
as follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET T
Balances as above attakeR 1,998,219 2,347,651

Less: restricted bank deposits, for certain & | ZRFIEITERRML

banking arrangement ETIRTTZH (14,108) -

Less: bank deposits, with maturities R HBE=EAN
more than 3 months RITFER (53,500) -
1,930,611 2,347,651

26 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 26 HEHME(IERIE HthFEFIRIER

AND ACCRUALS FEstFRIE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Trade payables B ETIRE 177,651 280,250
Deposits from customers and licensees KERRRMEEZZE 628,265 631,523
Salaries and welfare payables FET & R @F 262,948 187,146
Other payables HMhpEJiRIE 140,200 116,260
Accrued expenses FEst&E A 17,750 19,923
1,226,814 1,235,102

The ageing of trade payables, based on invoice date, is as BEENRBIZEZHAZIRENT ©

follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAT
0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 170,476 237,281
31 - 60 days 31ZE60H 5,634 40,471
61 - 90 days 61ZE90H 844 1,183
91 - 120 days 91%E120H 109 1,063
Over 120 days 8381204 588 252
177,651 280,250

B EARE HMEMREREF R
EZRAEEREARMERE -

The carrying amounts of the trade payables, other payables
and accruals approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 27 AR EE
(@) Share capital (@) Bz
2024 2023
No. of shares HK$'000  No. of shares HK$'000
LaRE G FER R #E FTAET
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of ER@EIBTZ
HK$0.1 each @R 800,000,000 80,000 800,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
Ordinary shares of EREEIBTZ
HK$0.1 each ZER 587,107,850 58,710 587,107,850 58,710
(b) Share premium (b) BRIPEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
At 31 March *3H31H 2,494,040 2,494,040
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28

204

RESERVES 28 f#fE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
other
comprehensive
Capital income
Capital redemption revaluation Exchange Statutory Other Retained
reserve resenve resenve resenve reserves reserves earnings Total
BAREA
Hfn2ERA
2eREE
EXiE  EABORE Bt ERHE EERE At REERF 4B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Fin T Fin Fin T Fin Fin
Notef)  Mote i) Notef)  MNoteli)
(HizEq) (W3Ew) (GiED) BRI
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEN20EIFMALEE
As at 1 April 2022 202254818 135,713 200 (11,659) 330,950 108,393 17,569 8,945,080 9,526,246
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Proft attributable to equity holders KARERREAEEER
of the Company - - - - - - 1,284,757 1,284,757
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ E 1 2EKA / ()
Exchange difierences on translation of RESIEENERER
foreign operations - - - (502,167) - - - (502,167)
Revaluation of finencial assets at fairvalue B2 EF AEMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income SREEER (k1)
(Note 21) - - 428 - - - - 423
RemeasLrement of employee benefit EERFEANENHE
obligations (Note 30) (Hf3¥30) - - - - - 5,049 5,249
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EERA/ (5 - 43 (602,167) - - 1,290,006 788,262
Transactions with owners BEEAZRS
2021/22 final dividend 021/25ERBRE - - - - - - (322,909) (322,909
2022/23 interim divicend paid Bff2022/3EERERE - - - - - (322,909) (322,909)
Profit appropriations failvanit - - - - 3,922 - (3922) -
. . . , 39 B e IR Tt
At 31 March 2023 12023538310 135,713 200 (11,236) (171,217) 112,315 17,569 9,685,346 9,668,690
Representing: R
Reserves (excluded proposed dividend) CHNZE ) 135,713 200 (11,236) (171,217) 112,315 17,569 9,262,437 9,345,781
Proposed final dividend (Note 12) BRREBRE (H5H12) - - - - - - 322909 322,909
At 31 March 2023 1202335310 135,713 200 (11,236) (171,217) 112,315 17,569 9,085,346 9,668,690
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28 RESERVES (Continued) 28 f#fE (@
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
other
comprehensive
Capital income
Capital ~ redemption revaluation Exchange Statutory Other Retained
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves reserves earnings Total
RARERA
Htt2EBA
ZEREE
EXfifE ESREHE EftifE B ek Eihfite REBA a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin TR TR Fin Fin TR TR Fin
(Note (i) (Note (iv) (Note (i) (Note (i)
(GED) (Mzk(v) (M5 (M3kii)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3FN AL EE
Asat 1 Aprl 2023 RowsE4R1E 135713 200 (11208 (712 12315 7569 9585346 9668690
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Proft attributable to equity holders KARERREAEEER
of the Company - - - - - 1,767,305 1,767,305
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ E 1 2EKA / ()
Exchange difierences on translation of RESIEENERER
foreign operations - - - (382,089) - - - (382,089)
Revaluation of fivancial assets at fairvalue /AR EF AEMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income SREEER (k1)

(Note 21) = = 655 = = = = 655

Remeasurement of employee benefit EEBHEANENHE
obligations (Note 30) (Hf3¥30) - - - - - - 3,487 3,487
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EARA/ (58 - - 655 (382,089) - - 1,770,792 1,389,358

RELFERAREHARMEE
WAZRERERBERERR

Transfer to retained eamings on deemed
disposal of equity investments at fair value

through other comprehensive income (Htskat1)
Note 21) - - 10581 - - - (10,381) -
Transactions with owners BREAZRS
202/23 finl idend WRBEEFERE = = = . . - 2009 (322909
2003/24 interim dividend peid B0 EERERE = 5 5 5 5 - ey @2
2023/24 special interim dividend provided for 2028/24E B3I EIR S i th
(Note 1) () = . = o . 332 (28,404) 7922
Profit appropriations peilbavii - - - - 3,139 - (3,139) -
Reclassfication of exchange difference BSWE-BAHEATEEN
arising from step acquistion of EREBNERDE (H:3)
a prior associate (Note 34) - - - 17,767 - - - 17,767
- - - 17,767 3139 %36 (A0 (1199%)
At 31 March 2024 12024538318 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53,895 10,568,387 10,338,110
Representing: &
Reserves (excluded proposed dividend) CHNZE R 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53895 10,192,638 0,962,361
Proposed finel dividend (Note 12) BRRERE (312) - - - - - - 375,749 375,749
At 31 March 2024 1202435310 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53,895 10,568,387 10,338,110
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28 RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

206

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at
the time of the Group’s reorganisation in 1997.

Statutory reserves are non-distributable and the transfers of these
funds are determined by the Board of Directors of the relevant
Mainland subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in Mainland.

Other reserve represents the differences between the fair value of the
consideration paid and carrying amount of additional equity interests
acquired in non-wholly owned subsidiaries and the differences
between the fair value of the issued shares of HKRH under distribution
and the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests, which
were recorded at their proportionate interests of the carrying value of
HKRH.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group purchased
2,000,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total
consideration of HK$29,143,000. All the repurchased shares were
cancelled and the issued share capital of the Group was reduced by
the nominal value of these shares accordingly. The premium paid on
repurchase was charged against the share premium of the Company.
An amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares cancelled
was transferred from retained earnings to the capital redemption
reserve.

On 28 March 2024, the Group provided for a special interim
dividend in form of a distribution in specie of 24,071,422 issued
shares of HKRH. Such change in ownership interest of HKRH does
not result in a loss of control and was accounted for as an equity
transaction. The identifiable net liabilities of HKRH (including goodwill)
remain unchanged, and any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests, which were recorded at their
proportionate interests of the carrying value of HKRH, and the fair
value of the distribution shares is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the controlling interests.

28 {#f& (&)

5T -

(i)

(i)

)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E AT AR MYEE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

29 EIEFRTSR
LIRS & RIRE R A & B 2 A0

is as follows: e
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Deferred income tax assets: BIEFTISIE & ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be —RiEBR+ @B B RILE
recovered after more than 12 months BIREFTEREE 147,613 136,254
— Deferred income tax assets to be —R+Z1E B A uElIiy
recovered within 12 months IRIEFRBIMEE 49,263 39,316
Total deferred income tax assets EEFREMEEE 196,876 175,570
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (Note) PERIESEIEE () (42,228) (28,904)
Net deferred income tax assets EICFRSIFEE 154,648 146,666
Deferred income tax liabilities: IEILFRSIREaRE .
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be —RiBE+ @A B E
___ recovered after more than 12 months ¢ BIEEFTSIRAMR  (162,017) (88,560
Set-off of deferred tax assets (Note) IRERIBE EILHE (D) 42,228 28,904
Net deferred income tax liabilities ELEFREMFEE (119,789) (59,656)
Note: B 5E -

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.

The net movements on the deferred income tax account are

ERFIRHAARNIEE E RS EBEE T RTIER
BRI IR/ R — B BRI - IEIER IR
BEKBE TS

EIEFTISIRER Z S EFERUT ¢

as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FET
At 1 April R4B1H 87,010 83,331
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) WREH B A B (H5E34) (53,336) -

Credited to the consolidated income ireiEmRst A (sE10)
statement (Note 10) 1,185 3,679
At 31 March R3HB31H 34,859 87,010
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e BRI

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The gross movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the

29 EIEFRSTR (D)
EERIEEER & BN 2B
(& RITH AR RIS B E B P 245

offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as B W
follows:
(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@) EEREERE
Withholding Fair value
taxes on Fair value adjustment on
undistributed adjustment on inventories by
Right-of-use profit of Accelerated intangible acquisition of
assets subsidiaries  tax depreciation assets subsidiaries Total
BRKEHEBAR
WBAR XAk BREEZ HERARE
EREEE BRIz R MR E RRERE 2% &4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn TiEn Tén Tén TR
At1 April 2022 1202254818 (26,851) (69,672) (5,020) - - (101,543)
Crealted to the consolidated HRRMERRS 2B A
income statement in respect of SABER (HEH0)
withholoing tax on dividend
declared in Mainland (Note 10) - 36,583 - - - 36,583
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated & &BER (1K) /HA
income statement (2,083) (21,580) ] - - (23,600)
At 31 March 2023 and 202353A31H K
1 April 2023 2023481 (28904) (54,669) (4,987) - - (88,560)
Credited to the consolicated RRRHERRS 2 BI#REA
income statement in respect of SABER (o)
withholding tax on dividend
declared in Mainland (Note 10) - 46,848 - - - 46,848
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated ~ EEBER (18) /3 A
income statement (13,324) (23,545) 61) 1,031 - (35,899)
Acquisttion of subsidiaries (Note 34) WEHEBAT (H:4) - - - (81617) (2,789) (84,406)
At 31 March 2024 12024538310 (42,28) (31,366) (5,048) (80,586) (2,789 (162,017)
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b)

29 RIEFRTSIR (48

Deferred tax assets (b) EEREEE
Unrealised
profit on
Lease Decelerated closing
liabilities  tax depreciation Tax losses inventories Others Total
BxEHZ
HEaR ARRIERE AR FERER it &3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn Tén TEn TR
At 1 April 2022 #202264B18 26,851 35,409 85,361 37,253 - 184,874
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated S ABHERTA/ (15
income statement 2,053 (1,401) (12,019) 2,063 - (9,304)
At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 1A202353A31AR202354B 1R 28,904 34,008 73,342 39,316 - 175570
Acquisition of subsidfaries (Note 34) e GEPEIGERD) - - 23,927 3,547 3,59 31,070
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated & AEE KA A/ (15)
income statement 13,147 (1,577) (24,138) 3,158 (354) (9,764)
At 31 March 2024 12024538310 42,051 32431 73,131 46,021 3,242 196,876

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profit
is probable. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
potential unrecognised deferred tax assets amounting
to HK$32,853,000 (2023: HK$33,330,000) in
respect of tax losses to be carried forward against
future taxable income. Cumulative tax losses of
HK$74,926,000 (2023: HK$87,611,000) can be
carried forward indefinitely; cumulative tax losses of
HK$82,730,000 (2023: HK$71,032,000) will expire (if
not utilised) within the next five years.

Accounting policy on deferred income tax are
disclosed in Note 10.

FEEMSREEGEE ZRIE
EIEMED I EE N EBAHEME
BN EF B EREREBER mEIE 7
2024 3H318 > AEEBEBERXR
IR I & & $£32,853,000
ot (20234 33,330,000
7o) v BB FEELIRHEA
BERVWAZRIBEEIE - &5t
RIBE51E74,926,0005 7T (2023
87,611,000 70) ][R H 45
# ; R TEE51882,730,0008 7T
(20234 : 71,032,000 7T) 1+~
A BN RREFENE R

EIEPRIS I & 5T BRI MY 5E 109K

2Eo
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AR E AT AR MYEE

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - LONG
SERVICE PAYMENT
Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obligated to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any
remaining obligations. The long service payments are paid
out from the Group’s cash in hand when such payments are
required.

The latest actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023 specifically designated for the Group’s
employees was completed by a qualified actuary, Palace
Consulting Limited (2023: Same), using projected unit credit
method (2023: Same).

(@ The amount recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet is as follows:

30 ESEARET-RIEHEE

RiEER(REGG)  AEBESER
ETBERT RERBEIEERLOEE
ZETRERIEZEBBRAES G-
ME-EBNRENRFEREEZRE
HERRGERME  WHEFERR
Rt BB T RAEBZHREEZRE
oo AEETEREHERNEEFHE
HHTEEZEE NBEXNERMR
BF EEAEEZ FRESERIMA
RERBE -

EERBEEMEHERARAR (2023
F 18R UFBFTEAEEE (20234
HE) TREALAERREEMBERZ
20243831 H K&2023%E3831 H &5
ERRRE

@ MNEEEESBRXREDZNEAN
T

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TF#ET FAET
Present value of defined benefit RERNEEZIRE
obligations 34,148 33,872

(b) Movements in the long service payments recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

b REEEEERXREIZRER
BEEHUWT -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFAET
At 1 April P4B81H 33,872 5,450
Expenses recognised in the RixeiEaRBER 2
consolidated income statement (B 57 i)
(Note 7(ii)) 3,790 34,398
Remeasurements recognised in other A Efth 2 E U A FESR
comprehensive income (Note 28) BHstE (3E28) (3,487) (5,249)
Benefits paid directly by employer BFEEZNZEN 27) (727)
At 31 March M3A31H 34,148 33,872

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
contributions to plans made by the plan participants
(2023: Nil).

REE2024F3831HIEFEE >
EETEI 2 EERGES B MEL
{2 (20234 : #®) o
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - LONG 30 EEEMSF—REIRES @
SERVICE PAYMENT (Continued)

(©)

Expenses recognised in the consolidated income (c)
statement is as follows:

RizERm AR ZRAUT

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Current service cost BNERRRE & 2,571 755
Interest cost F] B A A 1,219 114
Past service cost (Note) BERBEAAE (s - 33,529
3,790 34,398

Income recognised in the consolidated statement of o) RiEc2EWARETRER ZWA

comprehensive income is as follows:

LI

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FAET
Remeasurements of employees B ERERNET
benefit obligations (3,487) (5,249)

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31 (e)
March 2024 and 2023 (expressed as weighted
average) are as follows:

20245 K2023FE3831HEAZ
TEBERRK (UMNMEFEHES)
wmr

2024 2023
Discount rate rIR=E 4.0% 3.6%
Future salary increment KR FTSILIR 3.0% 3.0%
Return of MPF balances SRR T AR IR = 4.0% 4.0%
Impact on employee benefit
obligations
HESENEENTE
Change in Increase in Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption
Res RIEm EE
Discount rate IRE 0.5% Decrease by 7.4% Increase by 6.8%
B7.4% 121106.8%
Salary growth rate HeRRx 0.5% Increase by 3.9% Decrease by 3.1%
1 1N3.9% HL3.1%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change
in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and
changes in some of the assumptions may be
correlated.

N ESRE DD IRERERES)
MArEEthBREF I EER-B
BRE B R A KRRIAES £ > —LE
RSB I AEARRR
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - LONG
SERVICE PAYMENT (Continued)

Notes:

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government enacted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”)
which will be effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The
Amendment results in:

0] Change in the offsetting arrangement, such that the
accrued benefits attributable to the employers’ mandatory
contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund and certain
employers’ contributions under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes would no longer be eligible to offset against the
severance payment and long service payment accrued from
the Transition Date; and

(ii) Change of the calculation basis of last monthly wages for
the portion of the long service payment accrued before the
Transition Date.

A catch-up adjustment for past service cost and a corresponding
increase in the Group’s long service payment obligations are
recognised in the year of enactment of the Amendment Ordinance,
which is regarded as the year ended 31 March 2023.

The adjustment was recognised as a past service cost in profit or loss
as the Amendment is not contemplated in the original long service
payment legislation.

30

EERFEE-RIBRBE (@
B -

12022964 » H B BT 1B 2022 F B E KRR 5T
BIAG) GESEZHD) (BTGB (MESTIRG) ° =&
5T 820255818 (8B BHA)) 4R o &IET
EEES

() BRI LHE EINBFIEATRETH
SR RS TR E RN B RIS BT
PRGBS R E T BT A ERIEH
EMEREBEBRESNVRBREE &

(i EEERAPARENRARBEH O
RE—EAIENEREE.

BERBRANEHAERFAEBRART ©EH
MRS FMESTIRPIEM BV EE (RD8IE202343
A31HILEE) B

ZRENEEPERABERENEA REARE
HARRTS oA 0 B E B 1EET o
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - LONG

SERVICE PAYMENT (Continued)

Accounting policy for defined benefit obligation -
long service payment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
amounts payable on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods.

The long service payment liabilities are assessed by using
the projected unit credit method by a qualified actuary.
The cost of providing the long service payment liabilities is
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account so as to
spread the costs over the service lives of employees.

The long service payment liabilities are discounted to
determine the present value and reduced by entitlements by
employees accrued under the Group’s defined contribution
retirement scheme that is attributable to contributions made
by the Group. The reductions are deemed as contributions
from employees which are linked to service and hence,
the contributions reduce service cost. The Group
attributes the contributions from employees to periods
of service on a straight-line basis. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are credited or charged to other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise,
respectively. Changes in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as
past service costs.

30

EEENEE-RBESE (B

EHEEMNEET-—RUBRBENES
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NN EERLEZEBFTRMRSEE
ZEERERREENAHRERBERE
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31

214

BANK BORROWINGS RITE™M
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Bank borrowings, secured IRITER Bk 362,000 115,020

As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings of HK$362,000,000
were secured by corporate guarantees given by the certain
subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2023, (i) bank borrowings of
HK$114,000,000 was secured by land and building of
HK$166,225,000, investment properties of HK$64,373,000)
and corporate guarantee given by a subsidiary; (i) bank
borrowing of HK$1,020,000 was secured by land and
building of HK$134,798,000, investment properties of
HK$5,525,000 and corporate guarantee given by a
subsidiary.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings are due
for repayment within 1 month (2023: same) and are
denominated in HK$ (2023: same). The interest rates of
bank borrowings are 4.96% (2023: 3.54% to 3.81%) per
annum. The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings
approximate their fair values, as the impact of discounting is
not significant due to their short-term maturities.

BR2024F 38318 RITMEIN
362,000,000 7t & T B A B e it
BA SR IEIL IR

2023F 38318 ()IRITER
114,000,000 Tt H T # K1 F
166,225,000/ 7 £ B 264,373,000
Brk—EHBABRENATER
EHEHR ; (i) 2R1TfE 781,020,000 7 +
R 125 134,798,0008 70 B X
5,525,000 Tk — B B AT RMEN
NEERIEER

R2024FE3831H 7 RTEFN —1E S
M EIER{EE (20234 : HRE) > WLHETT
FHE (20234 : #8[) < RITERBIEF]
K54.96% (20234 : 3.54%Z%E3.81%) ©
HRETEREHEIEE BIREER
KXo HEERESEEANAEES
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32 GOLD LOANS =EEH
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Current liabilities it R=RE
Gold loan liabilities, with RemHEesfEaE
cash settlement (Note (i) (B 5E()) 1,065,805 390,627
Gold loan liabilities, with BYEEESEEARE
physical settlement (Note (i) (3 5EG)) - 34,487
Total gold loan liabilities HeEEBEMREE 1,065,805 425,114
Notes: B 5T
[0) As at 31 March 2024, gold loan liabilities are interest bearing 0] R2024F3H31H &£ B EEBE%0.63%
ranging from 0.63% to 0.70% per annum (2023: 0.63% to 1.00%), ZF0.70% (20234 : 0.63%Z=1.00%) Z FEF]
with maturity of 1 to 3 months (2023: 1 to 6 months) from date of X E I HABEMRGBHESNE3ER
inception. (202345 1 1ZE6(ER) °
(ii) Gold loan liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each (ii) EEEESBENUSREHRNVALES
reporting period. During the year ended 31 March 2024, net BB F2024F3A31IBHILFE  BEREES
unrealised losses on gold loan liabilities of HK$73,541,000 (2023: B2 REIREIEIFRET3,541,00078 7T (2023
HK$24,236,000) have been recognised in ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in £F 124,236,000 7T) BERGEEmERAN
the consolidated income statement. TEfhREs, (B538) > JBEBIRRER o
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the net realised losses on HE2024F3A31HIEFRE E-EEAE
gold loan liabilities of HK$20,188,000 (2023: net realised gains of 7 BEIRES1875%820,188,00078 77 (20234 ©
HK$38,427,000) have been recognised in ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in BE#RINEE38,427,0008 T) ENGEEE
the consolidated income statement. RANITE M, (F518) » FEE AFESS o
Accounting policy for gold loans HEEENEEE

Gold loans to be repaid by cash are designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as the gold loans
form part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives. Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold are
classified as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

RUREEENESBENDEERSRA

AESTAEBD

THEE REAEE

BERBHES —RBAZTERANITET
BRNGHN—HBD -RUBYESEE
WESEEDNDEARAREF ABE
HEE-
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33 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 3B FETERER
FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash @ PRETEMRAIEFNEKSEE IR
generated from operations: FHER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT FET
Profit before income tax PRPTISIRAT & A 2,085,004 1,565,391
Loss on disposal of property, HENE - BERREZ
plant and equipment (Note 7) 518 (Et7) 3,600 11,033
Rent concessions related to MERsRIEREEE
COVID-19 (Note 7) A (HEE7) — (10,576)
Net realised losses on gold loan =SB EZEER
receivables (Note 8) E51873 %8 (fiz%8) - 32,569
Net realised losses/(gains) on =eEEZEEERRE/
gold loans (Note 8) (W) 7328 (MY5E8) 20,188 (38,427
Net unrealised losses on gold loans mEBEZREEEBE
(Note 8) BEE (MEE8) 73,541 24,236
Net unrealised losses on forward BHMESH 2 REIR
exchange contract (Note 8) E51873 %8 (fiz%8) 8 -
Finance income (Note 9) FHUA (iE9) (28,977) (33,125)
Finance costs (Note 9) FHER (i) 59,596 20,763
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) EZE E #H (1) 6,870 -
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEMRBITE
plant and equipment (Note 15) (Fizx15) 109,368 83,100
Provision for impairment losses on M BE MR ERERE
property, plant and equipment (Note 15) ¥ (ffiz315) - 1,467
Depreciation of investment LBEYEITE (HiH16)
properties (Note 16) 29,121 34,389
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (F:H17)
(Note 17) 347,186 288,624
Provision for impairment losses FRREENERRER
on right-of-use assets (Note 17) (Pzx17) - 1,407
Share of results of an associate EE—REE AR EE
(Note 19) (FiF5E19) - 23,146
Provision for slow moving inventories mIHTE G (15E23)
(Note 23) 35,087 2,555
Provision for long service payment RERB S EME (HFE30)
(Note 30) 3,790 34,398
Net provision for/(reversal of) impairment & §E & & I F5ERRE
loss on financial assets and financial BEEEE/ (BR) 38
guarantee 50,537 (1,832
Gain on lease modification (Note 7) HEETWE ([HEE7) (275) (1,678)
Remeasurement gain on previously held — RifFAE —RATHE A B R
interests in a prior associate, net (Note 8) 7 BT et 2N 348
(M35E8) (186,711) -
Fair value gain on settlement of a EERR—RaBE KRR
shareholder loan due from a prior ERzanElE (ffss)
associate (Note 8) (26,756) -
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33 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

F 5 R R MY EE

FLOWS (Continued)

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash ()

@)

(b)

generated from operations: (Continued)

RERER (@)

PRFTSMANEF RICEEE LR
TR (@

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT FET
Operating profit before working EEESEFACEHT
capital changes 2,581,177 2,037,440
Increase in rental deposits e IE (22,364) (41)
Increase in inventories FEEM (460,383) (520,760)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, B ZEWERIE %% BT
deposits, prepayments and other BRIE R H AN FEURBRIE
receivables AL/ (g 26,360 (42,849)
Increase in right of return assets and ROEEERBERTAR
refund liabilities, net ENEER 5,135 2,538
Decrease/(increase) in amount due el —REE ARFIE
from an associate L,/ () 4 )
Decrease in amount due to an associate  FE{f — B A B FIE R D - (411)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, B RCRE  AthEN
other payables, accruals and contract R EETAUIBR
liabilities BHaE (hL) /1B (175,308) 210,155
Decrease in employee benefit obligations B E&F E TR /D (Hi5E30)
(Note 30) (27) (r27)
Net cash generated from operations EEEFZIREFEH 1,954,594 1,685,341
Significant non-cash transactions (b) BEXERERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$590,602,000, in respect of lease
arrangements for properties (2023: HK$261,958,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
provided for a special interim dividend in form of a
distribution in specie of 24,071,422 issued shares of
HKRH. The distribution is included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as non-cash transactions

(2023: Nil). Details refer to Note 28.

B E2024F3831HIEFE>
AREBMYERELHEIER
SHhEFRAREERTEEESRA
#590,602,000%8 70 (20234 :
261,958,000 7T) ©

HE2024FE3H31HIEEE » K&
BB k24,071,422
KEAERBEZETRMONERF
HARR B - Z D ELUEIR S H5T A
FEREESRER (2023F 1 H#) o7
Rzt I5B 2 RMIEE28
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33 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

218

Significant non-cash transactions
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has
leased certain office premises to a prior associate,
and classified those office premises as investment
properties, with carrying amount of HK$129,467,000,
on the consolidated balance sheet. After a step
acquisition of the prior associate to a subsidiary, the
Group has reclassified such investment properties
to property, plant and equipment of HK$76,264,000
(Note 15) and right-of-use assets of HK$53,203,000
(Note 17) due to the change of use as owner-
occupied.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group has entered into gold loan contracts with
physical settlement of HK$1,717,493,000 (2023:
HK$144,711,000), and has settled those contracts
of HK$1,747,753,000 (2023: HK$99,499,000). Such
borrowings and settlements, which are delivered
by the inventories, are included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as non-cash transactions.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
had non-cash additions to property, plant and
equipment of HK$98,380,000 and right-of-use assets
of HK$264,266,000, in respect of transfers from
prepayments for the acquisition of several commercial
properties located in Mainland, which were included in
deposits, prepayment and other receivables.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
ceased to use certain office premises classified as
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of HK$58,213,000 (Note 15) and right-of-use assets
of HK$166,764,000 (Note 16) and transferred to
investment properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
received repayments of gold loan receivables with
physical settlement amounting to HK$30,316,000.
The repayments included in the inventories in the
consolidated statement of cash flows as non-cash
transactions.

RERERER (@)

(b)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

EXFRERS (B)

HE2024FE3831HIEEE » K&
B—EakE AT HEE T
NEYE UEZEMAEYED
BAREYE WEeEEAER
MEREE %A129,467,0005 75 o 1?
BB BHE AT AKE AT
B AEBCEREEAET(LAM
BEREEMESHDEEYE
B K 5% 76,264,00078 7T (st
15) R fE A REE E53,203,0008 7T
(MH5E17)

HE2024FE3831HIEEE » K&
R UEBYEENESEES
#91,717,493,0005 75 ( 20234 :
144,711,000 7T) » L BEEHZE
E#91,747,753,0005 75 (20234 :
99,499,000 7T) ° A RIE R M4
BUEERM LEERSRZ5TA
EERsmER-

B E2023FE3831H IEEE » [R5t
A& FANRIEREMERRZ
W BE o3 2 B P R ) £ TR R/ I8
ZEE MBMAEREYE -KE
K2 5% 1#598,380,0007 7t Kz 15 FB #E
B E264,266,00058 T 2 IEIR &R
Bo

B E2023F3A31HILEEE &
EEFBERETHEAYE
BER&ZENRAIZMERE
58,213,000 7T (Mi5E15) KfE A
B EREE166,764,0007 7T (Bt
FH16) W ER EY -

HE2023FE3831HIEEE » K&
BWERNERENEEESEEE
730,316,000 7T ° 5212 RAE A IE
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33 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 33 ZEWERER @B)
FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEIFBEENAEERHIE

financing activities

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Gold loans with cash settlement BERIEEMEBE 1,065,805 390,627
Bank borrowings IRITER 362,000 115,020
Lease liabilities HEER 607,117 320,067
2,034,922 825,714
Liabilities from financing activities
MEEBHELNAR
Gold loans
with cash Bank Other Lease
settlement borrowings borrowings liabilities Total
REXEN
HEffE HROER  HtER HE&R st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET TR FET TET TERT
As at 1 April 2022 1202254R1H 497,513 1,383,391 - 357,611 2,238,515
Net cash flows - ReEREFHE—
financing activities MEES (87,306)  (1,268,371) - (294,158)  (1,649,835)
Additions RE - - - 261,958 261,958
Fair value change of RERIBEHEZ
gold loans with cash NREEE
settlement (19,580) - - - (19,580)
Unwinding interest ES - - - 7917 7,917
Rent concessions related to #1715 5 & 15 18R
COVID-19 HERE - - - (10,576) (10,576)
Lease modification HEET - - - (2,043) (2,043)
Exchange difference ERELR - - - (642) (642)
As at 31 March 2023 and [42023%3A318 &
1 April 2023 2023F4H1H 390,627 115,020 - 320,067 825,714
Net cash flows - REMEFHE—
financing activities MEES 577,222 (1,499,020) (84,500) (343,438)  (1,349,736)
Additions HE - - - 590,602 590,602
Acquisition of subsidiaries U EENIBAT)
(Note 34) (FizE34) - 1,746,000 84,500 21586 1,852,086
Fair value change of ReRimeEE
gold loans with cash NREEE
settlement 97,956 - - - 97,956
Unwinding interest BEF 8 - - - 23,954 23,954
Lease modification GNLCH] - - - (2,306) (2,306)
Exchange difference [ERELE - - - (3,348) (3,348)
As at 31 March 2024 12024538310 1,065,805 362,000 - 607,117 2,034,922

Annual Report 2023/24 ££38 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=P
wih (3 A~

LpESEal NS

34 BUSINESS COMBINATION

220

(a)

Acquisition of HKRH

On 12 January 2024 (the “Acquisition Date”), Luk
Fook 3D Management Company Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to
sale and purchase agreements and supplemental
agreements with several then shareholders of
HKRH, who are independent third parties, acquired
in aggregate of 50.49% issued shares of HKRH
for a total consideration of HK$104,306,000 (the
“Acquisition”). HKRH is an investment holding
company. Its major subsidiary, CGS, together with its
subsidiaries (the “CGS Group”) are principally engaged
in the retailing and licensing of gold and jewellery
products in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau.

Prior to the Acquisition, the Group held 50% equity
interest in CGS through Luk Fook 3D Management
Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group. Such investment was accounted for as an
associate by equity accounting. After the completion
of the Acquisition, the Group effectively obtained
control over HKRH and therefore CGS Group.

On 9 February 2024, the Group further acquired in
aggregate of 28.96% issued shares of HKRH for a
total consideration of HK$58,472,000 as a result
of the Share Offers pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the
Takeovers Code and the Option Offer pursuant to Rule
13.5 of the Takeovers Code. As at 9 February 2024,
the Group held in aggregate of 80.10% of the total
issued shares of HKRH.

34 EFSH

(a)
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KEERAER

R20245F18128 (TWEEHER)) »
XABEEMBAT N®EIDE
EERABAREEAESEERER
HERE (BBIUE=ZH) 5JUW
BEERERETRE  LERE
104,306,000 T WEEBE R
EH50.49% B 21T (TWiESE
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WBA AR ((HhESREEE) T2
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 34 EBHSH @
(@) Acquisition of HKRH (Continued) (a) WBEBRERE (@)
The following table summarises the capital injection for BHZUNEIEE BN BRI H
the step acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired HKEBEEAABRMAENS
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. BT
Note HK$'000
M5k FAET
Consideration 1B
Cash consideration HBERE 162,778
Fair value of previously held interests in AT —REI R E AT
CGS, a prior associate (Note 19) FEERFEERDN
AoE (isE19) ) 204,478
Fair value of previously held interests ERINEABERES
in HKRH, classified as ‘financial EHMANE DR
assets at fair value through other 2N nE ﬁ)\ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ
comprehensive income’ (Note 21) WAZERMEE]
(ffE21) () 1,443
368,699
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets WEER B B E R EREEE
acquired and liabilities assumed: ZEWREE
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 27,702
Pledged bank deposits BEEFIRTER 887,778
Trade and other receivables and B85 R HMEWRBEU K
deposits b (ii) 59,849
Rental deposits HeEs 6,265
Inventories =58 (i) 602,376
Intangible assets: Trademarks (Note 18) EFEE : B2 (Mi:E18) (iv) 544,111
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) #1% « iR K& #E (15E15) 16,302
Right-of-use assets (Note 17) FEREEE fisE17) 21,200
Right-of return assets ROIEEE 3,353
Deferred tax assets (Note 29) IEERIBE E (fEE29) 31,070
Bank borrowings RITER (1,746,000)
Other borrowings =Rl = (84,500)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) EIERRIEEE (fi5129) (84,406)
Lease liabilities HEaE (21,586)
Trade payables B (R (78,608)
Contract liabilities =EV=AE (16,345)
Refund liabilities HERMAR (12,760)
Other payables and accruals HhEIRIBREIE (233,681)
Current income tax liabilities BMERPRIE IR B E (12)
Total identifiable net liabilities acquired W BRI H A F B B4R R (77,892)
Less: non-controlling interests IR R (v) 8,026
Add: financial guarantee contracts to n:PESIR T MBIEREH
CGS (Note 36) (FI5%36) (Vi) 87,647
Less: fair value gain on a shareholder B R EE IR RER
loan due from CGS ZAREWE (Vi) (26,756)
Add: a shareholder loan due to the 0 FEIERRFAEHENM A
Group held by CGS ERREER 100,000
Add: goodwill (Note 18) e EmE (MEE18) (vi) 277,674
Net assets acquired WHEEEZE 368,699
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 34 EBHSH @
(@) Acquisition of HKRH (Continued) (@ WREBBER G
Note HK$’000
M5k FAET
Remeasurement gain on previously held ~ ZeRiRESIRITAEERE
interests in CGS, net EWtEWNE BB
Fair value in interests in CGS RHEER R R RE 0) 204,478
Less: Interests in an associate (Note 19) &l : I —RIBE AT 2 #E%
(FtsE19) -
Less: Accumulated loss in exchange B R IR L E R AR
difference attributable to CGS RETEIR (95E28)
(Note 28) (17,767)
186,711
Note HK$'000
Mk FAET
Remeasurement gain on previously held  ZeRIEHBERITAEERE 2
interests in HKRH BsrEla
Fair value in interests in HKRH REBERZ
HRARE (i) 1,443
Less: Financial assets at fair value B ERAEFTAEMEE
through other comprehensive WAZ EREE (fisE21)
income (Note 21) (1,443)
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 34 EHAE@
(@) Acquisition of HKRH (Continued) (a) WIBEBEER (@)

Notes: BIsE -

i) Business combination achieved in stage (0] R EREEAMH
Immediately before the Acquisition Date, the fair value and BEWELSHA AEBERES
carrying amount of the interest in CGS previously held WABEESREEN A AEKRERERE
by the Group was HK$204,478,000 and nil, respectively. DRIA 204,478,000 BITKRE o FHE
In the step acquisition of CGS, the accumulated loss in FWEREESRE RBWHEEBR
exchange difference attributable to CGS immediately before BiFEEIREGER B R EE
the Acquisition Date of HK$17,767,000 was reclassified to 17,767,000 B EmMOEEB@m
profit or loss. Hence, a fair value gain on the remeasurement A EF st 2L AN REER
of previously held interest in CGS, net, of HK$186,711,000 BmZz ANEWGRFEE 186,711,000
was recognised in profit or loss and included in ‘Other gains/ BTRBWEBAR BRI
(losses), net’ (Note 8) at the Acquisition Date. sTATEM R, (8518) 7F3E) (ffsE

8) °

Immediately before the Acquisition Date, the fair value of the R H R AEBLRFAN
equity interest in HKRH previously held by the Group was ERERKRENQMEST,443,0008
HK$1,443,000 and recognised as financial assets at fair value o TR AR ANESAEMEER
through other comprehensive income (Note 21). Hence, there WAZEmMEE MizF21) AL &
was no gain or loss on remeasurement of previously held MEtERWEHERR ZLRFA
equity interest in HKRH recognised at the Acquisition Date. HMEBE RS U o518 o

(i)  Acquired trade and other receivables and deposits (ii) IS E B R E MRS RigE
The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables and Frli 8 2 5 R EfhFE SR R e 2 &
deposits is HK$59,849,000. The gross contractual amount for HA R {E 559,849,000 7T © FE UK
trade receivables is HK$20,300,000, with an expected credit B RME#4EEEA20,300,00074#
loss allowance of HK$52,000 recognised on the Acquisition. T W B R TR EEEERE

52,0007 7T °
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
Acquisition of HKRH (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

224

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Acquired inventories

The fair value of acquired inventories is HK$602,376,000,
which were measured with reference to the market price of
precious metals at the Acquisition Date, with an inventory
provision of HK$4,015,000 recognised on the Acquisition.

Trademarks

The trademarks recognised in intangible assets with definite
useful lives of 16.5 years and assessed with a fair value of
HK$544,111,000, using multi-period excess earnings method
based on financial budgets covering over 10-year period
approved by senior management of HKRH. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has
based its projections:

. Discount rate of 12.00% is used with reference to the
current market data for comparable companies in the
relevant industry; and

. Average revenue growth rate of 12.60% is used based
on financial budgets of HKRH.

Accounting policy choice for non-controlling interests
The Group recognised non-controlling interests in an acquired
entity either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets. The decision was made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in the
Group, the Group elected to recognise the non-controlling
interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net
identifiable liabilities. See Note 40 for the Group’s accounting
policies for business combination.

Transactions recognised separately from the Acquisition
There are several transactions recognised by the Group
separately from the Acquisition representing effective
settlement of several pre-existing relationships with HKRH.

Financial guarantee contracts

Reference is made to the financial guarantee contracts
granted to CGS by the Group in Note 36. The financial
guarantee contracts were measured at fair value at the
Acquisition Date of HK$87,647,000 and were effectively
settled in the Acquisition as the financial guarantee contracts
granted changed from to a prior associate to an intercompany
and is internal to the Group. The fair value of financial
guarantee contracts approximated to the carrying amount of
it at the Acquisition Date, and hence there was nil gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
(@) Acquisition of HKRH (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Transactions recognised separately from the Acquisition
(Continued)

A shareholder loan granted by Luk Fook 3D
Management Company Limited to CGS

Reference is made to a shareholder loan of HK$100,000,000
granted by Luk Fook 3D Management Company Limited
to CGS in Note 19. The shareholder loan receivable
was measured at fair value at the Acquisition Date of
HK$26,756,000 and effectively settled in the Acquisition as
the shareholder loan changed from due from a prior associate
to an intercompany and was eliminated on the Acquisition.
The carrying amount of the shareholder loan held by the
Group was nil at the Acquisition, the difference between
the fair value and carrying amount of the shareholder loan
amounting to HK$26,756,000 was recognised in profit or loss
and included in ‘Other gains/(losses), net’ (Note 8).

Goodwill

The goodwill arose in the Acquisition included amounts in
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled workforce of
HKRH. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of
HK$197,130,000 and net loss of HK$53,791,000 to the
Group for the period from 12 January to 31 March 2024.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2023, consolidated
pro-forma revenue and net profit for the year ended 31
March 2024 would have been HK$15,740,062,000 and
HK$1,410,032,000 respectively.

Deferred income tax liability

The deferred income tax liability relating to the fair value of
trademarks amounted to HK$81,617,000, calculated at the
China corporate income tax rate.

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs of HK$5,655,000 are included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement
and in operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of
cash flows.
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 34 EBHSH @
(b) Purchase consideration - cash outflow (b) BERE-RERH
HK$’000
TFHT
Net cash outflow arising from the HZE2024F3831HIEFER
Acquisition during the year ended AW EENIRES R 258
31 March 2024
Cash consideration BB 162,778
Less: cash balances acquired T FTUWEB IR & 45 6% (27,702)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities IREFRE - EEH 135,076
35 COMMITMENTS 35 ik
(a) Capital commitments (@) BXFEiE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET THET
Contracted but not provided for: BEETABERIEHEE
— property, plant and equipment —WE R R 13,795 16,491
— investment in financial assets —RKERANESA
at fair value through other Hne2mBAZ
comprehensive income THMEE 5,992 6,350
Total capital commitments contracted T E]&IBRIEHBEE 2
but not provided for BEARKIEARER 19,787 22,841
As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, there are R202443831H K2023%F3H 31
no capital commitments which are authorised but not H> W BEREERTHOZERK
contracted for. o
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had entered into 12024F38318  AEEBRE
properties lease agreements in respect of right-of-use F#EEKREEE1522,062,0007%
assets and lease liabilities of HK$22,062,000 (2023: 75 (20234 : 50,252,0007% 7T) 57 1L
HK$50,252,000) which are contracted but not vyet MEMERSE ARBEEETNE
commenced. EESELEE
(b) Commitments under short-term leases (b) FEHATHE AR
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had commitments fR2024FE3831H » NEE 2 15 HA
under short-term leases of HK$569,000 (2023: FH E & #£569,00078 75 (20234 :
HK$1,467,000) which will be recognised as an 1,467,00078 7T) & HL BN T 8% 2 47
expense in the forthcoming consolidated income SEmRAEDAMAZ
statement.
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36

37

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2023, corporate financial guarantee
amounting to HK$1,075,000,000 to banks in respect of 50%
of the aggregated amount of bank facilities granted to a prior
associate. As at 31 March 2023, the bank facilities utilised by
the associate is approximately HK$1,643,500,000, which is
secured by its pledged bank deposits of HK$836,140,000.
As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised loss allowance
of HK$36,831,000 in accordance with expected credit loss
model under HKFRS 9.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, prior to a step
acquisition of a prior associate (Note 34), the maximum
amount that the Group guaranteed under the respective
contracts was HK$1,075,000,000, which represents 50%
of the aggregated amount of bank facilities granted to
a prior associate. The bank facilities utilised by the prior
associate was approximately HK$1,746,000,000, which
were partially secured by pledged bank deposits of the prior
associate of HK$858,222,000. Prior to the step acquisition,
the Group recognised a loss allowance of HK$50,816,000
in the consolidated income statement in accordance with
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9. Immediately
before the Acquisition Date, the loss allowance recognised
amounted to HK$87,647,000.

As at 31 March 2024, there was no financial guarantee
issued by the Group to any independent third parties.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The major shareholder of the Company is Luk Fook (Control)
Limited (“Luk Fook Control”), a company incorporated in the
BVI, which directly owns 40.37% of the Company’s shares.
The remaining shares of the Company are widely held.

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and Ms. LUK Chui Yee are the
founders and settlors of The WS WONG Family Trust (the
“Trust”). Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr.
WONG Ho Lung, Danny and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust. The Trust
was interested in 238,501,722 shares in the Company,
comprising (i) the 1,511,050 shares in the Company held by
the Trust and (i) the 236,990,672 shares in the Company
attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust
indirectly controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk
Fook (Control) Limited (being approximately 46.29%) and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by Luk
Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

36

37

MFBIEF

7R2023FE3H31H  Fi—KRATHE QA
EERIRITRI B AREERI50% @ MEIRTTIE
4£1,075,000,0003 70 A /A B) B FEHE(R ©
R2023FE3H31H  ZHEABEE A
RISRITRAE 497%1,643,500,0005 75 > Hd
HBEEFIE{TFR836,140,00058 T 1F
R o FR2023FE3H31H  ZEBIRES
BV BEBREENFENEREERIE
R E5 18 #5536,831,00058 7T

HE2024F3RA31HLEEE BZF K
B—Xpgi=E sz (M:E34) » 7
EEREBEHEBENERNESSES
1,075,000,00058 7t IHE R E FAIHE
NERIRITRI B ARZES0% o pI B E A T
FrEh A BIIRITR B 4 431,746,000,000
B HERSBoHRABE A B EIRER
1717 7858,222,0008 TTEE 1 o jR X5
WEERT REBRIESBM B RS EL
FOFTHEHAEEBEBENNEGESIE
m R N FESBEEYMNES 1B 550,816,000
Lo BRiZFZF S W HERR > BHEREIR
B35 487,647,000 73 ©

R2024FE3H31H » AE R FE BT M
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Bl40.37% &0 o XA B ER FER1D D HL
FH

EREELEERERZRLZLAThe WS
WONG Family Trust (M=5E1) BYRIHEA
REZN =ZEEAE BERERLE &
EREAEREES LT AGEENEES
I A o S5EHEA A A F)238,501,7220% 1%
PR BE)EIREARBERFEZ
1,511,05088 & 19 K (i) /<18 (2=5%) BRA
BIFE(E 2 A A F1236,990,6 720 i8 14 © 15
SERIEIESINE R BRARBA=
Dz —THE (B14946.29%) o I &
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BRI HEE L
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BAEATZRSH (@)
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny and BERELE BERAEREMNFR LT
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy are directors of the Company. HAKRANBEE-
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial R BB IMREMIOPTIREE SN
statements, the significant related party transactions are BARBEATRZIREW T o HEEA
disclosed as follows. The transactions with related parties TIZRBIR—REBBEREBRETIZ
were conducted in the ordinary and usual course of RAEEBREANTIHE 2 IRRE T
business in accordance with terms agreed between the
Group and its related parties.
(a) Significant related party transactions (@ EAXREALZS
Name Nature 2024 2023
et 3= HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
GS Tech Company Limited* License fees 1,414 1,827
S EEMEMBRAR HETEER
Maintenance services fees 3,483 3,303
HERBE
Rental income 167 167
HEWA
# The company is 92% owned by a family trust of which Mr. # FZATIHRWEEHEREE LE R

WONG Wai Sheung and his family members are discretionary
beneficiaries. The remaining 8% is directly owned by Mr.
WONG Wai Sheung.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
borrowed physical gold of 300 kilograms (2023:
300 kilograms) amounting to approximately
HK$134,417,000 (2023: HK$135,556,000) with
interest bearing at 0.58% (2023: 0.58% to 0.60%)
per annum from a director. Such borrowings were
fully settled on 31 March 2024 and the related
interest expense on gold loans of HK$811,000 (2023:
HK$776,000) is included in ‘finance (costs)/income,
net’ (Note 9).

HREMBERHERZH AZRKERE
SEHEE BRT8RHmBELERR
Ao

EHE2024F3831HIEFEE » RE
Ea—2EFEAEY=EE300
AF (20234 : 300Afr) > & %8
#975134,417,000% 75 ( 20234 :
135,556,000/ 7t) » I EF)Z0.58%
(20234 : 0.58%F0.60%) 5t
B ZBEEN2024FE38318 &
HEENESHEEMABMNERX
811,000 75 (20234 : 776,000
70) ST AR (BA) /A 358
(MF=E9)
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BIEALTZRS (B)

(b) Year-end balances (b) EF4R4ER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Amount due from an associate Bl —K & AT RIE
(Note 19) (Mf5E19) - 4
Rental deposit received from B—XE=ZEAEWEZ
an associate Heizs - 789
Rental deposit related to BR—%BEALZ
a related party Heas 1,050 1,050
Lease liabilities related to BE—2%BEALZ
a related party HEaRE = 4,132
(c) Key management compensation c) XEEEEME
Key management includes directors (executive FTEBEEAREAEEES T
and non-executive) and senior management of the KRIFRNITEER) REREEBAS-
Group. The compensation paid or payable to key THEERFENHENETEERE
management for employee services is shown below: ZMEMT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFAET
Salaries, allowances and e R REYN G
benefits-in-kinds 18,651 15,812
Performance and discretionary e RIFMIFE M 2 IEAT
bonuses 61,463 63,228
Contributions to pension plan BRI ETEIMERR 749 660
80,863 79,700
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38 SUBSIDIARIES 38 MIBAR
At 31 March 2024, the Company had the following principal 1R2024F3831H > KRB Z X EME
subsidiaries: REWNTF
Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital  held by the Company interests
B BRIkRs/ Gt El3d0 4
b2 FRILshE TELH EMEFHEE EERLA g @R LA
Directly  Indirectly
Hi% GE
Luk Fook Investment (B.V.I.) Limited ~ The BVI Investment holding HK$2 100 - -
HBEMRHE  REER 23T
China Gems Laboratory Limited Hong Kong Authentication of gemstones HK$2 - 100 -
REREEEPOERAT &4 ERER 23T
Fancy Trend Investment Limited Hong Kong Property holding HK$12,100 - 100 -
ERREERAT ¥ SIS 12,1007
Ice Collection (International) Limited ~ Hong Kong Retailing of gold and jewellery HK$100 - 100 -
K& BB BRAR 58 products 100387
SHREENTEER
Jewelworld.com Limited The BVI Investment holding, and provision HK$8,000,000 - 51 49
LERERAR HEERRES of software development and 8,000,000 7T
services relating to internet
REER RERHEER
S B EERRE
Jewelworld.com Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, and provision HK$100 - 51 49
HEUR (BB BERAT &8 of software development and 10087
services relating to internet
REZER REDHRER
S B EIERRS
Luk Fook Bulions Dealers Limited Hong Kong Gold bullion trading HK$14,000,000 - 100 -
NEERERAT Y EEAZHK 14,000,000%7C
Luk Fook Holdings Company Limited  Hong Kong Provision of management services HK$2 - 100 -
NBEEBRAF 58 to group companies and 2B
wholesale distribution of gold
and jewellery products
REEBRETERRAR
HEDPHRERFEER
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith Australia Retailing of gold and jewellery AU$100,000 - 100 -
(Australig) Pty Limited BN products in Australia 100,000 7%
RENEEEERFEER
TEER
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith Hong Kong Retailing of gold and jewellery HK$100 - 100 -
{HK) Company Limited 58 products 100787
NEREL(T (B8 BRAT BEERUEERTELH
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBATE (@
Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
&8 FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
H# itk
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith Macau Retailing of gold and jewellery MOP1,000,000 - 100 -
(Macao) Company Limited el products in Macau 1,000,002 7%
NERESTT (2P BIRAT PR SRS RAKEER
ZELH
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith Canada Retalling of gold and jewellery CA$100 - 100 -
(Canada) Limited mex products in Canada 100MEAT
PMEARERERGEER
TELR
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith Singapore Retailing of gold and jewellery $81,000,000 - 100 -
(Singapore) Pte. Limited N products in Singapore 1,000,008 03 7T
Rt EEE G EER
TEER
Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith USA Retailing of gold and jewellery USD100 - 100 -
(USA) Company Limited e products in USA 100E7T
REARSEERGEER
TEER
Luk Fook 3D Management The BVI Investment holding HK$1 - 100 -
Company Limited BREBAREE  REER BT
NMEDEEERAT
Max Forum Development Limited Hong Kong Property holding HK$100 - 100 -
EEEREERAT &4 RENE 100%E7T
Maxigood Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Manufacturing, wholesale and HK$3,000,000 - 100 -
BRECEERAE 53 distribution of jewellery products 3,000,000 7T
RERMENHKEER
EMNARENRERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland HK$35,000,000 - 100 -
" RAEENE 35,000,000 7
NEER (BB ERAT+ PRC Wholesale of polished diamond in 1SD200,000 - 100 -
s Mainland 200,000%7¢
PR ELTE2 B8R
ANELE bR ARAF PRC Retaiing of gold and jewellery HK$200,000,000 - 100 -
s products in Beijing, Mainland 200,000,000%7¢
KAt RitER e RGEER
TEER
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

232

38 MEAE (8)

Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
&8 FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
Ef# itk
ENARTHERERAT PRC Trademark licensing, brand HK$60,000,000 - 100 -
# building, promotion of quality 60,000,000%7¢
examination service in Mainland
NG GESE A A
BERMIRRHESETE
%
NERETHEE (RU)BRAE PRC Trademark licensing, brand HK$8,000,000 - 100 -
# bulding, promotion and 8,000,000 7T
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland
KAt EEREE ARR
EEREURRHESET
e
NEfmRs (BB ARAF PRC Manufacturing, wholesale of HK$50,000,000 - 100 -
HE gold and jewellery products in 50,000,000 7
Mainland
RAMHSRERMERER
HEER
NELEEN (BB ARAF+  PRC Retaiing of gold and jewellery HK$50,000,000 - 100 -
HE products in Mainland 50,000,000 7
RAMEEEERFEER
TEEH
ANETHRE (BB BARAF+  PRC Trademark licensing, brand HK$3,000,000 - 100 -
h building, promotion and 3,000,000%7C
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland
KAt EEREE ARR
EEREURREHESET
ey
S/ EUXGENIBERAE+ PRC Manufacturing of gold products in RMB5,000,000 - 100 -
# Mainland AR 5,000,000
RAMREREER
EEREBREENERAR+  PRC Wholesale of jewellery products in RMB10,000,000 - 100 -
# Mainland AR10,000,0007

RAMHEREER
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBAT @&

Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
&8 FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
Ef# itk
VEKE BN BRAT+ PRC Manufacturing, wholesale of RMBG5,500,000 - 100 -
# gold and jewellery products in A 165,500,0007T
Mainland
Rt EREREEER
GEERD
BN EEHEEERAT PRC Manufacturing of gold and jewellery RMB5,000,000 - 100 -
# products in Mainland AR 5,000,000
RitEEe REEER
AEABHEERAT PRC Retailing of gold and jewellery RMB5,000,000 - 100 -
# products in Mainland AR 5,000,000
RAMEEEERFEER
TEEH
BE RETHRARAT PRC Electronic retailing of gold and RMB5,000,000 - 100 -
HE jewellery products in Mainland AR 5,000,000
RAMEEEERFEER
BYTELH
Luk Fook Prestige (Malaysia) SDN.  Malaysia Retailing of gold and jewellery MYR2,000,000 - 100 -
BHD. ERAED products in Malaysia 2,000,000
REREDAERERGE ERAZSE
ERTEER
Luk Fook Prestige Jewellery Hong Kong Retailing of gold and jewellery HK$30,000,000 - 100 -
Company Limited 5k products in Hong Kong 30,000,000
NEAMKRERRAT REANEEERFEER
ZELH
EEMEREZERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RREENE AR 1,000,0007
BEETRIESERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RRsFEENE K 1,000,007
EEMEEEFERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMEENE AR 1,000,0007
BEETASEERARAT PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RRsFEENE K 1,000,007
EEMAREEZERAG PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMEENE AR 1,000,0007
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBATE (@

Proportion of

ordinary

Particulars of shares

Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-

incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling

Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests

B A BETkRs/ FRFFE FRiERRREL

4] FRIL 8 IEEH HMERHEE BER LA BRI A

Directly Indirectly
H# &

BEEMAEREZERA PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMEENE AE1,000,0007

EETHEESERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RSB nE K 1,000,007

EEMEREFERAD: PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMEENE AE1,000,0007

Bright Bilion Corporation Limited Hong Kong Property holding in Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 -
EBTERAR &4 REBSENE 100%7T

Green Rich Corporation Limited Hong Kong Property holding in Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 -
ERERAT &4 REBRBENE 1007

Talent Up Corporation Limited Hong Kong Property holding in Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 -
BR2ERAT &4 REBSENE 100%7T

Uttra Power Corporation Limited Hong Kong Property holding in Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 -
HaBRAT &4 REBRBENE 1007

NEGE BR) BRAF PRC Trademark licensing, brand RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
HE bulding, promotion and AR1,000,0007

provision of quality examination
services in PRC

KRBt SERaE- aER
REREIRRMESET

o3
ENABERERAT PRC Trademark licensing, brand RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
# building, promotion and AR 1,000,0007
provision of quality examination
senvice in PRC

RPEREBERER AR
HEREURERESETE

e
EMNEHBHTHEREERAF+ PRC Trademark licensing, brand RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
EF bulding, promotion and AR 1,000,000

provision of quality examination
services in PRC

RAEH EEREE AR
ERRENRRHESETE
%
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBAT @&

Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
4] FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
H# itk
Luk Fook Diamond Company Limited  Hong Kong Provision of handling services on HK$6,120,000 - 100 -
NEERERAR BB diamond subcontracting 6,120,000 7T
RUEBEDORERY
Green Rich (Macao) Limited Macau Property holding in Macau MOP25,000 - 100 -
il RRMEENE 25,0002 M7t
Talent Up (Macao) Limited Macau Property holding in Macau MOP25,000 - 100 -
&P RRMIFENE 25,0002 T
Ultra Power (Macao) Limited Macau Property holding in Macau MOP25,000 - 100 -
il RRMEENE 25,0002 M7t
HmZ2EREZERAG PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
HE RAtREENE AE1,000,0007
FITBRBESERAD+ PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAsEENE AE1,000,0007
Max Enterprises Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Provision of export customs HK$10,000 - 100 -
LALEBRAF 58 senvices of diamonds in 10,00087T
Hong Kong
REBRMER L ORAERE
Luk Fook E-Commerce Company Hong Kong Electronic retaiing of gold and HK$10,000,000 - 100 -
Limited 5B jewellery products in Hong Kong 10,000,000 7T
EETHERRAT REEUSRERGEER
ETTEER
Luk Fook 3D Investment Holding Hong Kong Investment holding HK$100,000 - 100 -
Company Limited &8 RERR 100,000%7%
NEEEREEEERAT
NELE (HE) ARAF PRC Property holding in Mainland RMBT70,000,000 - 100 -
e RSB NE AE70,000,0007
EEMRETHEZERAD PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMEENE AE1,000,0007
BEETRENERERAT PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RSB NE AE1,000,00070
BEEMRSHMEZERAD PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAEENE AE1,000,0007
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBATE (@
Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
&8 FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
Ef# itk
BEEMRLEREFERA PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RRMFEENE AR 1,000,007
BEETRAZERARAT PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
HE RRsFEENE K 1,000,007
EEMRANEZERA PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMFHENE AR 1,000,007
BEETREREZARAT PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
HE RRsFEENE K 1,000,007
BEEMRSEEFERAD PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
e RAMFHENE AR 1,000,007
FmEIREZERAD+ PRC Property holding in Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 -
HE RRsFEENE K 1,000,007
Hong Kong Resources Holdings Bermuda Investment holding HK$270,000 - 71 (Note (i) 29
Company Limited (HKRH'++ ~ BEE RERR 270,000 7 (B3E0)
BEEFERERAT
(EEER) ++
China Gold Silver Group Company ~ The BVI Investment holding USD3,334 - 85(Note (i) 15
Limited (‘0GS")++ SEEEREE  REER 333457 (i)
FEEHRERBRAT
(ThEISER ) ++
Golden Zone International Limited++ ~ The BVI Investment holding USD1 - 85(Note (i) 15
THEARERAT HBEMRHE  REER %7 (BysE())
Special Link Limited++ Hong Kong Investment holding HK$1 - 85(Note (i) 15
BRBRAT+ 53 RERR BT (zx)
China Gold Silver (JV) Company The BVI Investment holding UsD100 - 85(Note (i) 15
Limited ++ HBEMRHE  REER 100% 7t (R
HEEE (5E) BRAT
China Gold Silver (JV) HK Company ~ Hong Kong Investment holding HK$100 - 85(Note (i) 15

Limited++ i REER 100B7T (BE()
TEER (FE) BEERAG
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MIBARE (@&
Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
SRR BRTkRE/ FARME FEiER R
& e TEER HRE S LiERLA RSB LA
Directly Indirectly
Ei itk
BRKE EB) BRAT PRC Retaiing and franchising operations RMB1,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
f of gold and jewellery produces in AR1,000,0007 (B3E0)
Mainland China
PR EEERGEER
TERFHREER
F82% (R BRAT+ PRC Retailing and franchising operations RMB1,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
f of gold and jewellery produces in AR1,000,0007 (B3E()
Mainland China
PR EEERGE
ERTERNTREREE
EESEERERRATH PRC Sale of gold and jewellery RMB5,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
HE BERKEHE 5,000,007 (RzED)
BEESEEEHRABRAR+  PRC Retaiing and franchising operations RMB5,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
e of gold and jewellery produces in AR 15,000,007 (Bi3E())
Mainland China
ReERt N EEERGE
REERRTTEEE
BEESEEMRRHBRAR+w  PRC Design and wholesales of gold and RMB5,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
i jewellery products AR 5,000,000 (BE()
EENUBEERTG RIS
BRLE (K2 BRAFH PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note () 15
H RUEEERE AEH500,0007 ()
BENE G BRAT PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note () 15
# RUEEIRY AE#500,00070 (H5E0)
BRLE OR) BRAFH PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note () 15
H RUEEERE AE#500,0007 ()
BENE (B8 BRAR PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note () 15
# RUEEIRY AE#500,00070 (W50
ERKE (E@) BRA+ PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note () 15
H RUEEERE AE#500,0007 ()
BEHE BN BEAT PRC Provision of management services RMB500,000 - 85(Note ) 15
# RUEEIRY AE#500,00070 (W50
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

238

38 MEAE (8)

Proportion of
ordinary
Particulars of shares
Place of issued share Proportion of held by non-
incorporation/ Principal capital/registered ordinary shares controlling
Name establishment activities capital held by the Company interests
B A BETkRs/ NGt FRiERRREL
&8 FRIshE TEER HRERHE BER LA BRI A
Directly Indirectly
H# itk
3D-GOLD Management Services Hong Kong Provision of management services HK$1 - 85(Note (i) 15
Limited++ &5 REERRS 11 (MizED)
SEBEEREERAT+
Gold Ocean Jewellery Company Macau Retailing of gold and jewellery MOP500,000 - 85(Note (i) 15
Limitedi++ il products in Macau 500,0002F3 7 (W50
SRGHEHBRAR REPUSEEERGEERSE
3D-GOLD International Company Hong Kong Holding of trademarks HK$2 - 85(Note (i) 15
Limited++ E REWR 2B (b))
TEBERBRAR -+
3D-GOLD Jewellery (HK) Limited++  Hong Kong Retalling of gold and jewellery HK$100 - 85(Note (i) 15
LEEHE (BR) BRAEH BE products in Hong Kong 100E7T (GE)
REANEEERGEERTE
3D-GOLD Company Limited++ Hong Kong Investment holding HK$100 - 85(Note (i) 15
EEEERNE++ 53 RERR 100787 (PysE())
SEEELERE () BRAS  PRC Retailing and franchising operations USD62,854,300 - 85(Note () 15
(3D-GOLD Enterprises # of gold and jewellery produces in 62,854,300% 7T (B3E()
Development (Shenzhen) Mainland China
Co. Lid)++ RAERHREEERGE
EnTERBFIEER
TEEEEERBRAT PRC Sales of jewellery RMB1,000,000 - 85(Note () 15
sl KEHE 1,000,000 ()
Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 75iE£E () BRAE]
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

+

++

Note:

(i

(iii)

The subsidiaries are established as wholly foreign-owned enterprises
in Mainland.

The subsidiaries are acquired during the year ended 31 March 2024.
Details of the acquisition are set out in Note 34. The financial year of
these subsidiaries are not conterminous with that of the Company.
These subsidiaries used 30 June as its financial year-end.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, subsequent to the acquisition
of issued shares of HKRH (Note 34), the Group provided for a special
interim dividend in form of a distribution in specie of 8.93% of the
issued shares of HKRH, which represented 4.46% of effective capital
of CGS, and such change in ownership interest of CGS did not result
in a loss of control of CGS for the Group. Refer to Note 28 for details.
As at 31 March 2024, the shareholding of HKRH and CGS owned by
the Group, directly and indirectly, was in aggregate of 71.17% and
85.24%, respectively.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group re-assessed whether the
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are considered material to
the Group based on their relative size in terms of total assets, total
liabilities and profit/(loss) before income tax, and considered that they
are not material, and accordingly, the summarised unaudited financial
information of these subsidiaries are considered not necessary.

++

(i

(i)

38 I‘ﬁE’R—J (&)

ZEWB AR RN AL 2IERE-

ZEWBABTNEE2024FE3831HIEEE
Wi o RS BIEF B E A I 5134 - ZE M B
’Aﬁ Z2EHEERANTDNGHFEER—

R EMBATILIGA30B AW HEEL
%El °

EHE2024F3H31HIEEE RIRESEE
TFRBEBTRMD (M34) B KEBUEY
DR RRE BRI 2 0 158.93% 2 &
BEREETRG GTESRERELR
4.46% > B EI& IR 2 Fr A M w0 4R
BRAEBRREHPESIRNEG B R
Fff5E28 « 122024FE3H31H » AERBME A E
BEAEAERRTEERRES DA
A7117%5285.24% ©

EEIn LRFAIARBDWBEAT T2
FEEXERURERNENEEREES
BZEEHD -BERD kf,\,\ﬂﬁ[ﬂﬂ%/\
BZHRELERBRT

R2024FE3831H > AERIRBHES IFZER
BRzMBAT EEMAE BEEEKAR
FriSManER,/ (518) 2 BERE » ST
EZENBATHAERAMERETBELR
TRAERELAER FAIL ZEWB AT
ZARBEZMHHENBER R AL ENE

Annual Report 2023/24 f£3fF 239



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

39 BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY 39 FATIZEEHER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
ASSETS B'E
Non-current asset ERHEE
__Investments in subsidiaries RNBAR 2w 3,138,225 ! 8,138,225
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B BRIA 1,912,609 2,713,796
Deposits, prepayment and other deposits ~ #% <~ FEHFIE K
Hithgs 224 _
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTAERR 4,922 7,987
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,917,755 2,721,783
Total assets HEE 5,055,980 5,860,008
EQUITY S
Capital and reserve attributable to the ZSAT)EEIFHE AEML
equity holders of the Company B R E#E
Share capital (&N 58,710 58,710
Share premium B im (B 2,494,040 2,494,040
Reserves (Note (i) REE (PHEE) 1,225,253 1,106,813
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 3,778,003 3,659,563
LIABILITIES afR
Current liabilities Pk ih= i
Accruals FEETFIA 2,168 1,231
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NI S 306,194 1,879,237
Bank borrowings RITEMR 362,000 -
Gold loans =B E 607,615 319,977
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1,277,977 2,200,445
Total equity and liabilities R EREEE 5,055,980 5,860,008
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the RABzBEBBRIDHEZEETTR2024
Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and was signed on its FeH28AMEM KR T EENRRK
behalf by the following directors: =5E .
Wong Wai Sheung Chan So Kuen
=HER BRRIE
Director Director
E- E

240  Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7572£E (EIf) IR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E AT AR MYEE

39 BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY

39 FRAFZEEAERER (@)

(Continued)
Note: B 5E -
0] The reserves movement of the Company is as follows: (i) KN EHEEENNT -
Capital
Contributed redemption Retained
surplus reserve earnings Total
BRRE B RE RERF k]
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
F#Ex FHET FExT FHET
For the year ended #2024 3A31HILLEE
31 March 2024
At 1 April 2023 202354810 298,687 200 807,926 1,106,813
Profit for the year FERNEA - - 892,471 892,471
2022/23 final dividend paid B2020/03 EE RIS = = (322,909) (322,909)
2023/24 interim dividend paid B72028/24FEFHRKRE - - (422,718) (422,718)
2023/24 special interim dividend  2023/244F 45 B R HERR B
provided for B - - (28,404) (28,404)
At 31 March 2024 2024538310 298,687 200 926,366 1,225,253
Representing: 5!
Reserves (excluded proposed HE (FEERIKEE)
dividend) 298,687 200 550,617 849,504
Proposed final dividend BRREARRE - = 375,749 375,749
At 31 March 2024 2024538310 298,687 200 926,366 1,225,253
For the year ended HE2023F3A3HILEE
31 March 2023
At 1 April 2022 202248 1H 298,687 200 755,641 1,054,528
Profit for the year FERiEF] - - 698,103 698,103
2022/23 special dividend paid B152022/23F ER RIS = - (322,909) (322,909)
2022/23 interim dividend paid ~ BJ2022/23E IR S = = (322,909) (322,909)
At 31 March 2023 2023538310 298,687 200 807,926 1,106,813
Representing: 5
Reserves (excluded proposed B (FEERIREE)
dividend) 298,687 200 485,017 783,904
Proposed final dividend BRKRER S - - 322,909 322,909
At 31 March 2023 202353831 H 298,687 200 807,926 1,106,813

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company
in exchange for all the issued ordinary shares of Luk Fook
Investment (B.V.l.) Limited and the value of net assets of the
underlying subsidiaries acquired by the Company during the
Group’s reorganisation in 1997. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to the
shareholders, provided that the Company would, after the payment of
dividends out of the contributed surplus, be able to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or the realisable value of the Company’s assets
would thereby not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, its
issued share capital and its share premium. At the Group level, the
contributed surplus is reclassified into its component of reserves of
the underlying subsidiaries.

RNAB) 2 BHERERIEAR QB 23 HLuk Fook
Investment (B.V.L) Limited% 8 2 31T & B8
METRMN ZEERERATRI1997TERE
EEAAMEFMKERRANB AR ZEET
BEMEZEZ BB RIEERECIBIFEAETE)
(B&AER]) > BRBERADRETRE AL
SEEHBRRKMRES BENE&EIE
B (IER ; AR BZEERZREERE
bR DR EER B S TREARERMD
BEZEN -RAEEBEMS > BHREK
BIDEASERNB AR ZHEID -
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

40.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

242

(a)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for all business combinations,
regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

()  fair values of the assets transferred

(i) liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquired business

(i) equity interests issued by the Group

(iv)  fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

(v)  fair value of any pre-existing equity interest
in the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

40 HthEBEEEXREGFHEHNE
401 SHEFE RELH G TR

(a)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

EBat
AEBERBEBEGIARAR
BEXBGHAKR THES
EEEREaTITAxEME
E-BE-—XWBADEE
NRERE:

() FPAIEBEEENQRE

i) WEBEHZAEAR
ANFFEE&E

iy ANEBBETRAE

i

vy HEREZHMREE
EFRNEEHEEHA
ME > K

v MELBERLRFE
IR AR A SRIE

EXERBAHTPABEERNAH
MEEMUKRFIAENEGRR
HAREE T UEREE
HHWAREE (D EH)
SMETBRIN) o REMLUZIA
BEERE BAREBEWIZIF
ERERFTGRIBEERE
B E P ERI LI FESB Y
WL B RE R E IR IE AR 1
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BEHEBAEREERFX
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)
The excess of the:

(i) consideration transferred,

(i)  amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and

(i)  acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in consolidated
income statement as a bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in consolidated income
statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in
consolidated income statement.

40 EHthEBEEXREEEREE @)

401 GHEFEMRERZ S EE (B)

(a)

EBEH @
Mr&E:

) FrESEAE

(i) wUEEREAEMAIF
EREDTER K

(i) FARUIEER LRI
EA IR A< m 7Y UK BB
HEMARE

B H P UK BB AT Rl B E R B
NanER HEEUBE
BB o fis 5% F RRIBR S P IX
BEBHAHNNEEFEN
NRfE A ERKEEENE
BiRmRERAREREE -

NERBHEARBERDH
BE-DEATHEENS
BHEREFRANMES
£ BAAERBNGEEE
EES L

HEHGHIBERET R
WS A RNREET
A< UK BB B IRV AR E
EBERRBERERRANE
STE-EWRZEENE
EENR@NERNGEE
mARFERY
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

40.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

244

(b)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

(b)

40 EHthEBEEXREEEREE @)

401 GHEFEMRERZ S EE (B)

MEARE

MEAREAEEERES
BHOFMEER (BREEBK
B EXEEBEZHREER
EHMAEIRSH 205K
B R 5= A B & [0 R A 1
Mo BENBBEANELRE
EHNTEREZEZZRR
o BB R ERS - I
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RRIEZEFIRERESES
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(c)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting after initially being recognised at
cost.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
18.

(c)

40 EHthEBEEXREEEREE @)

401 GHEFEMRERZ S EE (B)

BE AT
BMEADEAEENHEEE
FEEEESRNHRE
BB EER —REE
B ¥EB H20%E50%% E i
B3R LB - R E A
BV BB A B R
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EAEENEREEHRE
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

40.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

246

(d)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss
of control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

(d)

40 EHthEBEEXREEEREE @)
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

40.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-makers. The executive
directors and senior management, who make
strategic decisions, have been identified collectively
as the chief operating decision-makers, who are
responsible for allocating resources and assessing the
financial performance and positions of the operating
segments.

40.4 Trading licence
Trading licence with indefinite useful lives represents
a membership in Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange
Society and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

40.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and Group’s presentation
currency.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

248

(b)

(c)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised within
‘other losses, net’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within ‘finance income, net’.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in consolidated income statement on
a net basis within ‘other losses, net’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to
consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
consolidated income statement. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interests in associates that
do not result in the Group losing significant
influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to consolidated income statement.

(d)
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.6 Investments and other financial assets

250

(a)

(b)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.6 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are
expensed in consolidated income statement.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classified
its debt instruments as financial assets at
amortised cost.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in ‘other losses, net’, together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented in separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

(c)
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

40.6 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

252

(c)

(d)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in ‘other losses, net’ in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NS R e

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 40 HBEEASHBREE B
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.7 Derivative financial instruments which do

40.7 AR ABERFHA S EEZ

not qualify for hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair values. The
method of recognising the resulting gains or losses
depends on whether the derivative is designated
and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group do
not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value
of any derivative financial instruments are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

40.8 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade and other receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment.

See Note 22 and Note 24 for further information about
the Group’s accounting for other receivables and
trade receivables, respectively and see Note 3(a)(iv) for
a description of the Group’s impairment policies for
trade and other receivables.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.9 Cash and cash equivalents

254

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

40.10 Trade and other payables

40.11

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are carried initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 40 HMBESAKZHHERHEE @&
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.11 Borrowings (Continued) 4011 B3 (&

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
balance sheet when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

40.12 Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

(b) Profit sharing and bonus plans
Provisions for profit sharing and bonus plans are
recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate
of the obligation can be made.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 40 HthBETEAFHBERE (@

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

40.12 Employee benefits (Continued) 40.12 EEEF (48&)

(c) Pension obligations (c) BHAREHE

Hong Kong &
The Group operates a defined contribution AEFE T —IETEREHNE
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the BMERBEERAREE (MR
“MPF Scheme”) which is registered under the EETE) BB RESE
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (GG PN - IR XD
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme gfteRBEEFEZEETD
are held in a separately administered fund. The UBIEEBE2ESFE =&
MPF Scheme is generally funded by payments BEstEzEE—RARE
from employees and by the Group. KA EE B HEEAT o
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme AEEEBBEEABELEZ
are expensed as incurred and are reduced by PR EERSZHE > WAl
the employer’s voluntary contribution forfeited BEMEEEERRHTE
from the MPF Scheme by those employees who ZEBARW ZABETTEE
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the F EREME IR, o
contributions.
Mainland Ik
As stipulated by rules and regulations in R IR B R R A&
Mainland, the Group contributes to state- EAEAERRtEERER
sponsored retirement schemes for its relevant B ZBRRETEIMER ZF
employees in Mainland. The state-sponsored BxX&ERKAEIEEBERE
retirement schemes are responsible for the TEERRKEEZTEIRAK
entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable L=yl d=—ga ]

to the retired employees.

The Group’s contributions to the state- AEFBPAREKRER ZRAKET
sponsored retirement schemes are expensed as BIHRPEER I WA
incurred and are fully and immediately vested in BeHEBERES

the employees.

40.13 Interest income from bank deposits and 40.13 SRITERR B H thFEURERIEFI B
other receivables KA
Interest income from bank deposits, gold loan RITER ERESEEREMIE
receivables and other receivables is recognised on WARIBF B WA FE R B EFI =
a time proportion basis using the effective interest FeRFE L B 2R ST
method.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.14 Financial guarantee contracts

40 EHthEBEEXREEEREE @)

4014 BAFFEREL

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of the amount determined
in accordance with the expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the
amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other
payables of associates are provided for no
compensation, the fair values are accounted for as
contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the
investment.

40.15 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the
end of the reporting period.
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40

258

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 40 EHMBEEXRDTEREBE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

40.16 Borrowing costs

40.16 SRR

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

40.17 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the Group or the counterparty. The Group has
also entered into arrangements that do not meet
the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related
amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such
as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

40.17

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 7548 E (B HIRAE)
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Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP

Mr. HUI King Wai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Dr. CHAN So Kuen

LEGAL ADVISERS

Baker & Mckenzie

Jones Day

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
15t 20N, 25" & 27" Floors

Metropole Square

No.2 On Yiu Street, Shatin

New Territories, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2308 1218

Fax: (852) 2374 1696

E-mail: group@Iukfook.com

Website: lukfook.com

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong Branch

SHARE REGISTRAR

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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